KU Leuven Biomedical Sciences Group Faculty of Movement and Rehabilitation Sciences Department of Rehabilitation Sciences



DOCTORAL SCHOOL BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES

# LIFESTYLE, COPING, AND PSYCHOPATHOLOGY SYMPTOMS IN GENERAL POPULATION ADOLESCENTS

Noëmi HAGEMANN

Supervisor:	prof dr Davy Vancampfort
Co-supervisors:	prof dr Inez Myin-Germeys
	dr Olivia Kirtley
Jury members (KU Leuven):	prof dr Marc De Hert
	prof dr Jannique van Uffelen
	prof dr Ruud van Winkel
Jury member (external):	prof dr Joseph Firth
Chair examining committee:	prof dr Yves Vanlandewyck
Chair public defense:	prof dr Yves Vanlandewyck

Dissertation presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Biomedical Sciences

June 2022

# **Table of Contents**

Abbreviations
Author statement
Summary6
Chapter 1 - General introduction
Chapter 2 – Objectives
Chapter 3 - Objectively measured physical activity and symptoms of psychopathology in general population adolescents from the SIGMA cohort
Chapter 4 - Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep duration, sleep quality, and symptoms of psychopathology in general population adolescents from the SIGMA cohort
Chapter 5 - Coping and sleep quality in youth: An Experience Sampling study
Chapter 6 - General discussion118
Appendices
References
Supplementary materials
Scientific acknowledgements
Personal Contribution171
Conflict of Interest Statement
About the Author
List of publications
Personal acknowledgements
About the cover

# Abbreviations

BSI = Brief Symptom Inventory CI = confidence interval ESM = Experience Sampling Method PA = physical activity LPA = light physical activity MVPA = moderate-vigorous physical activity MSPE = Mean Squared Prediction Error SD = standard deviation SE = standard error WHO = World Health Organisation

#### Author statement

This thesis is a compilation of research articles, which are all published or under review for publication in different research outlets. As each chapter is an individual research study using similar datasets, there are some unavoidable repetitions in some sections of the chapters. Reference lists for a single chapter are presented at the end of each chapter and a reference list for other sections of this doctoral dissertation is provided at the end of the thesis. Throughout the thesis, the term 'we' is consistently been used to reflect the collaborative work of all co-authors. The doctoral candidate has been responsible for the acquisition of data, drafting of the research manuscripts, statistical analysis, and interpretation of results included in the dissertation. Supervisors, co-supervisors, and co-authors have provided feedback and study supervision in all stages of the research.

#### Summary

Lifestyle factors, such as physical activity, sedentary behaviour, diet, tobacco smoking, and sleep, may represent a risk factor, subthreshold symptom, inherent part of, or consequence of psychopathology symptoms. Due to the scope of the SIGMA study, this PhD research project focuses on the lifestyle factors physical activity and sleep.

In the *first chapter*, we situate the study of *early* lifestyle – psychopathology relationship in the period of adolescence, as it represents the emerging phase of first psychopathology symptoms. We further elaborate on the relationships' State of the Art, but also their gaps and limitations within the *second chapter*. We summarize that, firstly, current evidence on the relationship is inconclusive and mainly based on less reliable, subjective data, whereas objective data studies are lacking. Secondly, it is unclear which correlates of sleep quality exist, and if coping relates to sleep quality in youth. We conclude that if we better understand the associations between coping and sleep quality, and which psychological mechanisms may explain such a potential relationship, it may provide opportunities of early intervention. Therefore, this doctoral thesis includes three empirical studies investigating early associations between both lifestyle and psychopathology, and coping and sleep quality.

In the *third chapter*, we explore within an observational study if a cross-sectional relationship exists between objectively measured light physical activity, moderate-vigorous physical activity, and symptoms of general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychosis in general population adolescents. Additionally, we are interested to understand the *nature* of this potential relationship – if it is either linear, where more physical activity consistently relates to fewer symptoms of psychopathology, or non-linear, where a certain minimum amount of physical activity is needed until effects on psychopathology symptoms emerge. Our findings of the selected linear model do not suggest a linear relationship between objectively measured light and moderate-vigorous physical activity and symptoms of psychopathology.

In the *fourth chapter*, we investigate in an observational study the potential non-linear, crosssectional relationship between objectively measured sleep duration, sleep quality, and symptoms of general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychosis. Our findings do not provide evidence that sleep duration relates to fewer symptoms of psychopathology in adolescents. Further, our results do not suggest that compliance with sleep duration guidelines is related to fewer symptoms of psychopathology. Counterintuitively, we find that objectively measured sleep quality relates to more symptoms of depression, psychosis, and general psychopathology, whereas associations with anxiety remain non-significant.

In the *fifth chapter*, we examine in an observational study if coping is cross-sectionally linked with subjective sleep quality when measured in daily life. Our results provide evidence for negative associations between 'passive reaction' coping, 'emotion-focused' coping, disengagement coping and subjective sleep quality in youth. Our suggested hypothesis that locus of control may represent a mediating factor of the relationship is not confirmed.

In the *sixth chapter*, we discuss the outcomes of this PhD project, highlighting that research on lifestyle and psychopathology currently stands at a cross-road. Our findings challenge the current, mainly subjective data literature by showing that findings on the lifestyle – psychopathology relationship are not robust when lifestyle is measured with objective measures. Potentially, our diverging findings suggest that subjective and objective measures capture different concepts of lifestyle. Within our discussion, we provide an extensive interpretation and potential explanation of these findings.

We conclude that this PhD project invites researchers to carefully re-investigate the previous assumption that lifestyle represents a protective factor in the early stages of psychopathology. Novel research approaches, which combine both subjective and objective measures, may add value to understand the lifestyle-psychopathology relationship. Our findings regarding the coping – sleep quality relationship suggest that in order to improve sleep quality, efforts should be directed at reducing disengagement and emotion-focused coping in youth, yet longitudinal studies are needed to support this conclusion. We suggest that interventions directed at short-term distraction from and acceptance of acute stressors might provide alternative coping strategies in those youth high in disengagement and emotion-focused coping.

### **Chapter 1 - General introduction**

# 1. Mental health in adolescence

Approximately half of mental health disorders begin during adolescence (Solmi et al., 2021). Mental health disorders are characterized by significant cognitive, emotional, or behavioural disturbances, leading to impairment at the social or occupational level. Dysfunctional psychological, biological or developmental processes may underlie mental disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Worldwide, it is estimated that about one in seven adolescents (14%) aged 10-19 years old has a diagnosed mental disorder (Global Health Data Exchange, 2019). Emotional disorders are the most common in adolescence, including anxiety (5%) and depression (2%), followed by behavioural disorders, such as Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) (2.5%), eating disorders, and disorders including psychotic symptoms (Global Health Data Exchange, 2019).

Before individuals reach the threshold of meeting the diagnostic criteria for a mental disorder, individuals can experience a broad range of general sub-threshold psychopathology symptoms, such as low mood, psychotic experiences, or obsessive thoughts (McGorry et al., 2018; Van Os, 2013). These early symptoms, experienced by one in four adolescents (S. A. Silva et al., 2020), may be either transient - and resolve as a part of normal development (Grootendorst-van Mil et al., 2021) - or persist and precede mental health disorders (Solmi et al., 2021).

Whether general, individual psychopathology symptoms develop into mental disorders depends on several factors, such as duration, intensity (Patton et al., 2014), interaction between symptoms, and context (Myin-Germeys et al., 2018; Van Os, 2013). However, which factors are relevant in early adolescence and how they relate to future mental disorder onset, remains partially unclear (Dalgleish et al., 2020; Fusar-Poli et al., 2019; McGorry et al., 2018). Therefore, it is crucial for research on the early stages of psychopathology to consider a diverse array of symptoms (i.e. general psychopathology) (Hartmann et al., 2021; McGorry et al., 2018). Understanding which factors are relevant for later psychopathology development would allow us to intervene early (Evans et al., 2021; Hartmann et al., 2021; McGorry et al., 2018), and prevent the functional impairment (Asselmann et al., 2018) and mortality associated with mental health disorders in youth (Gore et al., 2011) and adulthood (Rehm & Shield, 2019).

# 2. How does lifestyle relate to mental health during adolescence?

An individual's lifestyle could represent a risk factor, sub-threshold symptom (Hartmann et al., 2021; McGorry et al., 2018), inherent part, or a consequence of psychopathology (**Fig. 1**). Indeed, all of these are possible, yet current evidence is inconclusive. 'Lifestyle' is an umbrella term for several health-related behaviours and includes, but is not limited to, physical activity, sedentary behaviour, tobacco smoking, diet, and sleep (Firth et al., 2020). This PhD research project focuses on physical activity and sleep since more lifestyle facets would have been beyond the practical scope of the SIGMA study. Physical activity is technically defined as 'any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure' (p.126) (Caspersen et al., 1985), and holistically as 'moving, acting and performing within culturally specific spaces and contexts, and influenced by a unique array of interests, emotions, ideas, instructions and relationships' (Piggin, 2020).

Sedentary behaviour is defined as 'any waking behaviour characterized by an energy expenditure  $\leq 1.5$  metabolic equivalents (METs), while in a sitting, reclining or lying posture' (Sedentary Behavior Research Network, 2021). METs are an indicator of required energy for a physical activity related to the basic metabolic functioning of the body at rest (Jetté et al., 1990). Adequate sleep refers to age-specific sleep duration needs (Hirshkowitz et al., 2015), while good sleep quality is characterized by continuous, uninterrupted sleep, and feelings of refreshment upon awakening (Kline, 2013). Importantly, lifestyle factors are potentially modifiable and could be translated to low-threshold mental health prevention or intervention strategies in the context of adolescents' everyday lives.



**Fig. 1** *Lifestyle as a risk factor, subthreshold symptom, inherent part, or consequence of psychopathology* 

# 2.1. Lifestyle change before psychopathology onset – a potential risk factor?

Physical activity may be a risk factor for mental health problems as it starts to deteriorate before the peak of psychopathology onset – around the age of 15 (Solmi et al., 2021). Physical activity durations continuously drop in every year of adolescence from 10 years onwards, culminating in a 38% activity decrease in both boys and girls between the age of 10 and 15 (Farooq et al., 2020). Indeed, longitudinal studies of subjective physical activity suggest that increased physical activity levels may predict a reduced risk of developing psychopathology symptoms over time (Koivukangas et al., 2010; Schuch et al., 2018, 2019). However, worldwide, and in Flanders (Belgium), 80% of the child and adolescent population does not meet the physical activity recommendations of the World Health Organization (WHO), and is therefore considered physically inactive (Dierckens et al., 2019; Guthold et al., 2020).

To improve cognitive, physical and mental health outcomes, the WHO recommends that adolescents aged 11-17 years old spend on average 60 minutes in moderate-vigorous physical activity per day (Bull et al., 2020). Moderate physical activity includes activities such as walking and cycling, which allow talking during the activity, whereas vigorous physical activity includes playing soccer or running, for example, and limits talking to saying a few words in between taking breaths (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021).

Likewise, sleep patterns shift dramatically towards later bedtimes and shorter sleep durations during adolescence (Colrain & Baker, 2011). One third of adolescents sleep less than the

recommended duration of at least 8-9 hours per night on a school night (K. Delaruelle et al., 2019; Michaud & Chaput, 2016). Altered sleep patterns are also often accompanied by decreased sleep quality. Today, one in three adolescents experiences decreased sleep quality (Li et al., 2020). In a longitudinal cohort, adolescents reported more depressive symptoms when having much shorter or longer sleep durations than what is recommended (i.e. 8-9 hours) (Liu et al., 2020). Similarly, longitudinal research shows that adolescents experiencing low quality sleep suffer more often from symptoms of depression and anxiety over time (Kaneita et al., 2009; Pigeon et al., 2017).

The 24-Hour Movement Guidelines - developed more recently than the updated version of the physical activity guidelines from the WHO (Bull et al., 2020) - consider not only one isolated aspect of lifestyle for an individual's health, but all three of them together (i.e. physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep) within a 24-hour day, since emerging evidence suggests that these behaviours influence each other (Falck et al., 2021; Tremblay et al., 2016). Tapia-Serrano et al. (2021) showed that only 5.4% of adolescents (N=1465) met all three 24-Hour Movement Guidelines, whereas 10.2% of this sample did not meet any of these guidelines.

Overall, lifestyle is considered an important contributor for health and well-being, as expressed in the guidelines by the WHO (Bull et al., 2020). However, lifestyle changes negatively during early adolescence - a period that precedes or coincides with the peak time of psychopathology onset (Solmi et al., 2021). Given the co-occurrence of alterations in lifestyle and psychopathology symptoms, and their suggested dynamic and potentially interactive nature (McGorry et al., 2018; Van Os, 2013), investigating if lifestyle is a risk factor for psychopathology is relevant.

# 2.2. Lifestyle change as an inherent part or consequence of psychopathology?

In the course of mental illness development, lifestyle alterations such as sleep problems, may present as a subthreshold symptom (Van Os, 2013). Also, in many mental disorders - such as generalized anxiety disorder, major depressive disorder, and psychotic disorders - alterations in sleep duration, sleep quality, and physical activity can be found (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). This suggests that lifestyle could be an inherent part of psychopathology symptoms. However, mental illness and related medications can also either exacerbate sleep problems or induce sleep (i.e. 'somnolence') (Fang et al., 2016), and eventually reduce physical

activity (Kaskie et al., 2017; Vancampfort et al., 2017; Verwimp et al., 2013), implying that lifestyle changes may be a consequence of psychiatric illness.

It is challenging, however, to distinguish whether lifestyle changes precede, follow, or are an inherent part of psychopathology. If studies demonstrate the beneficial effects of lifestyle on psychopathology, this would indicate that lifestyle plays an important role in early intervention and prevention. Vice versa, if studies show that lifestyle changes are rather an inherent characteristic of the illness or a consequence of the mental state, physical activity interventions will likely not prevent mental illness, but may help to reduce the mental health burden and improve quality of life (Vancampfort et al., 2016; Walker et al., 2015). For example, addressing decreased physical activity levels and sleep problems within intervention studies in adolescents with psychiatric disorders diminishes symptom severity, increases social functioning, and physical health (Corbett et al., 2021; Correll et al., 2018; Firth et al., 2018).

Therefore, disentangling the directionality of the associations is important to inform future prevention and intervention. In the following, we will introduce the behavioural epidemiological framework, in which the study of the lifestyle-psychopathology relationship can be integrated. Afterwards, we will provide an overview of the previous prospective literature, which may give indications about the directionality of the lifestyle-psychopathology relationship.

# **3.** Studying lifestyle and psychopathology in the context of the behavioural epidemiological framework

The study of lifestyle factors and psychopathology can be situated within the field of behavioural epidemiology, which studies the distribution and aetiology of health behaviours in populations to prevent disease and promote health (Sallis et al., 2000). Applied to the study of lifestyle and psychopathology, the behavioural epidemiological framework (Sallis et al., 2000) includes the following processes:

- (1) Establishing a link between lifestyle and psychopathology,
- (2) Developing methods to measure lifestyle,
- (3) Identifying factors that influence/ relate to lifestyle,
- (4) Evaluating interventions to change lifestyle, and
- (5) Translating research into practice.

Importantly, the processes within the behavioural epidemiological framework build on each other, but also continuously develop alongside each other (Biddle et al., 2015; Sallis et al., 2000). For example, the association between lifestyle and psychopathology may be re-investigated due to the continuous development of measurement techniques (Biddle et al., 2015; Sallis et al., 2015; Sallis et al., 2000). It becomes an iterative process, where novel findings in every phase stimulate the development in other phases (Biddle et al., 2015).

In this PhD research project, the focus lies on the first three processes of the behavioural epidemiological framework outlined above, while processes on intervention and implementation will not be covered. In the following, we will provide an overview of the state of the art of the lifestyle – psychopathology symptoms relationship (i.e. process 1, 'Establishing a link between lifestyle and psychopathology'). Then, we will introduce methods for measuring lifestyle, which reflect process 2 ('Developing methods to measure lifestyle'). Lastly, we will provide an overview of factors that influence/relate to lifestyle, which is part of process 3 in the framework ('Identifying factors that influence/relate to lifestyle').

# 3.1. Effects of physical activity on psychopathology symptom

Within this section, we review the literature on previously established links between physical activity, sleep, and psychopathology symptoms in adolescence (i.e. process 1). According to prospective studies, adolescents with higher levels of physical activity have a reduced risk of developing depression (Schuch et al., 2018), anxiety (Schuch et al., 2019), and psychosis symptoms (Koivukangas et al., 2010; Suetani, et al., 2017) over a period of five to seven years compared to adolescents with low levels of physical activity. Evidence from interventional studies suggests beneficial effects of aerobic, supervised exercise on symptom reduction in depression (Bailey et al., 2018; T. Carter et al., 2016), anxiety (Gordon et al., 2020; LeBouthillier & Asmundson, 2017), and psychosis (Dean et al., 2017; Firth et al., 2018; Fisher et al., 2020).

These relationships may be explained via psychosocial, behavioural, and neurobiological mechanisms (Lubans et al., 2016). Lubans and colleagues (2016) suggest that *psychosocially*, physical activity provides an opportunity for adolescents to socially interact, experience mastery, improve their perception of appearance, and feel independent (Deci & Ryan, 2002; Lubans et al., 2016; Ryff & Keyes, 1995). Additionally, physical activity can involve contact with nature (Coon et al., 2011), which can also improve mental well-being due to its restorative

effects (Pearson & Craig, 2014). *Behaviourally*, physical activity may affect mental well-being positively by improving sleep indirectly in terms of sleep duration, sleep efficiency, and sleep onset latency (Kredlow et al., 2015). Additionally, physical activity may stimulate self-regulation and coping skills (Galantino et al., 2008; Lubans et al., 2012). On a *neurobiological* level, physical-activity related changes in the nervous system may explain boosts in cognitive functioning (Scheffer & Latini, 2020; Severinsen & Pedersen, 2020), mood, and mental wellbeing (Gujral et al., 2017; Siebers et al., 2021).

#### 3.2. Effects of sleep on psychopathology symptoms

Evidence from cross-sectional (Morishima et al., 2020; Ojio et al., 2016) and prospective (Liu et al., 2020) studies suggests that adolescents who report much shorter or longer sleep durations than what is recommended (i.e. 8-9 hours) are more likely to report symptoms of depression, anxiety (Kaneita et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2020; Ojio et al., 2016), and psychosis (Morishima et al., 2020). Similarly, longitudinal research shows that adolescents experiencing low quality sleep suffer more often from symptoms of depression and anxiety (Kaneita et al., 2009; Pigeon et al., 2017). Evidence from interventional studies suggests that improving insomnia symptoms in students reduces depression (Clarke et al., 2015), hallucination, and paranoia symptoms (Freeman et al., 2009).

One mechanism that may explain the sleep and psychopathology relationship is emotion regulation. The intimate, bidirectional relationship between emotion and sleep is well-established in adults (Palmer & Alfano, 2017; Vandekerckhove & Wang, 2018), and similar evidence in adolescents is emerging. Experiential studies in adolescents suggest that sleep deprivation leads to weakened regulation of negative emotions and worse mood (Baum et al., 2014; Vriend et al., 2013). Vice versa, poor emotion regulation strategies such as avoidance, impulsivity, suppression, and rumination have been related to poor sleep quality in nationally representative samples in university students – which in turn was associated with mood, anxiety disorders, and PTSD symptoms (Nicholson et al., 2021; Palmer et al., 2018).

Psychopathology, and depression in particular, is linked with an increased inflammatory state (Dowlati et al., 2010; Soczynska et al., 2011), which is also developing in those with sleep disturbances (Grandner et al., 2013; Prather et al., 2015). Therefore, another potential mechanisms linking sleep and psychopathology is inflammation (Tubbs et al., 2020; Weinberger et al., 2015).

# 3.3. Effects of psychopathology symptoms on physical activity

The current literature on prospective effects of psychopathology on physical activity levels is limited and presents a mixed picture. Some studies suggest that scoring high on internalizing (i.e. anxiety disorders, depressive disorders) (Sabiston et al., 2013) and externalizing symptoms (i.e., attention hyperactivity deficit disorders) (Pinto Pereira et al., 2014) in adolescence is related to lower physical activity levels at age 20 (Pinto Pereira et al., 2014; Sabiston et al., 2013), 30, and 40 (Pinto Pereira et al., 2014). In contrast, other studies do not find any supportive evidence that general psychopathology (Suetani et al., 2017), symptoms of depression (Birkeland et al., 2009; Pinto Pereira et al., 2014), and externalizing symptoms (Pinto Pereira et al., 2014) affect levels of physical activity later in life. Given the limited and mixed literature regarding the effects of psychopathology on lifestyle, future research is warranted.

As potential explanations for these associations, Suetani and colleagues suggest that adolescents experiencing higher levels of psychopathology are less physically active due to decreased social connectedness and social isolation (Suetani et al., 2016; Suetani, Saha, et al., 2017). Those adolescents may worry more about peer scrutiny (Seime & Vickers, 2006) and experience higher self-negativity (Dow & Craighead, 1987), making them avoid physical activity contexts to avoid feeling athletically and socially inadequate (Sabiston et al., 2013).

# 3.4. Effects of psychopathology symptoms on sleep

To date, prospective evidence provides stronger evidence for sleep duration predicting the development of psychopathology, such as depression and anxiety, rather than vice versa, however few studies have investigated the potential longitudinal effects of depressive symptoms on sleep duration (Liu et al., 2020; Lovato & Gradisar, 2014; Patten et al., 2000; Roberts & Duong, 2014). In contrast, the prospective relationships between lower sleep quality and more symptoms of depression and anxiety is considered bi-directional (Kaneita et al., 2009).

# 3.5. A suggested bidirectional lifestyle-psychopathology relationship

In order to disentangle whether lifestyle aspects precede, are inherent to, or follow psychopathology symptoms, we have provided an overview of the literature. Overall, the current prospective and interventional literature investigating the relationship between lifestyle factors and psychopathology symptoms in adolescents provides (a) stronger effects of lifestyle *on* psychopathology than vice versa, and (b) cautious support for a reciprocal relationship (**Fig. 2**). The cautious support is mainly based on the very limited number of longitudinal studies on the effects of psychopathology *on* lifestyle.





Psychopathology symptoms

**Fig. 2** Suggested bidirectional relationship between lifestyle and psychopathology symptoms Note: Continuous lines suggest stronger evidence, dashed lines indicate weaker evidence for the relationship

3.6. Gaps and limitations in research on the physical activity – psychopathology relationship Despite the established longitudinal effects of physical activity on psychopathology, many gaps and shortcomings remain. First, the established effects are based on self-report measures (LeBlanc & Janssen, 2010; Manios et al., 2013; Sullivan et al., 2012) and may include questionable conclusions, while studies applying objective, more valid measures are scarce (Kandola et al., 2020; Toseeb et al., 2014; Wiles et al., 2012). Second, previous objective studies have focused on the effects of moderate-vigorous physical activity on depression, but the effects of lower intensity levels of physical activity on depression and other psychopathologies are unknown – but suggest equal effects (Kandola et al., 2020). Third, previous studies have assumed a linear physical activity - psychopathology relationship, whereas literature in adults suggests that a non-linear relationship provides a better fit (Bernard et al., 2018).

Therefore, given the current limitations in the literature, we aim to (1) investigate in chapter 3 what kind of model (e.g. linear or non-linear) represents the nature of the objectively measured physical activity-general psychopathology relationship in adolescents best. Additionally, we will explore (2) if a relationship exists between objectively measured light, moderate-vigorous physical activity, and general psychopathology symptoms in adolescents.

# 3.7. Gaps and limitations in the sleep – psychopathology relationship

Although longitudinal studies support a sleep – psychopathology relationship (Liu et al., 2020), shortcomings and gaps remain. First, the longitudinal literature is mainly based on questionnaire data (Guedes et al., 2016; Matthews et al., 2018), therefore concerns around the validity of the study conclusions still exist. But studies applying objectively measured sleep duration (Ranum

et al., 2019; Slykerman et al., 2020) and sleep quality (Koopman-Verhoeff et al., 2019) are lacking. Second, self-report data studies suggest a non-linear relationship between sleep duration and psychopathology (Liu et al., 2020; Morishima et al., 2020; Ojio et al., 2016) – but the non-linear relationship has never been investigated in objective data.

That is why we will explore in chapter 4 if there is (1) a non-linear association between objectively measured derived sleep duration and symptoms of psychopathology. (2) Second, we will explore if not complying with sleep duration recommendations is associated with more symptoms of psychopathology. (3) Lastly, we assess whether objective sleep quality is associated with general symptoms of psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in adolescents.

# 3.8. The SIGMA Study

Ideally, the study of the lifestyle – psychopathology relationship occurs within a phase when early symptoms of psychopathology are just evolving – during adolescence. The SIGMA study, an ongoing, accelerated longitudinal cohort study (N= 1913) of adolescent mental health in Flanders, Belgium, investigates how contextual risk factors, such as childhood trauma, parenting style, exposure to bullying, and lack of social support, translate via everyday social processes to early mental health symptoms over the course of adolescence (Kirtley et al., 2021). Given its setting in early adolescence, SIGMA offers a unique opportunity to study lifestyle factors in a phase when early psychopathology symptoms emerge.

# 4. How to measure lifestyle?

In the previous section, we outlined the literature regarding process 1 ('Establishing a link between lifestyle and psychopathology') of the behavioural epidemiological framework. Next, we will introduce methods of measuring lifestyle, which reflects process 2 ('Developing methods to measure lifestyle') of the behavioural epidemiological framework.

# 4.1. Physical activity measurement

One aspect that is closely related to establishing the lifestyle-psychopathology link and implemented in the behavioural epidemiological framework, is the process of developing accurate assessment of lifestyle factors (Sallis et al., 2000). In physical activity measurement, one aims to quantify the duration, frequency, intensity, and type of activity of the individual (Caspersen et al., 1985). However, assessing these aspects may be particularly challenging to

capture with questionnaires, since daily physical activity durations are variable from day to day (Telford et al., 2013), and activity bouts can be short-lived (i.e. seconds to 5 minutes) (Sanders et al., 2014; Willis et al., 2015), making it challenging to remember and report them.

Until recently, self-report measures have been the method of choice in large-sized adolescent samples. Given their cost-effectiveness, low burden to both participant and researchers, and their ability to capture the physical activity domain (e.g. leisure time), they present a very practical assessment option (Hagströmer et al., 2008; Sirard & Pate, 2001). However, one main downside of self-report measures is that – even when adapted to adolescents - they tend to be less valid when compared to objective assessment of physical activity, particularly in younger adolescents (Hagströmer et al., 2008). Low correlations between questionnaires and objective measurement have been explained by difficulties for younger adolescents to understand the concepts and different questionnaire design for adults and older adolescents (> 14 years).

Additionally, higher proportions of spontaneous activity types are particularly prevalent in younger compared to older adolescents, which are more difficult to capture in questionnaires compared to structured, vigorous physical activity (Hagströmer et al., 2008), leading to significant underestimation of low (Sullivan et al., 2012), and overestimation of moderate-vigorous physical activity (LeBlanc & Janssen, 2010; Manios et al., 2013) when compared to objective measures (e.g. accelerometery).

A solution to the adolescent-specific challenges outlined above could be objective measures, which are hip- or wrist-worn devices that continuously capture physical activity (Sirard & Pate, 2001). More complex devices, such as multi-sensor devices, asses physical activity by combining accelerometery with heart rate measurement, for example. This combined measure has several benefits to the single-use of accelerometery or heart rate monitors. For example, heart rate sensors support catching activities that involve little torso movement required for accelerometery assessment (e.g., cycling) through an elevated heart rate whilst being in a static position (Fitbit, 2021b), thereby preventing underestimating physical activity levels (Sirard & Pate, 2001). Vice versa, accelerometery measurement ensures capturing physical activity when it actually occurs, since heart-rate measurement may be inaccurate when influenced by other factors than bodily movement, such as psychological or environmental distress (e.g., caffeine or medication) (Emons et al., 1992). The use of consumer multi-sensor devices, such as Fitbit, in research, was previously criticized for not reaching comparable validity as research-grade

device (e.g., Actigraph) so that consequently, false study conclusions may eventually inform public health guidelines (Feehan et al., 2018). This worry was particularly relevant for consumer devices which did not include additional sensors, such as heart rate, which have shown decreased accuracy compared to those that use the additional input for assessing physical activity (Feehan et al., 2018).

Yet, today, multi-sensor consumer devices, such as the Fitbit Charge 2, have reached a comparable standard for measuring light and moderate-vigorous physical activity in adults, children, and adolescents when compared to research devices (Brewer et al., 2017; Godino et al., 2020; Roberts et al., 2020). This is promising, since consumer devices are more cost-effective than research grade devices, which allows greater sample sizes in objectively measured lifestyle studies.

#### *4.2. Sleep measurement*

The measurement of sleep requires precise assessment in order to understand its role in relation to health and psychopathology. Polysomnography offers direct, objective assessment and is therefore considered the gold standard in laboratory research and sleep medicine for the last 50 years (Chinoy et al., 2021). However, polysomnography is less well suited for large-scale epidemiological studies, since it is applied in a controlled, laboratory setting, is time- and cost-intensive, requires specialised trainings, and can be disruptive for sleep itself, particularly in children and adolescent populations (Nascimento-Ferreira et al., 2016).

In contrast, objective wrist-worn accelerometers which translate bodily movement captured by in-built accelerometers into sleep-wake scores (Sadeh, 2011), provide the opportunity of measuring sleep behaviour in an uncontrolled environment (Hyde et al., 2007), allowing spontaneous assessment of bed times and sleep duration behaviour in free-living environments at home, are less time and cost-intensive, do not require specific training, and represent less disruption of sleep for the individual (Meltzer et al., 2012; Nascimento-Ferreira et al., 2016). That is why research-grade accelerometers have been applied as a standard measure for free-living conditions (Kinder et al., 2012).

In recent years, consumer devices, such as Fitbit, have been increasingly used in research, as opposed to research-grade accelerometer (e.g. Actigraph). However, despite the initial validity concerns regarding consumer devices, newly developed devices partially address the two main

limitations of actigraphy: single-sensor measurement and high costs. Compared to actigraphy, multi-sensor consumer devices, such as Fitbit for example, consist of both an accelerometer and heart rate sensors, that can be used as physiological, additional input for the proprietary algorithm (Chinoy et al., 2021). Due to this double-assessment, recent studies have already shown that some multi-sensor consumer devices (i.e. Fitbit HR) assess sleep duration at least equally well as research-grade Actigraphs in adolescents (Lee et al., 2019), or even outperform them (Menghini et al., 2021).

However, accuracy concerns about sleep staging identification are still relevant, since the Fitbit Charge 3 showed only low (59-69%) proportions of correct classification of sleep stages compared with PSG (Lee et al., 2019; Menghini et al., 2021), requiring cautious interpretation of findings. Overall, consumer multi-sensor devices (e.g. Fitbit Charge 2) are at least comparable to research-grade devices in sleep duration measurement, involve lower costs, and may be better accepted by adolescents (Dunne et al., 2014).

An alternative way of measuring sleep *subjectively* whilst addressing the limitations of singletimepoint questionnaires - such as recall bias and insufficient ecological validity - is assessing sleep by means of the Experience Sampling Method (ESM). ESM is a structured diary method, in which participants report their daily life experiences, in the moment that it occurs, using, for example, their smartphone (Csikszentmihalyi & Larson, 1987; Myin-Germeys et al., 2018). Several previous studies have used ESM to assess sleep (Block et al., 2020; Kasanova et al., 2020; Mulligan et al., 2016; Takano et al., 2014), as well as psychosocial risk and protective factors for psychopathology in daily life (Rauschenberg et al., 2021; Zaki et al., 2013), in both adolescents, and adults.

While this section provided an overview of measuring lifestyle, the following section will cover potential factors that may influence lifestyle.

# 5. What impacts lifestyle?

In the previous section, we provided a summary of measuring lifestyle, reflecting process 2 ('Developing methods to measure lifestyle') of the behavioural epidemiological framework. Next, we move to the last section of this PhD thesis: Factors that influence/relate to lifestyle. This section is part of process 3 in the behavioural epidemiological framework ('Identifying factors that influence/relate to lifestyle'). Next to establishing a link between lifestyle and psychopathology, it is also a crucial process within the behavioural epidemiological framework to investigate the factors that are related to lifestyle, so that these findings can guide the design choices in future interventional studies and implementation programs (Sallis et al., 2000). Generally speaking, factors presenting a barrier or a facilitator to lifestyle are considered 'correlates', and can be classified by a psychological, environmental, behavioural, socio-demographic, biological, or social dimension (Bauman et al., 2012). Further, correlates may be changeable (i.e. mediators) or unmodifiable (i.e. moderators). For example, late-night caffeine use might be a mediator for poor sleep, while age and gender would be unchangeable moderators (Biddle et al., 2015).

While correlates refer to the cross-sectional nature of the associations, 'determinants' represent longitudinal, causal relationships (Bauman et al., 2012). Determinants are particularly relevant for designing physical activity interventions, as it is expected that changing these would also affect the lifestyle variable (Biddle et al., 2015). Correlates and determinants of physical activity have been well-explored so far (Biddle et al., 2015): There is consensus that boys tend to be more physically active than girls, and that healthy diet, low sedentary behaviour, parental support for physical activity, and higher perceived competence are positivity related with physical activity (Biddle et al., 2015). In the following, we will provide an overview of correlates and determinants of *sleep* in adolescents, a field of evidence that is still establishing.

#### 5.1. Sleep duration and sleep quality correlates

The evidence around cross-sectional factors associated with sleep (i.e. *correlates*) is currently limited due to this being a relatively 'young' field of research. *Socio-demographically*, boys and younger adolescents tend to get more hours of sleep during the *week* compared to girls and older adolescents (Sousa-Sá et al., 2021). Overall, those adolescents with a medium or low *socio-economic status* are least likely to meet the sleep guidelines (Sousa-Sá et al., 2021). During early adolescence, we see that girls tend to have better sleep quality, but as girls progress through puberty, their sleep becomes more fragmented and delayed when compared to boys (Franco et al., 2020). Additionally, early school times present an important *environmental* factor leading to decreased sleep duration and sleep deprivation (Bei et al., 2014).

*Genetically*, it has been suggest that sleep disorders such as insomnia have a certain heritability as predisposing factor (Palagini et al., 2014). *Behavioural* aspects have been well-researched in adolescent sleep. For example, adolescents with poor sleep hygiene, which includes frequent

and late-evening tobacco, caffeine, and digital technology use, and low physical activity, tend to sleep shorter than those with better sleep hygiene (Lang et al., 2016). *Psychosocial* mechanisms could influence poor quality sleep when experiencing work/school pressure (Delaruelle et al., 2021) or social distress, such as being bullied (Donoghue & Meltzer, 2018).

Despite the intimate link between stress and sleep in adolescence (Bauducco et al., 2016; Doane & Thurston, 2014), only limited and mixed findings exist around coping and sleep (Matthews et al., 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004; van Schalkwijk et al., 2015). Coping is defined as cognitive and behavioural strategies consciously employed in response to the appraisal of stress and related to well-being (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984) has been considered a behavioural moderator in the context of stress and sleep (Kalmbach et al., 2018).Overall, many open questions regarding this topic remain. While research on coping and sleep is generally limited, it is unclear if differential effects of coping exist for younger or older youth. To date, studies have either investigated the effects of coping in younger or older youth, but have not compared how associations may differ between age groups, although developmental evidence suggests that coping abilities are age-dependent (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Second, the underlying mechanisms of the potential coping - sleep relationship are unknown.

One such psychological factor linking coping and sleep is locus of control. Locus of control is defined as a trait (Rotter, 1954) and a state (Bandura, 1977; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), describing the degree to which an individual cross-situationally attributes outcomes and events in their life to their own behaviour (internal locus), as opposed to external forces (external locus). Since coping and locus of control are bidirectionally linked (Bandura, 1977; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011), and control has been linked with sleep, it may present an underlying mechanism in the coping-sleep relationship (Alfano, Zakem, Costa, Taylor, & Weems, 2009; DeAngelis, Escobar, Ruiz, & Acevedo, 2019). However, this has never been investigated in adolescents so far.

To address the current gaps in the literature, we will investigate in chapter 5 (1) how trait coping styles relate to sleep at the daily level in youth. Furthermore, we investigate (2) if state locus of control mediates the association between trait coping style and quality of sleep.

# 6. Aims of this PhD project

To summarise, there are three aims in this PhD project:

- (1) To investigate what kind of model (e.g. linear or non-linear) represents the nature of the objectively measured physical activity-general psychopathology relationship best, and if a relationship exists between objectively measured light, moderate-vigorous physical activity, and general psychopathology symptoms,
- (2) to explore if there is a non-linear association between objectively measured derived sleep duration, sleep quality, and symptoms of psychopathology, and if not complying with sleep duration recommendations is associated with more symptoms of psychopathology, and
- (3) to disentangle if trait coping styles relate to sleep in youth, and if this potential relationship is mediated by locus of control.

# Chapter 2 – Objectives

This doctoral research project aims to unravel the early lifestyle – psychopathology symptoms relationship in general population adolescents and disentangle factors related to poor-quality sleep in adolescents.

More specifically, the objective in **chapter 3** is to determine (1) what kind of model (e.g. linear or non-linear) represents the nature of the objectively measured physical activity-general psychopathology symptoms relationship in adolescents best. Additionally, we will explore (2) if a relationship exists between objectively measured light, moderate-vigorous physical activity, and general psychopathology symptoms in adolescents.

In **chapter 4**, we will explore if there is (1) a non-linear association between objectively measured derived sleep duration and symptoms of psychopathology. (2) Second, we will explore if not complying with sleep duration recommendations is associated with more symptoms of psychopathology. (3) Lastly, we assess whether objective sleep quality is associated with general symptoms of psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in adolescents.

In **chapter 5**, we will investigate (1) how trait coping styles relate to sleep at the daily level in youth. Furthermore, we investigate (2) if state locus of control mediates the association between trait coping style and quality of sleep.

# Chapter 3 - Objectively measured physical activity and symptoms of psychopathology in general population adolescents from the SIGMA cohort

Noëmi Hagemann, Olivia J. Kirtley, Ginette Lafit, Martien Wampers, Robin Achterhof, Karlijn S.F.M. Hermans, Anu P. Hiekkaranta, Aleksandra Lecei, Davy Vancampfort & Inez Myin-Germeys

Published in Mental Health and Physical Activity:

Hagemann, N., Kirtley, O. J., Lafit, G., Wampers, M., Achterhof, R., Hermans, K. S. F. M.,
Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Myin-Germeys, I., & Vancampfort, D. (2021). Objectively
measured physical activity and symptoms of psychopathology in general population
adolescents from the SIGMA cohort. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 21, 100416.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2021.100416

#### Abstract

Background: Less physical activity (PA) has been associated with the development of psychopathology in adolescence. Few studies, however, have focused on understanding the nature of the PA – psychopathology relationship and existing research relies mostly on self-report PA measures, which are less reliable. In this study, we investigated the nature of the relationships between objectively measured light physical activity (LPA) and moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA), and psychopathology symptoms in adolescents.

Methods: 934 adolescents (63% female) aged 11-19 years from the SIGMA cohort wore the Fitbit Charge 2 measuring LPA and MVPA during at least three days. Participants completed the Brief Symptom Inventory-53, assessing general symptoms of psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism. Model selection was conducted in a subset of the dataset (n = 464) to determine the best fit. The optimal model was then fitted to the remainder of the dataset (n = 470).

Results: The results from the selected linear model indicated a non-significant relationship between LPA, MVPA, and symptoms of general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism.

Conclusions: This study does not provide evidence that higher durations of LPA and MVPA alone relate to reduced symptoms of general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in the general adolescent population. A more integrative approach considering the interdependency of multiple lifestyle factors, as well as the domain, context, and individual experience of PA may add value to the understanding of the PA- psychopathology relationship.

# **1. Introduction**

The transitional period of adolescence represents a phase of rapid growth and development, during which the individual grows towards more independence and adulthood (Esnaola et al., 2020; Farooq et al., 2020; Spear, 2013). In this challenging phase, adolescents are particularly vulnerable to developing symptoms of psychopathology (Kessler et al., 2007). One of the potential risk factors for the development of psychopathology is adolescents' physical inactivity (Schuch et al., 2018, 2019). Current physical activity (PA) guidelines recommend that adolescents should spend on average at least 60 minutes in moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) on a daily basis to receive health benefits, such as reducing symptoms of depression (World Health Organization, 2020). Yet more than 80% of the adolescent population worldwide does not meet these recommendations (Guthold et al., 2020).

Recent literature suggests that more PA is associated with lower psychopathology symptoms among children and adolescents, independently of other lifestyle factors (e.g. sedentary behaviour). There is, for example, supportive evidence from longitudinal studies indicating that more PA is associated with a lower risk for depression (Schuch et al., 2018), anxiety (Schuch et al., 2019) and psychosis (Koivukangas et al., 2010; Shuichi Suetani, Mamun, et al., 2017). Potential underlying mechanisms for the mental health benefits of PA in adolescents include psychosocial factors (e.g., improved self-esteem, better social connectedness), behavioural factors (e.g., improved sleep volume, better coping strategies), and neurobiological mechanisms (e.g., higher neuroplasticity, decreased inflammation) (Lubans et al., 2016).

Despite this seemingly convincing evidence for an association between PA and psychopathology, the existing literature exploring associations between PA and psychopathology is hampered by shortcomings. First, the majority of studies rely on single-timepoint self-report surveys. Subjective measures are less reliable, as adolescents underestimate durations of low physical activity (LPA) (Sullivan et al., 2012), and overestimate durations of MVPA (LeBlanc & Janssen, 2010; Manios et al., 2013), as compared to objective measures (e.g. accelerometery). Consequently, objective measures (e.g. Fitbit Charge 2) may provide more accurate and higher quality evidence. Fitbit Charge 2 devices do not only overcome the limitations of subjective measures by continuously capturing PA as it occurs in daily life, they are also less cost-intensive than research-grade devices (e.g. Actigrapgh) - which

could allow greater sample size - while achieving comparable measurement validity (Brewer et al., 2017).

Second, studies investigating associations between objectively measured PA duration and psychopathology have mainly focused on the effects of higher intensity PA, i.e. MVPA. Yet, lower intensity PA, (LPA), may also relate to symptoms psychopathology independently of MVPA (Kandola et al., 2020). Given that adolescents spent at least 50% of their daily activity in LPA (Hoos et al., 2004), and that LPA may provide a lower threshold for being active than MVPA to reach activity goals, it is important to better understand the associations between LPA and the development of psychopathology symptoms. Further, previous prospective studies on objectively measured PA have focused on effects of PA on symptoms of depression in adolescents (Kandola et al., 2020; Toseeb et al., 2014; Wiles et al., 2012), while associations with anxiety, psychoticism, and general psychopathology need further exploration.

Third, knowledge regarding the *nature* of the PA - psychopathology relationship between objectively measured LPA and MVPA and psychopathology, is missing in adolescents. It is unclear if there is a consistent, linear relationship, where more LPA and MVPA relates to fewer symptoms of psychopathology, or if the associations are non-linear, and only emerge after a certain threshold of LPA and MVPA has been reached. In a study in adults (n=8150), for example, objectively measured LPA was only associated with symptoms of psychopathology after a threshold of 400 min/day of LPA had been reached (Bernard et al., 2018). Therefore, understanding the nature of the relationship more clearly in adolescents may be relevant for providing evidence- based, psychopathology-informed PA guidelines in the long-term.

Considering these shortcomings in the literature, the current study aims to examine, in adolescents, (1) what kind of model (e.g. linear or non-linear) represents the nature of the objectively PA- general psychopathology relationship best, and (2) if a relationship exists between objectively measured LPA, MVPA and general psychopathology symptoms. The registered confirmatory analyses investigated the relationship between LPA, MVPA, and general psychopathology. We hypothesise that more objectively measured LPA and MVPA are linearly associated with fewer symptoms of general psychopathology. Further exploratory analyses were conducted to examine the relationships between LPA, MVPA, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism, subscales of the general psychopathology measure.

# 2. Methods

#### 2.1. Sample and recruitment

Data from Wave 1 of the SIGMA study, a large-scale, ongoing, longitudinal study of adolescent mental health in Flanders, Belgium, are used in this study. In total, 1913 adolescents were included in Wave 1 (age range 11-19 at enrolment). Full details of the methods, measures and sample have been described elsewhere (Kirtley et al., 2021). The participants in the SIGMA study were recruited from the general population via schools, with an opt-in consent procedure. Students at each school were invited to take part in the study, regardless of sociodemographic or psychological factors, e.g. known presence/absence of psychological disorder. The inclusion criteria were: (a) being a current student in the first, third or fifth year at a participating school; and (b) being able to read and write in Dutch. Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the UZ/KU Leuven Medical Ethics Committee (Ref: S6 1395). This study was post-registered on the Open Science Framework (a form of pre-registration that occurs following data collection, but before conducting the analyses; (Benning et al., 2019)) available via https://osf.io/jt8zb/?view\_only=0b80007da3af473bbfca83a22f1a27ac. Deviations from the post-registration are reported in *Supplement 1*.

# 2.2. Procedure

Self-reported symptoms of psychopathology were assessed in an initial testing session in the classroom. Following completion, students were instructed to wear a Fitbit Charge 2 device on their wrist, during seven consecutive days and 24 hours per day. The Fitbit Charge 2 continuously collects data on the participant's light (LPA), moderate (MPA), and vigorous physical activity (VPA). Participants were asked to remove the device whenever they would be in contact with water (e.g. when swimming, showering) since the device is not water resistant. After the 7-day wear period, they returned the Fitbit at their school. Participants received a 10-euro voucher for participation in the entire SIGMA study.

# 2.3. Symptoms of psychopathology

The Brief Symptom Inventory-53 (BSI-53; Derogatis, 1993) was used to assess symptoms of psychopathology. It includes ten different subscales on somatization, compulsiveness, social insecurity, depression, anxiety, aggression, phobia, paranoia, psychoticism, and additional items (e.g. suicidal thoughts, sleep quality). Example items are feeling 'unworthy', 'nervous', or 'distrustful to most people' from the depression, anxiety, and psychosis subscales, respectively. For all 53 items, participants were asked to report how much they had experienced

these thoughts or feelings during the last week, including the day of assessment, on a scale ranging from 0 ('not at all') to 4 ('very much'). There was also a response option 'I do not want to answer this question'.<sup>1</sup>

As outcome variables, we used the Global Severity Index (GSI), which is a mean score of all 53 items, and mean values of the subscales of depression, anxiety, and psychosis. The Dutch version of the BSI-53 is sufficiently valid and reliable (Beurs & Zitman, 2006). In the current study, overall reliability was good: McDonald's Omega  $\omega = .96$ , as was the reliability of the subscales depression ( $\omega = .90$ ), anxiety ( $\omega = .87$ ), and psychoticism ( $\omega = .75$ ). GSI scores were calculated in accordance with the BSI-53 guidelines. Therefore, participants with BSI- 53 data containing more than 3 missing values in total or more than 1 missing value per subscale were excluded.

# 2.4. Physical activity

We measured LPA, MPA, and VPA with the consumer wearable device Fitbit Charge 2. To create average daily minutes of LPA, MPA, and VPA, the sum of activity minutes over all valid days was divided by the number of valid measurement days. LPA, MPA, and VPA were based on an algorithm from Fitbit using metabolic equivalents (METs). The algorithm counts MPA and VPA minutes from an intensity level of 3 METs or higher and from a duration of 10 minutes or longer. Previous research demonstrates acceptable concurrent validity (r = .658) between the Fitbit Charge 2 and research-grade wearables such as Actigraph when assessing LPA, MPA, and VPA over a 7-day period (Brewer et al., 2017).

The choice of the Fitbit Charge 2 device was motivated by good assessment practice of finding a balance between validity and feasibility of measurement instruments (Corder et al., 2008). Compared to adults, adolescents would be less willing to wear a device that clashes with their idea of 'social wearability', which is defined by the degree to which adolescents perceive the visual appearance of the device as acceptable in a social setting (Corder et al., 2008; Dunne et al., 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This option was introduced to all questionnaires at the request of schools (see Kirtley et al., 2021 for further information).

The screen of the device was disabled to provide feedback on the participants' activity, yet the distance (km) they covered daily was displayed as this could not be turned off. We decided a priori to create a variable of MVPA, a sum of MPA and VPA. We originally planned to also include sedentary behaviour in this study, but in a deviation from our post-registration, we decided not to impute the missing SB data or proceed with analysis of sedentary behaviour due to high amounts of missing data (~58%), (see *Supplement 2* for more information).

#### 2.5. Inclusion and exclusion of data into the final dataset

We used a threshold of at least  $\geq$ 3 valid measurement days as an inclusion criterion in line with previous research (Kandola et al., 2020). Since a minimum of 4 valid days has been suggested as well (Migueles et al., 2017), we conducted an additional sensitivity analysis (see *Supplement 3*). Sufficient wear time usually includes 8-10 hours in a 24 hr day (Migueles et al., 2017). Common proxies for non-wear time (e.g. heart rate, accelerometery count) were not available for this Fitbit day-level data sample. Thus, a valid day was alternatively defined as having a measurement day with: (a) LPA for  $\geq$ 60 minutes and (b) having started measurement day 1 before or the latest at 12noon, and (c) having a sleep period of more than 200 minutes and with a sleep onset after 1pm. If on all seven measurement days the participant had zero values for all measured variables of the device (LPA, MPA, VPA, minutes asleep), we assumed that the device was not worn, and data were excluded. For more details on defining missing data, non-wear time, and the rationale for in- and exclusion criteria we refer to *Supplement 2*.

# 2.6. Covariates

Longitudinal evidence suggests that adolescents are becoming less moderate-vigorously physically active with age, and this has been observed in both genders, although particularly in girls (Farooq et al., 2020). Further, a cross-sectional study from Germany with comparable seasonal conditions shows that adolescents are less light to moderately physically active during winter and on rainy and short sunlight days (Quante et al., 2019). Therefore, we included age (years), gender (male/female), and season (spring/summer/autumn/winter) as covariates into our analyses.

#### 2.7. Statistical analysis

The aims of the statistical analysis were threefold. Given that there is no established 'gold standard' for handling missingness in Fitbit data, first, we wanted to explore the nature of missing data patterns and find a suitable method to deal with missing data (e.g. imputation). Second, since the nature of the relationship between PA and psychopathology is currently unclear (e.g. linear, non-linear), we wanted to investigate if the relationship between PA and psychopathology is explained better by a linear or non-linear model. In order to address these two aims, we used a random subsample, comprising 50% of the total sample, as a training set. Within the training dataset, we first explored the missing data pattern and developed a suitable technique for handling missing data. Then, we conducted a model selection procedure with four models. The lowest Bayesian information Criterion (BIC), Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), and Mean Squared Prediction Errors (MSPE) values indicated the best fitting model. Third and finally, we fitted the selected model to the remaining data from the total sample, i.e. the testing dataset.

### 2.7.1 Missing data exploration and imputation

We used a random 50% subsample (n=587) in order to explore the amount and pattern of missing data in the PA variables and select the best fitting model for our data. After having excluded participants who did not wear the device at all during the 7-day measurement period (N=23), and participants who had less than 3 days of valid data (N=100), the training subsample consisted of 464 participants. Based on our criteria for missing data (see *Supplement 2*), 17.87% of LPA, MPA, and VPA data, and 48.64% of sedentary behaviour data, were missing after applying our criteria for in- and exclusion. We used Little's Test for Missing Completely At Random (MCAR) (Little, 1988) within Stata Version 15.1 (StataCorp, 2017) to explore the pattern of the missingness in the dataset. The results indicated that the missing data within the training dataset were not missing completely at random (X<sup>2</sup>= 179.96; df= 31; p=  $\leq$ .001).

There is a lack of information regarding best practices for dealing with missing Fitbit data (e.g. Feehan et al., 2018), therefore we used a multiple imputation method to impute missing data in multilevel models (van Ginkel et al., 2020). This approach is preferred since it considered that there a repeated measurements per participant. The data within this study have a multilevel structure, where accelerometery data are nested within participants, which are nested within schools. In general, a recommended approach is then to perform a multilevel multiple

imputation (van Ginkel et al., 2020). We followed this general recommendation, but did not empirically evaluate this approach, or compare approaches, within our sample.

To perform a multiple imputation technique for multilevel models, we used the 'mitml'package (Grund et al., 2019) in R (R Core Team, 2019), which imputed the missing values for LPA, MPA, and VPA and generated ten imputed datasets. In general, three to ten imputations are considered to be sufficient (Rubin, 1987; von Hippel, 2018). We chose 10 imputations to maximise the efficiency of estimates and replicability (Rubin, 1987). The same multiple imputation technique for multilevel model was applied within all ten datasets. After data were fully cleaned and all inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied as described above, the missing data were imputed.

We did not investigate if the estimates differed significantly between imputed datasets. However, previous work has illustrated that the imputation of point estimates has good replicability even if missingness is very high (e.g. 75%), with point estimates differing only by 0.1% between the first and second imputation (von Hippel, 2018). Finally, we created a mean value for LPA, MPA, and VPA across the number of observations per participants in every imputed dataset. MPA and VPA were summed to create the MVPA variable, which we used in our analysis.

# 2.7.2. Model selection with the training subsample (n=464)

After imputing the missing data, we estimated for each imputed dataset the following models: (1) a linear regression, (2) a linear mixed effects model considering school differences, (3) a generalized additive model, and (4) a generalized additive mixed effect model considering school differences. Model 1 and 2 assume a linear relationship between PA and psychopathology, while model 3 and 4 assume non-linear one, to test the 'threshold' effect. Mixed effects models were included in the model selection procedure to investigate if accounting for school differences would improve the model fit. All models were estimated using the mgcv package (Wood, 2017). The linear model was estimated with the gls function (1), the linear mixed effects model by the lme function (2), and the generalized additive models (3, 4) with the gam function. To allow for comparability, the number of knots for the generalized additive models. For each of the four different models we wanted to compare, we computed the

Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC), Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), and mean squared prediction error (MSPE).

The MSPE represents a summary of differences between actual and predicted response values and indicates how well a model predicts in the future and is calculated by k-fold cross-validation (Hastie et al., 2008). In this approach, the sample is split into k subsets. Using all subsets except the kth subset, the model is estimated for each fold, whereby the kth subset serves a validation sample. This process is repeated until every subset has served as the validation sample. Then, the computed MSPE values are averaged across the folds (Hastie et al., 2008). In this study, we used 10-fold cross-validation in each imputed dataset to compute the MSPE value, which was later pooled across the M imputed datasets (Hastie et al., 2008). The best fit of the model was determined by the lowest AIC, BIC, and MSPE value across all imputed datasets.

### 2.7.3. Estimation of the selected model in the testing subsample (n=464)

After selecting the model with the better fit, we estimated the model to assess (a) our confirmatory hypothesis on the association between LPA and MVPA and general symptoms of psychopathology, and (b) exploratory hypothesis on the association between LPA and MVPA on symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism. In preparation of the analysis of the testing sample, same steps were taken as in the training sample: After the data of the testing sample (n=586) had been cleaned, 10 different imputed datasets were created. We used the same multiple imputation method for 2-level data as in the training subsample. In every imputed dataset, we created a mean value for LPA, MPA, and VPA across the number of observations per participants. MPA and VPA were summed to create an additional value; MVPA.

We used Rubin's rules for pooling effect estimates and standard errors (Rubin, 1987). The Wald test was calculated using the pooled regression coefficient and standard error. The degrees of freedom (df) and the p-value for the pooled estimate were derived from the adjusted formula version to calculate the df (Van Buuren, 2018) using the MICE package in R (van Buuren & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, 2011). In a deviation from our post-registration, we performed a sensitivity power analysis using a fixed multiple linear regression modelling R<sup>2</sup> increase within the testing subsample (n=464) using G\*Power version 3.1.9.4. (Faul et al., 2007). Testing the hypothesis that R<sup>2</sup> increase is zero, the minimum effect size to achieve a power larger than 80% is  $f^2 = .02$ . Within our OLS regression, we achieved a partial R<sup>2</sup> value of .08. Please see *Supplement 4* for more detailed information on the power analysis calculations.
# 3. Results

#### 3.1. Characteristics of the training and testing subsample

**Table 1** shows the means, standard deviations, and percentages for the variables age, gender, season, LPA, MVPA, BSI-GSI, and the subscales depressiveness, anxiety, and psychoticism for both the training and the testing subset with and without data imputation. **Table 2** shows the minimum, maximum, and quartile values for light and moderate-vigorous physical activity within the unimputed and imputed training and testing subsample.

**Table 1** Means, standard deviations, and percentages within the unimputed and imputed training (n=464) and testing subsample (n=470)

	Unimputed	Unimputed	Imputed	Imputed
	training subset	testing subset	training subset	testing subset
	(n=464)	(n=470)	(n=464)	(n=470)
Age (years)	13.27 (1.74)	13.20 (1.59)	13.27 (1.74)	13.20 (1.59)
Gender (% female)	65	60	65	60
Season: Spring (%)	45	40	45	40
Season: Autumn (%)	15	49	15	49
Season: Winter (%)	40	1	40	1
LPA (minutes)	255.19 (50.83)	248.45 (55.80)	253.43 (58.11)	249.52 (51.06)
MVPA (minutes)	47.51 (32.83)	50.59 (38.41)	47.25 (34.26)	50.83 (35.84)
BSI-GSI	.90 (.64)	.83 (.60)	.90 (.64)	.83 (.60)
Anxiety	.92 (.64)	.83 (.67)	.92 (.64)	.83 (.67)
Depressiveness	.85 (.64)	.72 (.80)	.85 (.64)	.72 (.80)
Psychoticism	.69 (.64)	.63 (.67)	.69 (.64)	.63 (.67)

Note: LPA= light physical activity, MVPA= moderate - vigorous physical activity, BSI-GSI= General Severity Index of the Brief Symptom Inventory-53

**Table 2** *Minimum, maximum, quartile, and skewness-index values for light (LPA) and moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) within the unimputed and imputed training* (n=464) and testing subsample (n=470)

Sample	Variable	Min.	Average	Max.	Skewnes		
			quartile				s-Index
			1 <sup>st</sup>	$2^{nd}$	3 <sup>rd</sup>		
			Quartile	Quartile	Quartile		
Unimputed	LPA	88.25	211.96	250.33	296.58	422.00	.03
training	MVPA	0	23.94	38.45	61.67	197.00	1.58
Imputed	LPA	92.00	218.57	252.42	292.16	399.13	.05
training	MVPA	-8.91	25.10	40.64	62.03	196.37	1.49
Unimputed	LPA	66.00	208.80	273.00	320.00	501.00	14
testing	MVPA	0	17.00	46.50	96.75	305.00	1.34
Imputed	LPA	92.21	216.62	248.54	281.36	412.00	.04
testing	MVPA	-13.62	26.48	43.33	67.38	233.97	1.55

Note: LPA= light physical activity, MVPA= moderate - vigorous physical activity

# 2. Missing data and model selection in training subsample (n=464)

We determined the BIC, AIC, and MSPE values from a linear regression (LM), a linear mixed effect model (LME), a generalized additive model (GAM), and a generalized additive mixed effect model (GAMM) across 10 imputed datasets. Considering all values, we found that the linear regression model had the lowest BIC and MSPE values, while there was an equal number of datasets presenting the lowest AIC value in either a linear or a generalized additive model. Overall, we concluded that the linear model provided the best fit (**Table 3** and **Table 4**).

Dataset	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
BIC										
LM	719.57	718.98	719.52	718.87	717.74	718.05	718.51	718.93	718.35	719.42
LME	725.48	724.89	725.42	724.93	723.64	723.95	724.42	724.81	724.26	725.33
GAM	727.33	726.44	729.78	725.92	725.95	726.32	725.63	725.20	726.34	727.35
GAMM	727.33	726.44	729.78	725.92	725.95	726.32	725.63	725.20	726.34	727.35
AIC										
LM	688.32	687.73	688.28	687.63	686.49	686.80	687.27	687.66	687.11	688.18
LME	690.32	689.73	690.28	689.63	688.49	688.80	689.27	689.66	689.11	690.18
GAM	688.28	687.38	690.73	686.87	686.89	687.26	686.57	686.14	687.29	688.30
GAMM	688.28	687.38	690.73	686.87	686.89	687.26	686.57	686.14	687.29	688.30

**Table 3** *BIC* and *AIC* values for a linear model (LM), linear mixed effects model (LME), generalized additive model (GAM), and generalized additive mixed effects model (GAMM) among ten imputed datasets of the training sample (n=464)

Note: BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion; AIC = Akaike Information Criterion; LM = linear model; LME = linear mixed effects model; GAM = generalized additive model; GAMM = generalized additive mixed effects model

Dataset	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
MSPE										
LM	.3751	.3810	.3743	.3800	.3907	.3905	.3843	.3866	.3775	.3821
LME	.3751	.3810	.3743	.3800	.3907	.3905	.3843	.3866	.3775	.3821
GAM	.3738	.3801	.3789	.3828	.3935	.3938	.3879	.3888	.3838	.3781
GAMM	.3738	.3801	.3789	.3828	.3935	.3938	.3879	.3888	.3838	.3781

**Table 4** Mean Squared Prediction Error (MSPE) values for a linear model (LM), linear mixed effects model (LME), generalized additive model

 (GAM), and generalized additive mixed effects model (GAMM) among ten imputed datasets of the training sample (n=464)

Note: MSPE= Mean Squared Prediction Error; LM = linear model; LME = linear mixed effects model; GAM = generalized additive model; GAMM = generalized additive mixed effects model; Standard error values of the MSPE values are reported in Supplement 7.

3.3. Model fit values for the associations between light and moderate-vigorous physical activity and symptoms of general psychopathology in the testing sample (n=470)

Based on the training set results, we conducted a confirmatory analysis using a linear regression model in the testing subsample. The pooled results across the 10 imputed datasets can be found in Table 5. There were no significant associations between LPA and MVPA, and symptoms of general psychopathology. These findings remained unchanged when conducting a sensitivity analysis applying multilevel multiple imputation to the BSI variable.

**Table 5** Associations between light (LPA) and moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) and psychopathology (GSI-BSI) estimated with a linear regression in the testing subsample (n=470)

	Dependent variable							
Independent variables	GSI-BSI							
	β (SE)	р	b (SE)	р				
LPA	.00009 (.0006)	.84	.0001 (.0007)	.81				
MVPA	0008 (.0009)	.54	001 (.0009)	.15				
Age	.04 (.02)	.07	.05 (.02)	.02				
Gender	.26 (.06)	<.001	-	-				
Season (Spring)	48 (.58)	.41	61 (.21)	.30				
Season (Autumn)	34 (.58)	.56	49 (.60)	.41				

Note: in bold = p < 0.05;  $\beta$ = unstandardized regression coefficient; b= standardized regression coefficient; SE= standard error, LPA= light physical activity, MVPA=moderate - vigorous physical activity 3.4. Model fit values for the associations between light (LPA) and moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in the testing subsample (n=470)

We conducted exploratory analyses using a linear regression model. The pooled results across the 10 imputed datasets can be found in **Table 6**. There are no significant associations between LPA and MVPA with symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism. These findings remained unchanged when conducting a sensitivity analysis applying multilevel multiple imputation to the BSI variable.

**Table 6** Associations between light (LPA) and moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA)and general psychopathology (GSI-BSI-53) estimated with a linear regression (n=470)

	Dependent variables						
Independent	Depression		Anxiet	y	Psychoticism		
variables							
	$\beta$ (SE)	р	β (SE)	р	β (SE)	р	
LPA	0002 (.0008)	.81	.0004 (.0007)	.54	000007 (.0007)	.99	
MVPA	0004 (.001)	.72	001 (.001)	.18	0006 (.001)	.55	
Age	.08 (.03)	.008	.007 (.02)	.75	.03 (.02)	.02	
Gender	.30 (.08)	<.001	.24 (.07)	<.001	.22 (.07)	.001	
Season	-1.54 (.79)	.05	22 (.65)	.74	45 (.66)	.49	
(Spring)							
Season	-1.37 (.79)	.08	09 (.65)	.88	27 (.66)	.69	
(Autumn)							

Note: in bold = alpha < 0.05;  $\beta$ = unstandardized regression coefficient; SE= standard error, LPA= light physical activity, MVPA= moderate - vigorous physical activity. Standardized coefficients are reported in Supplement 5.

#### 4. Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study investigating the nature of the relationship between objectively measured PA and symptoms of general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in adolescents. We hypothesized that a linear relationship exists, where more minutes of LPA and MVPA would be negatively associated with fewer symptoms of psychopathology in adolescents. Yet, our results showed that the (standardized) effect sizes between LPA and MVPA and symptoms of general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism, were negligible to small, and that the associations were non-significant. Therefore, our findings do not provide evidence that more LPA and MVPA relate to fewer symptoms of psychopathology in the general adolescent population.

Our results are not in line with previous self-report data from the general adolescent population, showing significant associations between more PA and lower levels of depression and anxiety symptoms (Korczak et al., 2017; McMahon et al., 2017). However, these previous findings need to be interpreted cautiously, as self-reported PA is less reliable and prone to social desirability (Adams et al., 2005) and recall biases, meaning adolescents might either overreport MVPA (LeBlanc & Janssen, 2010) or underreport LPA (Sullivan et al., 2012).

In contrast, our observation that MVPA durations were not associated with depression is consistent with findings from other accelerometery studies in adolescents. For example, in the ROOTS study (n= 1238; 54% girls; mean age = 13.8 years) and the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) study (n= 3298, 53% girls mean age= 14.5 years) (Kandola et al., 2020; Toseeb et al., 2014; Wiles et al., 2012), objectively measured MVPA was also not associated with symptoms of depression, and reported small, (unstandardized), effect sizes of weekday MVPA (.02).

Our findings do not provide evidence that more LPA and MVPA are associated with fewer symptoms of psychopathology in the general adolescent population. Recent prospective evidence suggests that the relationship between lifestyle behaviours and psychopathology is interdependent, where multiple lifestyle factors, such as sleep, sedentary behaviour, and PA, have an integrative effect on psychopathology, as opposed to individual lifestyle factors alone (Brown et al., 2021). These findings suggest that a more inclusive, broader approach may be needed for future research and intervention. Additionally, individuals' experience of PA, the

type, domain, and context of PA need to be considered for psychopathology-informed PA recommendations (Teychenne et al., 2020).

Preliminary evidence suggests that PA is associated with fewer psychopathology symptoms when PA occurs during leisure time (White et al., 2017), in the company of others (Kleppang et al., 2017), in nature (Coon et al., 2011), and with a focus on the mind-body relationship, such as yoga (Galantino, Galbavy, & Quinn, 2008; Lubans, Plotnikoff, & Lubans, 2012). In contrast, PA during transport, household chores, and physical education classes is not associated with fewer symptoms of psychopathology (White et al., 2017). There is also evidence that PA carried out alone is associated with higher odds of developing depression compared to PA performed in a social setting (e.g. in a sports clubs) (Kleppang et al., 2018). Therefore, further research may investigate interactions of PA with domain, context, type, and experience of PA, in relation to symptoms of psychopathology in adolescents, using the Experience Sampling Method, for example.

Our finding that LPA duration and depression levels were not significantly associated is in contrast to previous research using objectively measured LPA from the ALSPAC cohort study (Kandola et al., 2020). Currently, little is known about psychopathology-related associations with LPA. Cross-sectional evidence in adults suggests that associations with LPA are threshold-dependent, showing that associations emerge only after a certain minimum duration of LPA (~400 min/day) (Bernard et al., 2018). Potentially, a similar threshold-dependent relationship exists in adolescents, where the minimum amount to affect psychopathology is reached with at least ~320 minutes of LPA per day (Kandola et al., 2020), whereas shorter durations, as in our study (~250 minutes/ day) do not. Further exploration showed that the majority of LPA values (i.e. 75%) were below an average of 320 minutes.

Following a reviewer's suggestion, because our threshold of LPA inclusion was low (60 minutes), we conducted exploratory analyses with an increased threshold (300 min) to estimate the associations of higher LPA (mean 360.28, SD 25.98) with psychopathology symptoms in a linear and non-linear model in a sample of N=332. Our results indicated that in both models the linear and non-linear relationship between both LPA and MVPA, and psychopathology, remained non-significant (see Supplement 6). Overall, given that no associations were found between general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism and LPA/MVPA duration, these findings also suggest that factors other than PA may be more important in

relation to psychopathology. Further research should elucidate the role of social risk factors, for example low family cohesion and adverse life events in relation to PA in adolescents (Cuffe et al., 2005).

Since the results of the linear model investigating the PA-psychopathology relationship was non-significant, this study does not enable us to conclude whether a linear or a non-linear model describes the relationship best. In the previous literature, the nature of the PA-psychopathology relationship has been much debated. Other studies in adults, using self-report data, are inconsistent in their findings, as they have been suggesting various natures of relationships: Linear (Galper et al., 2006), quasi-linear (Stephens, 1988), s-shaped (Mummery et al., 2004), and U-shaped relationships (Kim et al., 2012). The only accelerometery study to date investigating the nature of the PA- psychopathology relationship shows a non-linear (i.e. U-shaped) association in adults (Bernard et al., 2018).

Our study has several methodological strengths. First, we aimed for maximal transparency by post-registering our study on the Open Science Framework. This approach may increase replicability of future work by minimising 'researcher degrees of freedom' and counteracting questionable research practices such as p-hacking (i.e. conducting multiple analyses until a significant result is achieved) and HARKing, standing for 'Hypothesising After Results are Known, can increase the risk of type 1-errors and reduce replicability of findings. Second, we conducted a sensitivity power analyses to increase the interpretability of our findings and guide future work in sample size decisions. Third, we addressed the risk of bias related to missingness in accelerometery data by using multiple imputation methods for multilevel data (van Ginkel et al., 2020). Given the many misconceptions about multiple imputation, listwise deletion still remains a conventional method in dealing with missing data, which may bias study conclusions (van Ginkel et al., 2018) our methods may also help to increase the rigor of future research using Fitbit devices.

Our results also need to be interpreted in light of some limitations. First, common proxies of non-wear time (e.g. heart rate; accelerometery count) were unavailable in this data sample using Fitbit Charge 2. Therefore, we cannot definitively know if the included data represents sufficient wear time, which usually includes at least 8 hours in each 24-hour day. Future research using Fitbit devices may include minute-level heart rate measurement as a proxy for

non-wear time. Second, since the device is not water resistant, inconvenient to wear during contact sports (e.g. volleyball), and MVPA durations shorter than 10 consecutive minutes are not captured by the Fitbit Charge 2, full PA may not have been captured in the data. Options for participants manually logging additional non-recorded activities could be explored. Third, while including at least three valid days is common practice in accelerometery research (Kandola et al., 2020), current recommendations suggest to include at least four valid days (Migueles et al., 2017).

However, within our sensitivity analysis, in which we estimated a linear regression including at least 4 valid days, results were similar to our analyses using three valid days. Fourth, our study design did not account for the influence of additional lifestyle aspects, such as sleep and sedentary behaviour on adolescent psychopathology symptoms, although previous research suggests an interdependency and combined association of these behaviours on adolescent mental health (Brown et al., 2021). This means that the single assessment of only one lifestyle aspect (i.e. physical activity) in this study may represent an incomplete picture of the relationship (Tremblay, 2020).

To conclude, our results show that objectively measured LPA and MVPA durations are not significantly associated with symptoms of general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in adolescents, and that the relationships between PA and psychopathology are best represented by a linear relationship. Overall, this study does not provide evidence that higher durations of LPA and MVPA alone and regardless of the context relate to reduced symptoms of psychopathology in the general adolescent population. A more integrative approach considering the interdependency of multiple lifestyle factors, as well as the domain, context, and individual experience of PA may add value to the understanding of the PA-psychopathology relationship.

## References

- Adams, S. A., Matthews, C. E., Ebbeling, C. B., Moore, C. G., Cunningham, J. E., Fulton, J., & Hebert, J. R. (2005). The effect of social desirability and social approval on self-reports of physical activity. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 161(4), 389–398. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwi054
- Benning, S. D., Bachrach, R. L., Freeman, E., & Wright, A. (2019). The Registration Continuum in Clinical Science: A Guide toward Transparent Practices. *J Abnorm Psychol*, 128(6), 528–540. https://doi.org/doi:10.1037/abn0000451
- Bernard, P., Doré, I., Romain, A. J., Hains-Monfette, G., Kingsbury, C., & Sabiston, C. (2018). Dose response association of objective physical activity with mental health in a representative national sample of adults: A cross-sectional study. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(10), e0204682. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204682
- Beurs, E. D. E., & Zitman, F. G. (2006). De Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI): De betrouwbaarheid en validiteit van een handzaam alternatief voor de SCL-90. [The Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI): The reliability and validity of a brief alternative of the SCL-90]. *Maandblad Geestelijke Volksgezondheid*, 61, 120–141.
- Brewer, W., Swanson, B. T., & Ortiz, A. (2017). Validity of Fitbit's active minutes as compared with a research-grade accelerometer and self-reported measures. *BMJ Open Sport and Exercise Medicine*, *3*(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2017-000254
- Brown, D. M. Y., Kwan, M. Y., Arbour-Nicitopoulos, K. P., & Cairney, J. (2021). Identifying patterns of movement behaviours in relation to depressive symptoms during adolescence: A latent profile analysis approach. *Preventive Medicine*, 143, 106352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106352
- Coon, J. T., Boddy, K., Stein, K., Whear, R., Barton, J., & Depledge, M. H. (2011). Does participating in physical activity in outdoor natural environments have a greater effect on physical and mental wellbeing than physical activity indoors? A systematic review. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 45(5), 1761–1772. https://doi.org/10.1021/es102947t
- Corder, K., Ekelund, U., Steele, R. M., Wareham, N. J., & Brage, S. (2008). Assessment of physical activity in youth. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 105(3), 977–987. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00094.2008
- Cuffe, S. P., Mckeown, R. E., Addy, C. L., & Garrison, C. Z. (2005). Family and psychosocial risk factors in a longitudinal epidemiological study of adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 44(2), 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200502000-00004
- Derogatis, L. R. (1993). BSI Brief Symptoms Inventory: Administration, Scoring, and Procedure Manual (4th Ed.). Pearson, NCS.

- Dunne, L., Profita, H., & Zeagler, C. (2014). Social Aspects of Wearability and Interaction. In
  E. Sazonov (Ed.), *Wearable Sensors: Fundamentals, Implementation and Applications* (First, pp. 25–43). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-418662-0.00026-X
- Esnaola, I., Sesé, A., Antonio-Agirre, I., & Azpiazu, L. (2020). The Development of Multiple Self-Concept Dimensions During Adolescence. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *30*(S1), 100–114. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12451
- Farooq, A., Martin, A., Janssen, X., Wilson, M. G., Gibson, A. M., Hughes, A., & Reilly, J. J. (2020). Longitudinal changes in moderate-to-vigorous-intensity physical activity in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, 21(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12953
- Fang, F., Sun, H., Wang, Z., Ren, M., Calabrese, J. R., & Gao, K. (2016). Antipsychotic Drug-Induced Somnolence: Incidence, Mechanisms, and Management. *CNS Drugs*, 30(9), 845– 867. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-016-0352-5
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175–191. https://doi.org/doi: 10.3758/bf03193146
- Feehan, L. M., Geldman, J., Sayre, E. C., Park, C., Ezzat, A. M., Young Yoo, J., Hamilton, C. B., & Li, L. C. (2018). Accuracy of fitbit devices: Systematic review and narrative syntheses of quantitative data. *JMIR MHealth and UHealth*, 6(8), e10527. https://doi.org/10.2196/10527
- Galantino, M. Lou, Galbavy, R., & Quinn, L. (2008). Therapeutic effects of yoga for children: A systematic review of the literature. *Pediatric Physical Therapy*, 20(1), 66–80. https://doi.org/10.1097/PEP.0b013e31815f1208
- Galper, D. I., Trivedi, M. H., Barlow, C. E., Dunn, A. L., & Kampert, J. B. (2006). Inverse association between physical inactivity and mental health in men and women. *Medicine* and Science in Sports and Exercise, 38(1), 173–178. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000180883.32116.28
- Grund, S., Robitzsch, A., & Luedtke, O. (2019). *mitml: Tools for Multiple Imputation in Multilevel Modeling. R package version 0.3-7.* https://cran.r-project.org/package=mitml
- Guthold, R., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M., & Bull, F. C. (2020). Global trends in insufficient physical activity among adolescents: a pooled analysis of 298 population-based surveys with 1.6 million participants. *The Lancet Child and Adolescent Health*, 4(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30323-2
- Hastie, T., Tibshirani, R., & Friedman, J. (2008). Model assessment and selection. In *The Elements of Statistical Learning. Data Minining, Inference, and Prediction* (Second). Springer.

- Hoos, M. B., Kuipers, H., Gerver, W. J. M., & Westerterp, K. R. (2004). Physical activity pattern of children assessed by triaxial accelerometry. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 58(10), 1425–1428. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601991
- Kandola, A., Lewis, G., Osborn, D. P. J., Stubbs, B., & Hayes, J. F. (2020). Depressive symptoms and objectively measured physical activity and sedentary behaviour throughout adolescence: a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(3), 262–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30034-1
- Kessler, R. C., Angermeyer, M., Anthony, J. C., De Graaf, R., Demyttenaere, K., Gasquet, I., Giovanni, De Girolamo, G., Gluzman, S., Gureje, O., Haro, J. M., Kawakami, N., Karam, A., Levinson, D., Mora, M. M. E., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Alonso, J., Lee, S., Heeringa, S., ... for the WHO World Mental Health Survey Consortium. (2007). Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of mental disorders in the World Health Organization's World Mental Health Survey Initiative. *World Psychiatry*, 6(3), 168–176.
- Kim, Y. S., Park, Y. S., Allegrante, J. P., Marks, R., Ok, H., Ok Cho, K., & Garber, C. E. (2012). Relationship between physical activity and general mental health. *Preventive Medicine*, 55(5), 458–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.08.021
- Kirtley, O. J., Achterhof, R., Hagemann, N., Hermans, K. S. F. M. Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Boets, B., Henquet, C., Kasanova, Z., Schneider, M., Reiningshaus, U., Viechtbauer, W., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2021). *Initial cohort characteristics and protocol for SIGMA: An accelerated longitudinal study of environmental factors, inter- and intrapersonal processes, and mental health in adolescence.* https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/jp2fk
- Kleppang, A. L., Hartz, I., Thurston, M., & Hagquist, C. (2018). The association between physical activity and symptoms of depression in different contexts - A cross-sectional study of Norwegian adolescents. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6257-0
- Kleppang, A. L., Thurston, M., Hartz, I., & Hagquist, C. (2017). Psychological distress among Norwegian adolescents: Changes between 2001 and 2009 and associations with leisure time physical activity and screen-based sedentary behaviour. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, January*, 140349481771637. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494817716374
- Koivukangas, J., Tammelin, T., Kaakinen, M., Mäki, P., Moilanen, I., Taanila, A., & Veijola, J. (2010). Physical activity and fitness in adolescents at risk for psychosis within the Northern Finland 1986 Birth Cohort. *Schizophrenia Research*, 116(2–3), 152–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2009.10.022
- Korczak, D. J., Madigan, S., & Colasanto, M. (2017). Children's physical activity and depression: A meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 139(4), e20162266. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2266
- LeBlanc, A. G. W., & Janssen, I. (2010). Difference between self-reported and accelerometer

- measured moderate-to-vigorous physical activity in youth. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 22(4), 523–534. https://doi.org/10.1123/pes.22.4.523
- Little, R. J. A. (1988). A test of missing completely at random for multivariate data with missing values. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *83*(404), 1198–1202.
- Lubans, D. R., Plotnikoff, R. C., & Lubans, N. J. (2012). Review: A systematic review of the impact of physical activity programmes on social and emotional well-being in at-risk youth. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 17(1), 2–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-3588.2011.00623.x
- Lubans, D., Richards, J., Hillman, C., Faulkner, G., Beauchamp, M., Nilsson, M., Kelly, P., Smith, J., Raine, L., & Biddle, S. (2016). Physical Activity for Cognitive and Mental Health in Youth: A Systematic Review of Mechanisms. *Pediatrics*, 138(3), e20161642– e20161642. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1642
- Manios, Y., Androutsos, O., Moschonis, G., Birbilis, M., Maragkopoulou, K. Giannopulou, A., Argyri, E., & Kourlaba, G. (2013). Criterion validity of the Physical Activity Questionnaire for Schoolchildren (PAQ-S) in assessing physical activity levels: The Healthy Growth Study. *The Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*, 53(5), 502– 508.
- McMahon, E. M., Corcoran, P., O'Regan, G., Keeley, H., Cannon, M., Carli, V., Wasserman, C., Hadlaczky, G., Sarchiapone, M., Apter, A., Balazs, J., Balint, M., Bobes, J., Brunner, R., Cozman, D., Haring, C., Iosue, M., Kaess, M., Kahn, J. P., ... Wasserman, D. (2017). Physical activity in European adolescents and associations with anxiety, depression and well-being. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 26(1), 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-016-0875-9
- Migueles, J. H., Cadenas-Sanchez, C., Ekelund, U., Delisle Nyström, C., Mora-Gonzalez, J., Löf, M., Labayen, I., Ruiz, J. R., & Ortega, F. B. (2017). Accelerometer Data Collection and Processing Criteria to Assess Physical Activity and Other Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Practical Considerations. *Sports Medicine*, 47(9), 1821–1845. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0716-0
- Mummery, K., Schofield, G., & Caperchione, C. (2004). Physical activity dose-response effects on mental health status in older adults. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 28(2), 188–192. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-842X.2004.tb00934.x
- Quante, M., Wang, R., Weng, J., Kaplan, E. R., Rueschman, M., Taveras, E. M., Rifas-Shiman, S. L., Gillman, M. W., & Redline, S. (2019). Seasonal and weather variation of sleep and physical activity in 12–14-year-old children. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 17(4), 398–410. https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2017.1376206
- R Core Team. (2019). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.r-project.org

Rubin, D. (1987). Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys. Wiley.

- Schuch, F. B., Stubbs, B., Meyer, J., Heissel, A., Zech, P., Vancampfort, D., Rosenbaum, S., Deenik, J., Firth, J., Ward, P. B., Carvalho, A. F., & Hiles, S. A. (2019). Physical activity protects from incident anxiety: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Depression* and Anxiety, 36(09), 846–858. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22915
- Schuch, F. B., Vancampfort, D., Firth, J., Rosenbaum, S., Ward, P. B., Silva, E. S., Hallgren, M., De Leon, A. P., Dunn, A. L., Deslandes, A. C., Fleck, M. P., Carvalho, A. F., & Stubbs, B. (2018). Physical activity and incident depression: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 175(7), 631–648. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17111194
- Spear, L. P. (2013). Adolescent neurodevelopment. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 52(2), S7–S13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.05.006
- StataCorp. (2017). Stata Statistical Software: Release 2015. StataCorp LLC.
- Stephens, T. (1988). Physical activity and mental health in the United States and Canada: Evidence from four population surveys. *Preventive Medicine*, 17(1), 35–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/0091-7435(88)90070-9
- Suetani, S., Mamun, A., Williams, G. M., Najman, J. M., McGrath, J. J., & Scott, J. G. (2017). Longitudinal association between physical activity engagement during adolescence and mental health outcomes in young adults: A 21-year birth cohort study. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 94, 116–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.06.013
- Sullivan, R., Kinra, S., Ekelund, U., AV, B., Vaz, M., Kurpad, A., Collier, T., Reddy, K. S., Prabhakaran, D., Ebrahim, S., & Kuper, H. (2012). Evaluation of the Indian Migration Study Physical Activity Questionnaire (IMS-PAQ): A cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 9, 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-9-13
- Teychenne, M., White, R. L., Richards, J., Schuch, F. B., Rosenbaum, S., & Bennie, J. A. (2020). Do we need physical activity guidelines for mental health: What does the evidence tell us? *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 18, 100315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2019.100315
- Toseeb, U., Brage, S., Corder, K., Dunn, V. J., Jones, P. B., Owens, M., St Clair, M. C., Van Sluijs, E. M. F., & Goodyer, I. M. (2014). Exercise and depressive symptoms in adolescents: A longitudinal cohort study. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 168(12), 1093–1100. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.1794
- Tremblay, M. S. (2020). Introducing 24-hour movement guidelines for the early years: A new paradigm gaining momentum. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *17*(1), 92–95. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2019-0401

Van Buuren, S. (2018). Flexible Imputation of Missing Data (Second). Chapman & Hall/CRC.

- van Buuren, S., & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, K. (2011). mice: Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations in R. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 45(3), 1–67. https://www.jstatsoft.org/v45/i03/
- van Ginkel, J. R., Linting, M., Rippe, R. C. A., & van der Voort, A. (2020). Rebutting Existing Misconceptions About Multiple Imputation as a Method for Handling Missing Data. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 102(3), 297–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2018.1530680
- Verwimp, J., Ameye, L., & Bruyneel, M. (2013). Correlation between sleep parameters, physical activity and quality of life in somnolent moderate to severe obstructive sleep apnea adult patients. *Sleep and Breathing*, 17(3), 1039–1046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-012-0796-x
- von Hippel, P. T. (2018). How Many Imputations Do You Need? A Two-stage Calculation Using a Quadratic Rule. Sociological Methods and Research, 49(3), 699–718. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124117747303
- White, R. L., Babic, M. J., Parker, P. D., Lubans, D. R., Astell-Burt, T., & Lonsdale, C. (2017).
  Domain-Specific Physical Activity and Mental Health: A Meta-analysis. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 52(5), 653–666.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.12.008
- Wiles, N. J., Haase, A. M., Lawlor, D. A., Ness, A., & Lewis, G. (2012). Physical activity and depression in adolescents: Cross-sectional findings from the ALSPAC cohort. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 47(7), 1023–1033. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-011-0422-4
- World Health Organization. (2020). WHO Guidelines on physical activity, sedentary behaviour. *World Health Organization*, 104. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/325147/WHO-NMH-PND-2019.4-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y%0Ahttp://www.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311664% 0Ahttps://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/325147

# Chapter 4 - Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep duration, sleep quality, and symptoms of psychopathology in general population adolescents from the SIGMA cohort

Noëmi Hagemann, Olivia J. Kirtley, Ginette Lafit, Martien Wampers, Robin Achterhof, Karlijn F.S.M Hermans, Anu P. Hiekkaranta, Aleksandra Lecei, Davy Vancampfort & Inez Myin-Germeys

Resubmitted to Sleep Medicine in December 2021

#### Abstract

Background: While subjective measures have demonstrated an association between sleep duration, sleep quality, and symptoms of psychopathology in adolescents, findings from more reliable, objective measures remain limited and inconsistent. In this study, we investigate if Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep duration, non-compliance with sleep duration guidelines, and sleep quality are associated with symptoms of psychopathology in adolescents.

Methods: Adolescents (N= 558) aged 11-17 years from the SIGMA cohort wore the Fitbit Charge 2 measuring sleep duration and sleep quality during 4-6 days. Participants completed the Brief Symptom Inventory-53, assessing symptoms of general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism. Power analysis and non-linear model selection were conducted within a training subset (n=56). The optimal non-linear and linear models were fit to the remainder of the dataset (n=502).

Results: Sleep duration and non-compliance with sleep guidelines were not associated with symptoms of general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in general population adolescents. Further, sleep quality was not associated with symptom levels of anxiety and psychoticism, but positive associations were found between sleep quality, depression, psychoticism, and general psychopathology symptoms.

Conclusions: Our non-significant findings converge with those of an increasing body of literature using objective measures of sleep that does not find significant associations between sleep duration, sleep quality and psychopathology symptoms. Overall, our results suggest that associations between sleep duration and psychopathology symptoms in previous studies may be a function of the subjective, self-report nature of the employed measures, and do not generalize to objectively collected sleep data.

### **1. Introduction**

Adolescence is a vulnerable developmental period for the onset of psychopathology symptoms (Patton et al., 2014), and 50% of these mental health symptoms persist into early adulthood (Kessler et al., 2007). Two risk factors that may increase symptoms of psychopathology, are inadequate sleep duration and quality. Adequate sleep refers to age-specific sleep duration needs, while good sleep quality is characterized by continuous, uninterrupted sleep, and feelings of refreshment upon awakening (Kline, 2013).

Current literature suggests that adequate sleep duration and good quality sleep are essential for adolescents' mental and physical health (Cairns et al., 2014; Matricciani et al., 2019). Most guidelines, such as from the American Society of Sleep Medicine and the National Sleep Foundation, contend that younger adolescents between 11-13 years old should sleep 9-11 hours, and older adolescents between 14-17 years old should sleep between 8-10 hours per night, to maintain general health (Paruthi et al., 2016). Yet, the percentage of adolescents reaching the recommended sleep duration is low. Only about two thirds of the younger and older adolescents sleep the recommended duration of at least 8-9 hours per night on a school night depending on the adolescent's age, according to international studies (Delaruelle et al., 2019; Michaud & Chaput, 2016).

Previous longitudinal studies demonstrate that both very short and very long sleep durations than recommended by guidelines (i.e. 8-9 hrs per night) are associated with subsequent psychopathology symptoms (Morishima et al., 2020; Ojio et al., 2016). Sleeping shorter or longer than recommended by guidelines (i.e. 8-9 hrs per night) on a school night is associated with a higher risk of developing symptoms of depression and anxiety (Kaneita et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2020; Ojio et al., 2016). Overall, as findings show associations of both short and long sleep duration with psychopathology symptoms, a non-linear (U-shaped) relationship between sleep duration and psychopathology has been suggested (Liu et al.2020).

Furthermore, prospective studies provide stronger evidence for sleep duration predicting the development of psychopathology rather than vice versa, however few studies have investigated the potential longitudinal effects of depressive symptoms on sleep duration (Lovato & Gradisar, 2014). In contrast, the prospective relationships between lower sleep quality and more symptoms of depression and anxiety is considered bi-directional (Kaneita et al., 2009). Despite

the considerable number of studies on the topic, there is still uncertainty around the study's' conclusions. whether sleep relates to psychopathology. There is a great discrepancy between the literature mentioned above, which relies on self-report data, and recent studies applying objective i.e. non-self-report, measures to investigate the sleep – psychopathology relationship. In fact, the small number of objective data studies investigating the longitudinal association between sleep duration, symptoms of general psychopathology (Ranum et al., 2019) and depression (Slykerman et al., 2020), do not find evidence for a sleep duration – psychopathology relationship. Similarly, recent research found no association between Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep quality and symptoms of psychoticism (Koopman-Verhoeff et al., 2019). Overall, these objective findings are meaningful, since they challenge the conclusions from previous literature, which is largely based on retrospective self-report.

Self-report data are considered less reliable, as they overestimate sleep duration by 30-60 minutes compared to actigraphy and polysomnography (Guedes et al., 2016; Matthews et al., 2018). Research devices (e.g. actigraphy and polysomnography) are the best tools for accurately measuring sleep, but one downside is that they are relatively expensive – thereby limiting the sample sizes for studies that use these methods. However, more cost-effective alternatives such as multi-sensor consumer devices measure sleep duration in adolescents with comparable accuracy to actigraphy (Lee et al., 2019; Menghini et al., 2021) and provide almost equally accurate sleep epochs, such as total sleep time (i.e. sensitivity (0.95-0.96) and specificity (0.58-0.69) when compared to polysomnography in adults (Haghayegh et al., 2019).

Whilst multi-sensor consumer devices cannot replace polysomnography, their costeffectiveness facilitates collection of objective sleep data from larger samples. Previous literature has not only focused mainly on self-report measures, but was also limited to specific psychopathologies such as depression, anxiety, and psychoticism. In contrast, broader associations with general psychopathology symptoms remain unknown. This is particularly relevant in adolescence, when psychopathology is still developing and less differentiated than in adults (Hartmann et al., 2021). More research is necessary in order to better understand how sleep duration and quality relate to general psychopathology. Yet, since studies using objective measures are still limited, exploring the relationship of sleep duration and quality with symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism remains relevant as well. Moreover, no previous study has investigated a non-linear relationship between sleep duration and psychopathology in objectively measures sleep despite both short and long sleep duration being associated with a risk for psychopathology symptoms (Morishima et al., 2020; Ojio et al., 2016).

In this study, we aim to investigate 1) if there is a non-linear association between Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep duration and psychopathology, 2) if non-compliance with sleep duration guidelines is associated with more psychopathology symptoms, and 3) if there is a linear relationship between Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep quality and psychopathology. Our confirmatory analyses investigated the associations of sleep and general psychopathology. We hypothesised that short and long sleep duration and poor-quality sleep are associated with more symptoms of general psychopathology. We also explored the relationship between non-compliance with sleep guidelines and general psychopathology symptoms<sup>2</sup>. We conducted further exploratory analyses to examine the associations of sleep duration, sleep quality, and non-compliance with sleep guidelines with depression, anxiety, and psychoticism symptoms.

# 2. Methods

# 2.1. Sample and recruitment

Data from Wave 1 of the SIGMA study, a large-scale, ongoing, accelerated longitudinal study of adolescent mental health in Flanders, Belgium, are used in this study. In total, 1913 adolescents were included in Wave 1 (age range 11-19 at enrolment). Full details of the methods, measures and sample have been described elsewhere (Kirtley et al., 2021). The participants of the SIGMA study were recruited as a general population sample via schools, with an opt-in consent procedure. Students at each school were invited to take part in the study, regardless of sociodemographic or psychological factors, e.g. known presence/absence of psychological disorder. The inclusion criteria were: (a) being a current student in the first (age 11-12), third (13-14) or fifth (age 15-16) year at a participating school; and (b) being able to read and write Dutch to an acceptable level. Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the UZ/KU Leuven Medical Ethics Committee (Ref: S6 1395).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This analysis was described as confirmatory in an earlier version of the manuscript. However, following helpful suggestions from peer-reviewers, we changed our original, registered analytic plan for this analysis, and now therefore consider it to be exploratory.

#### 2.2. Procedure

Self-reported symptoms of psychopathology were assessed via a tablet computer, in class groups at school. Following completion, students were instructed to wear a Fitbit Charge 2 device on their wrist, during 7 consecutive days and 24 hours per day. At night, the Fitbit Charge 2 automatically collects data on the participant's sleep duration and sleep quality. Participants were asked to remove the device whenever they would be in contact with water (e.g. when swimming, showering) since the device is not water resistant.

In addition to wearing the Fitbit device, participants were also prompted to answer ten brief questionnaires per day for six days via smartphone during 7:30 am to 22:30 pm as part of the experience sampling method (ESM) component of the larger study (Myin-Germeys et al., 2018). These ESM data were not used within the current study. To avoid conflict between the ESM questionnaires and participants' sleep schedules, we instructed them to follow their normal individual daily life rhythm, such as sleeping in during the weekend or going to bed early, even if this meant missing ESM questionnaires. We also arranged with the school's contact person that the measurement week was a usual week of participants' daily lives to ensure that the sleep variables would be representable. A usual week was defined as a week when the participants had classes at school every day, and no extra-curricular activities were planned (e.g. day out, internship). After the 7-day Fitbit wear period, they returned the material at their school. Participants received a 10-euro voucher for participation.

# 2.3. Measures

# 2.3.1. Symptoms of psychopathology

The Brief Symptom Inventory – 53 (BSI-53; Derogatis, 1993) was used to assess symptoms of psychopathology only once. It includes 10 different subscales on somatization, compulsiveness, social insecurity, depression, anxiety, aggression, phobia, paranoia, psychoticism, and additional items (e.g. suicidal thoughts, sleep quality). Example items are feeling unworthy, nervous, or distrustful to most people from the depression, anxiety, and psychosis subscales respectively. Participants were asked to report on all 53 items how much they had experienced them during the last week, including the day of assessment on a scale ranging from 0 ('not at all') to 4 ('very much').

They also had a response option 'I do not want to answer this question'.<sup>3</sup> We used the Global Severity Index (GSI), which is a mean score of all 53 items and also mean values of the subscales of depression, anxiety, and psychosis. One of the 53 items is on sleep quality. Due to the overlap with our predictor variable, this variable was excluded, and the BSI-GSI value was calculated based on 52 items.

The Dutch version of the BSI-53 is sufficiently valid and reliable (Beurs & Zitman, 2006). In the current study, overall reliability was good: McDonald's Omega  $\omega = .97$ , as was the reliability of the subscales depression ( $\omega = .90$ ), anxiety ( $\omega = .87$ ), and psychoticism ( $\omega = .75$ ). GSI scores were calculated in accordance with the BSI-53 guidelines. Therefore, participants with BSI- 53 data containing more than 3 missing values in total or more than 1 missing value per subscale were excluded.

#### 2.3.2. Sleep

We measured sleep duration and sleep quality with the consumer tracker device Fitbit Charge 2. Sleep duration is considered as the time spent asleep, and therefore automatically excludes periods in bed which had been recorded as being awake or restless during the tracked sleep time (Fitbit, 2021a). Sleep quality is assessed by a sleep quality score which is based on heart rate, the time spent awake or restless, and sleep stages. This score is based on a proprietary algorithm, meaning that information about the exact method used to calculate the sleep quality score is not publicly available. The score ranges from 0-100, with a higher score indicating a higher level of sleep quality. A sleep score of 90-100 is defined by Fitbit as 'excellent', 80-89 as 'good', 60-79 as 'fair', and a score below 60 as 'poor' (Fitbit, 2021c).

The screen of the device was disabled to prevent participants receiving feedback on their activity (which may influence their behaviour), but the distance (km) they covered daily was still displayed as this could not be turned off. To create average minutes of sleep duration and sleep quality, the sum of sleep minutes and the sum of the sleep quality score over the whole valid wear time period was divided by the number of valid measurement days.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This option was introduced to all questionnaires at the request of schools (see Kirtley et al., 2021, for further information).

Following suggestions from peer-reviewers, to measure the effects of non-compliance with sleep duration guidelines, we created a non-compliance score capturing the individuals' deviation from their age-matched sleep guideline. This score was created by subtracting actual sleep duration per day from the recommended, age-matched sleep duration. Depending on the age group, recommended sleep duration values were 600 (11-13 years old) and 540 minutes (14-17-year olds), since these represent the mean value of recommended sleep duration of 9-11 hours, and 8-10 hours, for younger and older adolescents, respectively (Paruthi et al., 2016). A mean compliance score was calculated per individual, where the sum score was divided across all seven nights.

We used a threshold of at least  $\geq$ 4 valid measurement days as an inclusion criterion in line with previous research (Migueles et al., 2017). A valid day was defined as having a measurement day with a sleep duration of  $\geq$ 200 minutes and where sleep started after 9 pm. For more details regarding the data pre-processing steps and in- and exclusion criteria, please see **Appendix A**.

#### 2.3.3. Covariates

Meta-analytic evidence suggests that adolescents' sleep duration decreases with older age (Galland et al., 2018), and that girls tend to sleep longer and have better sleep quality (Franco et al., 2020). Further, a cross-sectional study from Germany with comparable seasonal conditions shows that adolescents sleep less (~ 40 min) in summer as compared to winter, and that warm weather reduces sleep quality (Quante et al., 2019). Therefore, we included age (years), gender (male/female), and season (spring/summer/autumn/winter) as covariates into our analyses. Other relevant covariates such as socio-economic status (SES), parental education, and parental psychopathology, for example, were also collected within our study in parent questionnaires. However, since the response rate was very low (i.e. 20%), we did not include these additional covariates in our analyses. Bullying (van Geel et al., 2015), social support (de Grey et al., 2018), and childhood trauma (Brindle et al., 2018) have been shown to be related to both sleep and psychopathology, and were also assessed within the SIGMA study, but were not included within our analyses, since our main focus was to perform a basic model first given the lack of previous objective studies and their non-significant findings.

#### 2.4. Open Science Practices

study This was post-registered on the Open Science Framework (see: https://osf.io/8v3m5/?view\_only=b023aa5d3af948a6919a73cf2902254e). Post-registration is similar to a pre-registration, where a 'locked', un-editable plan for the research questions, hypotheses, and statistical analysis is created prior to data collection. In post-registration, however, the plan is created after data collection, but before having had access to the data and conducting the analyses, although parts of the data may have been used in previous analyses (Benning et al., 2019). In our post-registration, only the confirmatory analyses have been predefined, whereas exploratory analyses were not. Therefore, we refer also to 'registered, confirmatory' analyses, and 'non-registered, exploratory' analyses. To differentiate between confirmatory and exploratory analyses, we report and discuss our findings separately in the results and discussion section. Deviations from the post-registration are reported in Appendix B.

#### 2.5. Statistical analysis

The aims of the statistical analysis were threefold. Given that we wanted to assess the nonlinear relationship between sleep duration and psychopathology symptoms, we used a linear regression model including cubic regression splines, which enable us to investigate the nonlinear relationship. Cubic regression splines have a high degree of freedom, and are therefore, able to catch the variability of slope flexibly. Also, they allow smooth interpolation of fixed points, called knots (Harrell, 2020). In this study, the use of cubic splines allows us to accurately determine the potential 'cut-off points' where sleep duration becomes (mal)adaptive.

To prepare for our analyses, we first assessed how many cubic spline knots provided the best fit. Second, after the best fitting model had been determined, we conducted a simulation-based power analysis to understand if our sample was sufficiently powered. To address these two aims, we conducted a few preparatory steps; (a) a data cleaning procedure according to the predefined in- and exclusion criteria; and subsequently, (b) a sample selection, where we drew a random stratified 10% subsample considering age and gender from the total, cleaned sample. After we imputed the missing data within this 10% training subsample, we first, compared various numbers of knots in cubic splines and determined which linear model including either 3, 4, or 5 knots for the cubic splines provided the best fit.

Second, after the model was specified, we used the 10% training subsample to conduct two separate simulation-based power analyses. Third, and finally, we estimated the models within the remaining dataset, the 90% testing dataset.

### 2.5.1. Preparatory steps

First, we applied the inclusion and exclusion criteria to the full dataset (N=1178). We performed this step before dividing our sample into training and testing samples, as we were aware of a high amount of missing sleep data (~58%) from a previous study (Hagemann et al., 2021). After having excluded participants (a) whose device did not record any data during the complete 8-day measurement period (N= 247), (b) were older than 17 years of age (N=26), and (c) had less than 4 days of valid data (N= 347), the total sample consisted of 558 participants. Within the cleaned sample, 32.9% of the observations within the variables sleep duration and sleep quality were missing. We used Little's Test for Missing Completely At Random (MCAR) (Little, 1988) within Stata Version 15.1 (StataCorp, 2017) to explore the pattern of the missing data in the sleep, psychopathology, and control variables. The results indicated that the missing values within the complete dataset including all variables were not MCAR ( $X^2$ = 121.49; df= 25; p≤ .001). In general, a recommended approach is then to perform a multilevel multiple imputation, as it may decrease the risk of bias as compared to listwise deletion if data is either missing at random (van Ginkel et al., 2020).

After the data cleaning steps, we divided our total sample into stratified subsamples, a 10% training (N=56) and a 90% (N=502) testing dataset. Then, we conducted multiple multilevel imputation for the sleep duration, sleep quality, and general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism variables within both subsamples, as this approach is currently recommended for multilevel data, where measurement days are nested within participants (van Ginkel et al., 2020). To conduct a multiple imputation for multilevel models, we used the 'mitml'-package (Grund et al., 2019) in R (R Core Team, 2019). We imputed data across 10 datasets, since a number between three to ten imputations has shown to yield sufficiently efficient and replicable estimates (Rubin, 1987; von Hippel, 2018).

Since multilevel imputation of level-2 variables (i.e. outcome variables) is restricted to one variable per multiple imputation (e.g. only general psychopathology) within the *mitml* package, we created three separate imputation datasets from the main imputed dataset with the imputed variable of general psychopathology when investigating the effects of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism.

# 2.5.2. Knot selection for cubic splines of sleep duration and non-compliance with the training subsample (n=56)

To assess the non-linear relationship between sleep duration, non-compliance, and psychopathology, we included cubic splines for the independent variables within the linear regression model included cubic splines. We determined across three models how many knots within the cubic splines for sleep duration and non-compliance would provide the best model fit: 3, 4, and 5 knots in R (R Core Team, 2019). Please see **Appendix C** for more details on the knot selection procedure.

# 2.5.3. Conducting a two-step simulation-based power analysis

Given that no comparable previous literature is available to estimate the distribution of sleep duration and sleep quality and also the estimated effect sizes for the relationships between the sleep variables and psychopathology are unknown, we applied a simulation-based approach (Lane & Hennes, 2018) for calculating the power for Hypothesis 1, Hypothesis 2, and Hypothesis 3 within the random 10% training subsample (n = 56). Please see **Appendix D** for more details on the simulation-based power analysis.

#### 2.5.4. Estimation of the models in the testing subsample (n=502)

After selecting the number of knots within the training subsample and the imputation of the missing data, we estimated the model to assess our confirmatory hypotheses (1) on the non-linear association between sleep duration and general symptoms of psychopathology, and (2) the non-linear associations of sleep duration and symptoms of psychopathology, and 3) on the linear association between sleep quality and symptoms of psychopathology within the 90% testing subsample. Both linear models were estimated in R (R Core Team, 2019) with the *lm* and *rcs* functions using the rms package for the cubic splines (Harrell, 2020).

We used Rubin's rules for pooling effect estimates and standard errors across the imputed datasets (Rubin, 1987). The Wald test was calculated using the pooled regression coefficient and standard error. The degrees of freedom and the p-value for the pooled estimate were derived from the adjusted formula version to calculate the df (Van Buuren, 2018) using the MICE package in R (van Buuren & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, 2011).

# 3. Results

# 3.1. Characteristics of the training and testing subsample

**Table 1** shows the means, standard deviations, and percentages for the variables gender, age, season, sleep duration, sleep quality, BSI-GSI for both the training and the testing subset with and without data imputation. One participant identified as 'other' when indicating gender. Within the subsequent analyses, we set this participant's gender to 'NA', since one participant would not provide enough information to estimate the effect of gender as a three-level factor variable.

	Unimputed	Unimputed	Imputed	Imputed
	training subset	testing subset	training subset	testing subset
	(n=56)	(n=502)	(n=56 x 10)	(n=502 x 10)
Age (years)	13.09 (1.51)	13.13 (1.49)	13.09 (1.51)	13.13 (1.49)
Gender (% female)	64	64	64	64
Season: Winter (%)	43	36	43	36
Season: Spring (%)	45	49	45	49
Season: Autumn (%)	12	15	12	15
Sleep duration	472.02 (47.03)	465.85 (54)	470.74 (35.79)	470.51 (36.28)
(minutes)				
Non-compliance	117.26 (51.00)	118.60 (44.00)	119.87 (41.47)	118.17 (36.69)
(minutes)				
Sleep quality (0-100)	91.73 (2.16)	92.42 (2.34)	91.79 (1.77)	92.43 (1.93)
BSI-GSI	.83 (.72)	.84 (.62)	.83 (.72)	.84 (.62)
Depressiveness	.84 (.72)	.78 (.60)	.84 (.72)	.78 (.60)
Anxiety	.84 (.72)	.87 (.60)	.84 (.72)	.87 (.60)
Psychoticism	.72 (.72)	.64 (.60)	.72 (.72)	.64 (.60)

**Table 1** *Means, standard deviations, and percentages within the unimputed and imputed training* (n=56) *and testing subsample* (n=502, across 10 imputed datasets)

#### 3.2. Knot selection of cubic splines in training subsample (n=56)

We estimated the non-linear effects of the variables sleep duration and non-compliance on general psychopathology within three different linear regression models. Age, gender, and season were included as control variables. In each model, the non-linear effects were implemented by adding cubic splines to the variables sleep duration and non-compliance. To determine how many splines would be needed for the variables sleep duration and non-compliance, the number of knots of the cubic splines differed (3, 4, and 5), while the rest of the model remained the same. Each of the three models with differing knots for the cubic splines was estimated across 10 imputed datasets. Then, we compared the AIC, BIC, and MSPE values in each of the three linear regression models across 10 imputed datasets.

Considering all values, the linear regression model including three cubic spline knots for sleep duration and non-compliance had the lowest AIC, BIC and MSPE values with one exception for the AIC values within the sixth imputed dataset. Standard errors of the MSPE values are reported in **Appendix G**. Overall, we concluded that the linear model with 3 cubic splines knots provided the best fit (**Table 2** and **Table 3**).

**Table 2** BIC and AIC values for three linear regression models estimating the non-linear effects of sleep duration and non-compliance on general psychopathology symptoms when including differing numbers of knots (3, 4, or 5) within cubic splines among ten imputed datasets in the training subsample (n=56)

Dataset	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
BIC										
3 knots	148.98	162.31	149.83	161.04	148.53	148.55	156.55	165.10	155.95	145.64
4 knots	155.71	168.65	157.77	167.17	156.41	151.73	163.70	173.07	163.39	150.76
5 knots	162.76	174.90	162.34	170.81	164.23	156.76	171.33	176.08	170.87	156.60
AIC										
3 knots	128.72	142.06	129.58	140.78	128.28	128.29	136.30	144.86	135.70	125.38
4 knots	131.40	144.35	133.46	142.86	132.11	127.43	139.40	148.76	139.08	126.45
5 knots	134.40	146.54	133.99	142.46	135.88	128.40	142.97	147.74	142.51	128.24

*Note: BIC* = *Bayesian Information Criterion; AIC* = *Akaike Information Criterion* 

**Table 3** Mean Squared Prediction Error (MSPE) values for three linear regression models estimating the non-linear effects of sleep duration and non-compliance on general psychopathology symptoms when including differing numbers of knots (3, 4, or 5) within cubic splines among ten imputed datasets in the training subsample (n=56)

Dataset	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
MSPE										
3 knots	0.66	0.81	0.74	0.93	0.96	0.71	0.75	0.79	0.76	0.66
4 knots	115.81	40.20	37.89	141.86	59.57	225.45	35.59	206.62	228.28	104.63
5 knots	110.16	42.10	39.85	340.31	569.57	938.83	202.70	167.88	299.65	285.30

*Note: MSPE* = *Mean Squared Prediction Error* 

#### 3.3. Simulation-based power analyses

We estimated the power for two hypotheses using a simulation-based power analysis in a sample of N=502 using the selected linear model including 3 knots within the cubic regression splines. Our results indicated that a power of .19 would be estimated to reject Null Hypothesis 1 ("There is no non-linear association between sleep duration and symptoms of psychopathology"). Further, in order to reject Null Hypothesis 2 ("Complying with age-specific guidelines for sleep duration is associated with symptoms of psychopathology") a power of .99 was reached. Lastly, for Null-Hypothesis 3 ("There is no association between sleep quality and symptoms of psychopathology") the estimated power was >.99. Since we consider a power of .80 to be sufficient, we conclude that only H2 and H3 are adequately powered, while H1 is underpowered.

#### 3.4. Sample characteristics

The main (i.e. testing) sample of N=502 was characterized by mainly younger adolescents with a mean age of 13 years old, and mostly girls (60%). The participants had on average a sleep duration of 8 hours per night, and a very good sleep quality (>90/100). They deviated from the recommended sleep durations by sleeping on average 2 hours less than the sleep guidelines suggests (117 minutes) – which relates to an adjusted deviation of 1 hour since subjective data overestimates sleep by including awakening at night in total sleep duration as opposed to objective data (Chaput et al., 2018).

Levels of general psychopathology were very mild, since only values from 2.5 and higher are considered to be clinically relevant (although not a diagnosis). Adolescents scored highest for depressive symptoms (.87), followed general psychopathology (.84), anxiety symptoms (.78), and psychosis symptoms (.64). Anxious symptoms included feeling tense, nervous, and restless; depressed symptoms comprised feelings of melancholy, loneliness, suicide, hopelessness and worthlessness, and psychotic symptoms covered thought of being controlled by others, feeling alone amongst others, doubting one's sanity (Derogatis, 1993).

### 3.5. Confirmatory analyses

# 3.5.1. Model fit values for non-linear associations between sleep duration, non-compliance, and symptoms of general psychopathology in the testing dataset (n=502)

In order to examine the non-linear association between sleep duration and general psychopathology, we conducted a confirmatory analysis using a linear regression model

including cubic regression splines with three knots for the variables sleep duration and noncompliance. The pooled results across the 10 imputed datasets can be found in **Table 4**. There were no significant associations between sleep duration, non-compliance with sleep guidelines, age, and symptoms of psychopathology. Girls had more symptoms of psychopathology when compared to boys. Season (spring and autumn) were not associated with more symptoms of psychopathology when compared to the season winter.

**Table 4** *Results from a linear regression model estimating the non-linear effects of sleep duration and non-compliance with cubic splines including 3 knots on symptoms of general psychopathology (BSI-GSI-53) in the testing subsample (n=502)* 

	De	ependent variable	
Independent variables		BSI-GSI-53	
	$\beta$ (SE)	b (SE)	р
Intercept	2.61 (2.44)	-	.29
Sleep duration	005 (.004)	30 (.23)	.20
Spline sleep duration with 3 knots	.004 (.003)	.25 (.20)	.21
Non-compliance	.001 (.003)	.07 (.21)	.75
Spline non-compliance with 3 knots	004 (.003)	22 (.19)	.26
Age	.04 (.04)	.10 (.11)	.35
Gender: girls	.18 (.06)	.68 (1.35)	.004
Season: spring	13 (.07)	21 (.11)	.06
Season: autumn	.02 (.09)	.04 (.16)	.80

*Note: in bold* = p < 0.05;  $\beta$ = unstandardized regression coefficient; SE= standard error

# 3.5.2. Model fit values for the linear associations between sleep quality and general symptoms of psychopathology

In order to assess the association between sleep quality and symptoms of general psychopathology, we conducted a confirmatory analysis using a linear regression model. The pooled results across the 10 imputed datasets can be found in **Table 5**. There were positive, significant associations between sleep quality, age, gender, and general symptoms of psychopathology. Girls had more symptoms of psychopathology when compared to boys. Season (spring and autumn) were not associated with more symptoms of psychopathology when compared to the season winter. Since we did not conduct measurements during the summer due to the students' break, no effects are reported for summer compared to winter.

**Table 5** Associations between sleep quality and psychopathology (BSI-GSI-53) estimated with a linear regression in the testing dataset (n=502)

	Γ	Dependent variable	
Independent variables		BSI-GSI-53	
	β (SE)	b (SE)	р
Sleep quality	.05 (.02)	.17 (.06)	.005
Age	.06 (.02)	.16 (.05)	.004
Gender: girls	.14 (.06)	.23 (.10)	.03
Season: spring	13 (.07)	19 (.11)	.08
Season: autumn	.02 (.09)	.02 (.15)	.91

*Note: in bold* = p < 0.05;  $\beta$ = unstandardized regression coefficient; SE= standard error

## *3.6. Exploratory analyses*

3.6.1. Model fit values for the associations between sleep duration and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in the testing dataset (n=502)

We conducted exploratory analyses using a linear regression model including cubic regression splines. The pooled results across the 10 imputed datasets can be found in **Table 6**. Sleep duration and non-compliance with sleep guidelines were unrelated to symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism. Girls had significantly more symptoms of depression, anxiety, and
psychoticism when compared to boys. During spring, adolescents reported significantly fewer symptoms of anxiety when compared to winter.

**Table 6** Results from a linear regression model estimating the non-linear effects of sleep duration and non-compliance with cubic splines including 3 knots on symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism from the BSI in the testing subsample (n=502)

	Dependent variables					
Independent variables	Depression		Anxiety		Psychoticism	
	β (SE)	р	β (SE)	р	β (SE)	р
Intercept	2.67 (3.33)	.42	4.32 (2.71)	.11	1.04 (2.65)	.70
Sleep duration	008 (.005)	.15	008 (.004)	.08	003 (.004)	.51
Spline sleep duration	.007 (.004)	.08	0003 (.004)	.92	.003 (.004)	.43
with 3 knots						
Non-compliance	.004 (.005)	.36	004 (.003)	.23	.002 (.004)	.65
Splines non-compliance	007 (.004)	.09	004 (.003)	.20	003 (.004)	.44
with 3 knots						
Age	.08 (.06)	.18	005 (.05)	.91	.06 (.05)	.24
Gender: girls	.28 (.09)	.003	.17 (.07)	.01	.17 (.07)	.01
Season: spring	14 (.10)	.16	13 (.07)	.08	15 (.07)	.04
Season: autumn	.06 (.15)	.66	.05 (.10)	.63	.002 (.10)	.98

*Note: in bold* = p < 0.05;  $\beta$ = unstandardized regression coefficient; SE= standard error

3.6.2. Model fit values for the associations between sleep quality and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in the testing dataset (n=502)

We conducted exploratory analyses using a linear regression model. The pooled results across the 10 imputed datasets can be found in **Table 7**. We found positive, significant associations between sleep quality, depression, and psychoticism symptoms, whereas associations between sleep quality and anxiety symptoms were non-significant. Age was associated with more symptoms of depression and psychoticism. Girls had significantly more symptoms of depression and anxiety when compared to boys. Adolescents did not report more symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism during spring and autumn when compared to winter.

	Dependent variables						
Independent	Depression		Anxie	Anxiety		Psychoticism	
variables							
	β (SE)	р	β (SE)	р	$\beta$ (SE)	р	
Sleep quality	.08 (.02)	<.001	.02 (.02)	.32	.05 (.02)	.01	
Age	.10 (.03)	<.001	.05 (.02)	.06	.06 (.02)	.01	
Gender: girls	.19 (.09)	.04	.16 (.07)	.02	.12 (.07)	.07	
Season: spring	11 (.09)	.30	13 (.07)	.07	13 (.07)	.07	
Season: autumn	.07 (.14)	.62	.02 (.10)	.88	007 (.10)	.94	

**Table 7** Associations between sleep quality and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism estimated with a linear regression in the testing dataset (n=502)

*Note: in bold* = p < 0.05;  $\beta$ = unstandardized regression coefficient; SE= standard error

## 4. Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study investigating the associations of Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep duration, sleep quality, and symptoms of general psychopathology in an adolescent general population sample. Our findings showed that Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep duration and non-compliance with sleep guidelines were not significantly associated with general symptoms of psychopathology, whereas Fitbit Charge-2 derived sleep quality was significantly and positively related to symptoms of general psychopathology. Our exploratory analyses related to non-compliance and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism showed that sleep duration and non-compliance with sleep guidelines were unrelated to symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism. Sleep quality was not associated with anxiety symptoms, but positively associated with symptoms of depression and psychoticism.

### 4.1. Confirmatory analyses – sleep and general psychopathology

#### 4.1.1. Sleep duration, non-compliance with sleep guidelines, and general psychopathology.

Our non-significant results between sleep duration and general psychopathology are in contrast to previous significant findings from cross-sectional and longitudinal self-report studies suggesting adverse effects on mental health due to short sleep duration (Matamura et al., 2014) or parent-reported insufficient sleep (Hestetun et al., 2018). However, they are in line with results from the similarly-sized prospective Trondheim Early Secure Study, showing that accelerometery-measured short sleep duration at the age of 10 (n= 557) was not associated with emotional or behavioural disorders two years later (Ranum et al., 2019).

Similarly, also the prospective Auckland Birthweight Collaborative Study (n= 467) did not find any associations between objectively measured sleep at age 11 and depressive symptoms at age 16. (Slykerman et al., 2020). While keeping in mind that our power analysis suggests insufficient power to assess the sleep duration – psychopathology relationship (0.19), these and our findings add to an emerging picture that findings from objectively measured data do not align with those from self-report data studies. They challenge the previously established sleep duration – psychopathology relationship since objective sleep duration measures are considered to be more reliable in adolescents (Guedes et al., 2016) and individuals with psychopathology symptoms, hostility, and poor health (Matthews et al., 2018).

Alternatively, our non-significant findings may imply that other aspects of sleep duration, such as sleep duration variability and individual sleep duration needs are more relevant to psychopathology than general sleep duration. For example, objective data studies on withinperson effects of sleep duration find that – when experiencing stressful life events - sleep duration variability relates to more anxiety symptoms in adolescents (Bustamante et al., 2020). These preliminary empirical findings suggest changes in sleep duration, rather than average sleep duration may be relevant for psychopathology symptoms. Increasing consensus suggests that sleep duration needs are variable across individuals, implying that recommendations from sleep guidelines may apply to most, but not to all individuals equally (Chaput et al., 2018). Therefore, an individualized approach assessing deviations from individual sleep duration needs may improve our understanding of the sleep duration – psychopathology relationship.

## 4.1.2. Sleep quality and general psychopathology symptoms.

Our counterintuitive, positive associations between sleep quality and general symptoms of psychopathology contradict previously reported negative associations between self-reported sleep quality and psychiatric symptoms (Hestetun et al., 2018). Given these inconsistent findings with previous literature, careful interpretation and consideration of the measure's limitations are warranted, yet remain constrained by the undisclosed algorithm of the Fitbit sleep quality score. This score consists of the components sleep duration (i.e. awakenings/time asleep), sleep quality (length of REM and deep sleep), and restoration (heartrate) (Fitbit, 2021c). Longer sleep durations, longer REM and deep sleep provide a higher score, whereas high sleeping heart rate lowers the score (Fitbit, 2021c).

However, firstly, sleep efficiency may not be adequately captured in the Fitbit sleep quality measure due to low sleep duration specificity (Haghayegh et al., 2019), which may have biased the sleep quality scores. Secondly, while sleep stage accuracy is low compared to polysomnography (Lee et al., 2019; Menghini et al., 2021), it is unclear what exact amount of REM sleep has been considered as healthy due to the undisclosed algorithm. Since extensive REM sleep has been linked with depression (Riemann et al., 2020), not accounting for this in the Fitbit's algorithm may have biased the Fitbit sleep quality score towards positive associations with psychopathology symptoms. Thirdly, the heart rate measure in the sleep quality score may have biased our findings, since arousal and low parasympathetic activity have been associated with depression (Kemp et al., 2010).

Despite the outlined limitations, opting for alternatives to measure sleep quality as suggested by reviewers was not possible in this study. Given the low accuracy to capture awakening periods and lack of valid data in the variables sleep onset latency and wake after sleep onset in our sample, we could not use sleep efficiency (the ratio between time in bed vs. time asleep), which is the gold standard measure for sleep quality (Ohayon et al., 2017), as an alternative measure. Additionally, controlling for the effects of heart rate was not possible as we did not use minute-level data within this study. Hopefully, reporting our findings may raise awareness of the device's limitations and lack of interpretability, particularly given the wide-spread and increasing use of Fitbit devices – currently 711 studies are registered - (ClinicalTrials.gov, 2021) in research .In light of the potentially even more crucial role of sleep quality in psychopathology development compared to sleep duration (Bin, 2016; Hestetun et al., 2018; Muzni et al., 2021; Wainberg et al., 2021), more rigorous and transparent approaches to measuring sleep quality using commercially-available wearables need to be developed.

#### 4.2. Exploratory analyses

# 4.2.1. Sleep duration, non-compliance with sleep guidelines, and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism.

Similar to our confirmatory analyses, our non-significant findings of sleep duration, noncompliance with sleep duration guidelines, and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism diverge from large-scale self-report studies, reporting associations between both short and long sleep duration and risk for symptoms of psychoticism (Morishima et al., 2020), depression, and anxiety (Ojio et al., 2016). However, they are in line with those from the Auckland Birthweight Collaborative Study (n=871; 50.5% girls), showing that accelerometeryderived sleep duration in 11-year olds was neither cross-sectionally nor longitudinally associated with depressive symptoms at the age of 16 (n= 491) (Slykerman et al., 2020).

## 4.2.2. Sleep quality and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism.

Our positive, significant, and weak associations between sleep quality and depression do not align with findings from objectively measured (Hamann et al., 2019) and subjectively-assessed self-report data (Kaneita et al., 2009; Raniti et al., 2017). Similarly, the significant, positive, and weak associations between symptoms of psychoticism are in contrast with an accelerometery measured sleep quality and psychotic-like experiences study (N=814) (Koopman-Verhoeff et al., 2019). These inconsistent findings with previous literature require cautious interpretation due to the limitations of the Fitbit sleep score measure as elaborated above.

#### *4.3. Strengths and limitations*

Our study has several considerable strengths. First, we aimed to ensure maximal rigor by using open science practices (post-registration and open code) to increase the transparency and reproducibility of our work, conducting a simulation-based power analysis, and addressing missing data using multiple imputation methods for multilevel data in order to decrease the risk of bias (van Ginkel et al., 2020). Second, given the absence of a 'gold standard' for handling missing Fitbit data (Feehan et al., 2018), our method may be a starting point to help to increase the rigor of future research using Fitbit devices.

Our results also need to be interpreted in light of some limitations. First, the design of our study may have influenced participants' sleep routine despite our instructions to maintain their normal routine. Since participants responded also to early-morning or late-evening Experience Sampling questionnaires (data not used in the current study), some participants may have got up earlier in the weekend or stayed up later to answer the questionnaires. Second, as mentioned earlier in the discussion, the Fitbit sleep quality score has considerable limitations which decrease the interpretability of our findings. Future work may opt for an alternative, more transparent measure for more reliable interpretation of the sleep quality findings.

Third, the data within this study are cross-sectional. Therefore, causality of the relationship cannot be inferred. Forth, we did not empirically evaluate if the multiple multilevel imputation of the outcome variables depression, anxiety, psychoticism, and general psychopathology was warranted. When not imputed, sleep duration and non-compliance with sleep duration guidelines were associated with more symptoms of depression and anxiety in general population adolescents. Also, sleep quality was not associated with general psychopathology and psychoticism symptoms when these variables were not imputed (**Appendix F**). Although multiple imputation is theoretically and we followed a 2-step approach to evaluate the validity of imputation (**Appendix F**), future research needs to explore empirically the reliability and appropriateness of multiple imputation and listwise deletion within this type of data.

#### **5.** Conclusion

To conclude, our study does not provide evidence that Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep duration and non-compliance with sleep guidelines are associated with symptoms of psychopathology in the general adolescent population. A more individualized approach, considering unique sleep duration needs and variability in day-to-day sleep durations may be alternative ways to improve our understanding of the objectively measured sleep duration – psychopathology relationship. Our findings suggesting an association between Fitbit Charge 2-derived better sleep quality and more symptoms of depression, psychoticism, and general psychopathology require cautious interpretation due to the proprietary Fitbit algorithm used to derive sleep quality values. Alternative, more transparent measures of sleep quality may increase the validity of future research.

## References

- Becker, S. P., Sidol, C. A., Van Dyk, T. R., Epstein, J. N., & Beebe, D. W. (2017). Intraindividual variability of sleep/wake patterns in relation to child and adolescent functioning: A systematic review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 34, 94–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2016.07.004
- Benning, S. D., Bachrach, R. L., Freeman, E., & Wright, A. (2019). The Registration Continuum in Clinical Science: A Guide toward Transparent Practices. *J Abnorm Psychol*, 128(6), 528–540. https://doi.org/doi:10.1037/abn0000451
- Beurs, E. D. E., & Zitman, F. G. (2006). De Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI): De betrouwbaarheid en validiteit van een handzaam alternatief voor de SCL-90. [The Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI): The reliability and validity of a brief alternative of the SCL-90]. *Maandblad Geestelijke Volksgezondheid*, 61, 120–141.
- Bin, Y. S. (2016). Is Sleep Quality More Important than Sleep Duration for Public Health? *Sleep*, *39*(9), 1629–1630. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.6078
- Bustamante, C. M. V., Rodman, A. M., Dennison, M. J., Flournoy, J. C., Mair, P., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2020). Within-person fluctuations in stressful life events, sleep, and anxiety and depression symptoms during adolescence: a multiwave prospective study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 61(10), 1116–1125. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13234
- Cairns, K. E., Yap, M. B. H., Pilkington, P. D., & Jorm, A. F. (2014). Risk and protective factors for depression that adolescents can modify: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 169, 61–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.08.006
- Chaput, J. P., Dutil, C., & Sampasa-Kanyinga, H. (2018). Sleeping hours: What is the ideal number and how does age impact this? *Nature and Science of Sleep*, 10, 421–430. https://doi.org/10.2147/NSS.S163071
- ClinicalTrials.gov. (2021). US National Library of Medicine. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/results?cond=&term=Fitbit&cntry=&state=&city=&dist=
- Delaruelle, K., Dierckens, M., Vandendriessche, A., & Deforche, B. (2019). Studie Jongeren en Gezondheid, Deel 3: gezondheid en welzijn – Uitgelicht: slaap [Factsheet]. https://www.jongeren-en-gezondheid.ugent.be/wordpress/wpcontent/uploads/2020/03/HBSC\_201718\_Factsheet\_slaap.pdf
- Derogatis, L. R. (1993). BSI Brief Symptoms Inventory: Administration, Scoring, and Procedure Manual (4th Ed.). Pearson, NCS.
- Fitbit. (2021a). *How do I track my sleep with my Fitbit device?* https://help.fitbit.com/articles/en\_US/Help\_article/1314.htm#timeasleep

- Fitbit.(2021b).What'ssleepscoreintheFitbitapp?https://help.fitbit.com/articles/en\_US/Help\_article/2439.htm#what
- Fitzgerald, C. T., Messias, E., & Buysse, D. J. (2011). Teen sleep and suicidality: Results from the youth risk behavior surveys of 2007 and 2009. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 7(4), 351–356. https://doi.org/10.5664/JCSM.1188
- Franco, P., Putois, B., Guyon, A., Raoux, A., Papadopoulou, M., Guignard-Perret, A., Bat-Pitault, F., Hartley, S., & Plancoulaine, S. (2020). Sleep during development: Sex and gender differences. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 51, 101276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2020.101276
- Galland, B. C., Short, M. A., Terrill, P., Rigney, G., Haszard, J. J., Coussens, S., Foster-Owens, M., & Biggs, S. N. (2018). Establishing normal values for pediatric nighttime sleep measured by actigraphy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep*, 41(4), zsy017. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsy017
- Grund, S., Robitzsch, A., & Luedtke, O. (2019). *mitml: Tools for Multiple Imputation in Multilevel Modeling. R package version 0.3-7.* https://cran.r-project.org/package=mitml
- Guedes, L. G., Abreu, G. de A., Rodrigues, D. F., Teixeira, L. R., Luiz, R. R., & Bloch, K. V. (2016). Comparison between self-reported sleep duration and actigraphy among adolescents: gender differences/ Comparação entre duração do sono autodeclarada e actigrafia entre adolescentes: Diferenças de gênero. *Revista Brasileira de Epidemiologia*, 19(2), 339–347. https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-5497201600020011
- Hagemann, N., Kirtley, O. J., Lafit, G., Wampers, M., Achterhof, R., Ermans, K. S. F. M., Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Myin-Germeys, I., & Vancampfort, D. (2021). Objectively measured physical activity and symptoms of psychopathology in general population adolescents from the SIGMA cohort. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 21, 100416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2021.100416
- Haghayegh, S., Khoshnevis, S., Smolensky, M. H., Diller, K. R., & Castriotta, R. J. (2019). Accuracy of wristband Fitbit models in assessing sleep: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(11), e16273. https://doi.org/10.2196/16273
- Hamann, C., Rusterholz, T., Studer, M., Kaess, M., & Tarokh, L. (2019). Association between depressive symptoms and sleep neurophysiology in early adolescence. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 60(12), 1334–1342. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13088
- Harrell, F. E. J. (2020). *rms: Regression Modeling Strategies. R package version 6.1-0.* https://cran.r-project.org/package=rms
- Hartmann, J. A., McGorry, P. D., Destree, L., Amminger, G. P., Chanen, A. M., Davey, C. G., Ghieh, R., Polari, A., Ratheesh, A., Yuen, H. P., & Nelson, B. (2021). Pluripotential Risk

- and Clinical Staging: Theoretical Considerations and Preliminary Data From a Transdiagnostic Risk Identification Approach. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.553578
- Hestetun, I., Svendsen, M. V., & Oellingrath, I. M. (2018). Sleep problems and mental health among young Norwegian adolescents. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 72(8), 578–585. https://doi.org/10.1080/08039488.2018.1499043
- Kaneita, Y., Ohida, T., Osaki, Y., Tanihata, T., Minowa, M., Suzuki, K., Wada, K., Kanda, H., & Hayashi, K. (2007). Association between mental health status and sleep status among adolescents in Japan: A nationwide cross-sectional survey. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 68(9), 1426–1435. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.v68n0916
- Kaneita, Y., Yokoyama, E., Harano, S., Tamaki, T., Suzuki, H., Munezawa, T., Nakajima, H., Asai, T., & Ohida, T. (2009). Associations between sleep disturbance and mental health status: A longitudinal study of Japanese junior high school students. *Sleep Medicine*, 10(7), 780–786. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2008.06.014
- Kemp, A. H., Quintana, D. S., Gray, M. A., Felmingham, K. L., Brown, K., & Gatt, J. M. (2010). Impact of Depression and Antidepressant Treatment on Heart Rate Variability: A Review and Meta-Analysis. *Biological Psychiatry*, 67(11), 1067–1074. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.12.012
- Kessler, R. C., Angermeyer, M., Anthony, J. C., De Graaf, R., Demyttenaere, K., Gasquet, I., Giovanni, De Girolamo, G., Gluzman, S., Gureje, O., Haro, J. M., Kawakami, N., Karam, A., Levinson, D., Mora, M. M. E., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Alonso, J., Lee, S., Heeringa, S., ... for the WHO World Mental Health Survey Consortium. (2007). Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of mental disorders in the World Health Organization's World Mental Health Survey Initiative. *World Psychiatry*, 6(3), 168–176.
- Kirtley, O. J., Achterhof, R., Hagemann, N., Hermans, K. S. F. M. Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Boets, B., Henquet, C., Kasanova, Z., Schneider, M., Reiningshaus, U., Viechtbauer, W., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2021). *Initial cohort characteristics and protocol for SIGMA: An accelerated longitudinal study of environmental factors, inter- and intrapersonal processes, and mental health in adolescence.* https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/jp2fk
- Kline, C. (2013). Sleep Quality. In M. D. Gellman & J. R. Turner (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine* (p. 117). Springer. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9\_849
- Koopman-Verhoeff, M. E., Bolhuis, K., Cecil, C. A. M., Kocevska, D., Hudziak, J. J., Hillegers, M. H. J., Mileva-Seitz, V. R., Reiss, I. K., Duijts, L., Verhulst, F., Luijk, M. P. C. M., & Tiemeier, H. (2019). During day and night: Childhood psychotic experiences and objective and subjective sleep problems. *Schizophrenia Research*, 206, 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2018.12.002

- Lane, S. P., & Hennes, E. P. (2018). Power struggles: Estimating sample size for multilevel relationships research. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 35(1), 7–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407517710342
- Lee, X. K., Chee, N. I. Y. N., Ong, J. L., Teo, T. B., Van Rijn, E., Lo, J. C., & Chee, M. W. L. (2019). Validation of a consumer sleep wearable device with actigraphy and polysomnography in adolescents across sleep opportunity manipulations. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 15(9), 1337–1346. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.7932
- Little, R. J. A. (1988). A test of missing completely at random for multivariate data with missing values. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *83*(404), 1198–1202.
- Liu, B. P., Wang, X. T., Liu, Z. Z., Wang, Z. Y., An, D., Wei, Y. X., Jia, C. X., & Liu, X. (2020). Depressive symptoms are associated with short and long sleep duration: A longitudinal study of Chinese adolescents. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 263(44), 267– 273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.11.113
- Lovato, N., & Gradisar, M. (2014). A meta-analysis and model of the relationship between sleep and depression in adolescents: Recommendations for future research and clinical practice. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 18(6), 521–529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2014.03.006
- Matamura, M., Tochigi, M., Usami, S., Yonehara, H., Fukushima, M., Nishida, A., Togo, F., & Sasaki, T. (2014). Associations between sleep habits and mental health status and suicidality in a longitudinal survey of monozygotic twin adolescents. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 23(3), 292–296. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12127
- Matricciani, L., Paquet, C., Galland, B., Short, M., & Olds, T. (2019). Children's sleep and health: A meta-review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 46, 136–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2019.04.011
- Matthews, K. A., Patel, S. R., Pantesco, E. J., Buysse, D. J., Kamarck, T. W., Lee, L., & Hall, M. H. (2018). Similarities and differences in estimates of sleep duration by polysomnography, actigraphy, diary, and self-reported habitual sleep in a community sample. *Sleep Health*, 4(1), 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2017.10.011
- Menghini, L., Yuksel, D., Goldstone, A., Baker, F. C., & de Zambotti, M. (2021). Performance of Fitbit Charge 3 against polysomnography in measuring sleep in adolescent boys and girls. *Chronobiology International*. https://doi.org/10.1080/07420528.2021.1903481
- Michaud, I., & Chaput, J. P. (2016). Are Canadian children and adolescents sleep deprived? *Public Health*, 25(5), 541–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2016.09.009
- Migueles, J. H., Cadenas-Sanchez, C., Ekelund, U., Delisle Nyström, C., Mora-Gonzalez, J., Löf, M., Labayen, I., Ruiz, J. R., & Ortega, F. B. (2017). Accelerometer Data Collection and Processing Criteria to Assess Physical Activity and Other Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Practical Considerations. *Sports Medicine*, 47(9), 1821–1845.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0716-0

- Morishima, R., Yamasaki, S., Ando, S., Shimodera, S., Ojio, Y., Okazaki, Y., Kasai, K., Sasaki, T., & Nishida, A. (2020). Long and short sleep duration and psychotic symptoms in adolescents: Findings from a cross-sectional survey of 15 786 Japanese students. *Psychiatry Research*, 293, 113440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113440
- Muzni, K., Groeger, J. A., Dijk, D. J., & Lazar, A. S. (2021). Self-reported sleep quality is more closely associated with mental and physical health than chronotype and sleep duration in young adults: A multi-instrument analysis. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 30(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.13152
- Myin-Germeys, I., Kasanova, Z., Vaessen, T., Vachon, H., Kirtley, O., Viechtbauer, W., & Reininghaus, U. (2018). Experience sampling methodology in mental health research: new insights and technical developments. *World Psychiatry*, 17(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20513
- Ohayon, M., Wickwire, E. M., Hirshkowitz, M., Albert, S. M., Avidan, A., Daly, F. J., Dauvilliers, Y., Ferri, R., Fung, C., Gozal, D., Hazen, N., Krystal, A., Lichstein, K., Mallampalli, M., Plazzi, G., Rawding, R., Scheer, F. A., Somers, V., & Vitiello, M. V. (2017). National Sleep Foundation's sleep quality recommendations: first report. *Sleep Health*, 3(1), 6–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2016.11.006
- Ojio, Y., Nishida, A., Shimodera, S., Togo, F., & Sasaki, T. (2016). Sleep duration associated with the lowest risk of depression/anxiety in adolescents. *Sleep*, *39*(8), 1555–1562. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.6020
- Paruthi, S., Brooks, L. J., D'Ambrosio, C., Hall, W. A., Kotagal, S., Lloyd, R. M., Malow, B. A., Maski, K., Nichols, C., Quan, S. F., Rosen, C. L., Troester, M. M., & Wise, M. S. (2016). Recommended amount of sleep for pediatric populations: A consensus statement of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *12*(6), 785–786. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.5866
- Patton, G. C., Coffey, C., Romaniuk, H., Mackinnon, A., Carlin, J. B., Degenhardt, L., Olsson, C. A., & Moran, P. (2014). The prognosis of common mental disorders in adolescents: A 14-year prospective cohort study. *The Lancet*, 383(9926), 1404–1411. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62116-9
- Quante, M., Wang, R., Weng, J., Kaplan, E. R., Rueschman, M., Taveras, E. M., Rifas-Shiman, S. L., Gillman, M. W., & Redline, S. (2019). Seasonal and weather variation of sleep and physical activity in 12–14-year-old children. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 17(4), 398–410. https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2017.1376206
- R Core Team. (2019). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.r-project.org
- Raniti, M. B., Allen, N. B., Schwartz, O., Waloszek, J. M., Byrne, M. L., Woods, M. J., Bei,

- B., Nicholas, C. L., & Trinder, J. (2017). Sleep Duration and Sleep Quality: Associations With Depressive Symptoms Across Adolescence. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 15(3), 198–215. https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2015.1120198
- Ranum, B. M., Wichstrøm, L., Pallesen, S., Falch-Madsen, J., Halse, M., & Steinsbekk, S. (2019). Association Between Objectively Measured Sleep Duration and Symptoms of Psychiatric Disorders in Middle Childhood. *JAMA Network Open*, 2(12), e1918281. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.18281
- Riemann, D., Krone, L. B., Wulff, K., & Nissen, C. (2020). Sleep, insomnia, and depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 45(1), 74–89. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-019-0411-y
- Rubin, D. (1987). Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys. Wiley.
- Slykerman, R. F., Thompson, J. M. D., Coomarasamy, C., Wall, C. R., Waldie, K. E., Murphy, R., & Mitchell, E. A. (2020). Early adolescent physical activity, sleep and symptoms of depression at 16 years of age. *Acta Paediatrica, International Journal of Paediatrics*, 109(7), 1394–1399. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.15140
- StataCorp. (2017). Stata Statistical Software: Release 2015. StataCorp LLC.
- Van Buuren, S. (2018). Flexible Imputation of Missing Data (Second). Chapman & Hall/CRC.
- van Buuren, S., & Groothuis-Oudshoorn, K. (2011). mice: Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations in R. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 45(3), 1–67. https://www.jstatsoft.org/v45/i03/
- van Ginkel, J. R., Linting, M., Rippe, R. C. A., & van der Voort, A. (2020). Rebutting Existing Misconceptions About Multiple Imputation as a Method for Handling Missing Data. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 102(3), 297–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2018.1530680
- von Hippel, P. T. (2018). How Many Imputations Do You Need? A Two-stage Calculation Using a Quadratic Rule. *Sociological Methods and Research*, 49(3), 699–718. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124117747303
- Wainberg, M., Jones, S. E., Beaupre, L. M., Hill, S. L., Felsky, D., Rivas, M. A., Lim, A. S. P., Ollila, H. M., & Tripathy, S. J. (2021). Association of accelerometer-derived sleep measures with lifetime psychiatric diagnoses: A cross-sectional study of 89,205 participants from the UK Biobank. *PLoS Medicine*, 18(10), e1003782. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003782

## Chapter 5 - Coping and sleep quality in youth: An Experience Sampling study

Noëmi Hagemann<sup>a,b\*</sup>, Olivia J. Kirtley<sup>a</sup>, Ginette Lafit<sup>a,c</sup>, Davy Vancampfort<sup>b</sup>, Martien Wampers<sup>a</sup>, Jeroen Decoster<sup>d</sup>, Catherine Derom<sup>e,f</sup>, Sinan Gülöksüz<sup>g,h</sup>, Marc De Hert<sup>d,i,j</sup>, Nele Jacobs<sup>g,k</sup>, Claudia Menne-Lothmann<sup>g</sup>, Bart P. F. Rutten<sup>g,k</sup>, Evert Thiery<sup>l</sup>, Jim van Os<sup>g,m,n</sup>, Ruud van Winkel<sup>d,i</sup>, Marieke Wichers<sup>o</sup> & Inez Myin-Germeys<sup>a</sup>

Resubmitted to Journal of Adolescence in December 2021

## Abstract

Introduction: Sleep quality is closely linked with mental health. Two factors that influence sleep are coping style and locus of control, yet these have not been investigated in daily life. In this study, we examined associations between coping styles and sleep quality in daily life and the potential mediating effect of daily locus of control in a sample of youth, a group particularly vulnerable to developing psychopathology.

Methods: 379 youths from the TwinssCan study participated in an Experience Sampling study, assessing sleep quality as well as state locus of control over the most negative event from the previous day. Participants also completed the Utrecht Coping List, which assessed engagement, disengagement, and emotion-focused coping.

Results: Disengagement, 'passive reaction, and emotion-focused coping were associated with lower daily sleep quality. State locus of control did not mediate any effects of coping styles on quality of sleep.

Conclusions: Disengagement, 'passive reaction', and emotion-focused coping were associated with decreased sleep quality during several consecutive days, which may put youths at risk for developing future insomnia, and strain their mental well-being over time. Thus, there may be value in asking about coping when a young individual presents with sleep problems; however, impaired coping when sleeping poorly should also be considered.

#### **1. Introduction**

One in three youths experience decreased sleep quality (Li et al., 2020). Broadly, the term 'sleep quality' encompasses 'one's satisfaction with the sleep experience, integrating aspects of sleep initiation, sleep maintenance, sleep quantity, and refreshment upon awakening' (Kline, 2013, p.117). Poor sleep quality is associated with impaired daytime functioning including decreased daytime alertness, low school performance, and depressed mood (Short et al., 2013). Longitudinal research has shown that poor sleep quality can, directly or indirectly, be a catalyst for the development of poor mental health in adolescents (Kaneita et al., 2009). Promoting good quality sleep, including subjective sleep satisfaction, maintenance, refreshment, and adequate initiation ( $\leq$  30 min) (Ohayon et al., 2017) during adolescence is therefore important for good adolescent health, well-being, and development.

Poor sleep quality, such as experiencing difficulty falling asleep and waking up frequently, are influenced by many factors, one of which is an individual's coping style (Kalmbach et al., 2018). Coping style is an individual's behavioural, emotional or cognitive response when being in a subjectively stressful situation (Ellen A. Skinner et al., 2003). Coping has been conceptualised *both* as a state or situational response to a specific stressor (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), and as a trait or disposition (Carver & Scheier, 1994). State coping assumes that coping varies depending on contextual aspects, such as the personal resources of the individual and the appraised meaning of the stressor (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Trait coping assumes that individuals tend to apply certain coping styles consistently across situations (Carver & Scheier, 1994).

Empirical evidence suggests that individuals have internalized both a state and a trait component of coping, as equal variability between state and trait coping style use was found in within- and between person analyses (Roesch et al., 2010) applying the Experience Sampling Method (ESM; (Csikszentmihalyi & Larson, 1987; Myin-Germeys et al., 2018). This (partial) consistency in coping may be explained by, on the one hand, a certain balance between given demands within an individual's life, and stable resources of the individual, on the other (Roesch et al., 2010).

Coping models have structured an individual's stress response in terms of emotion- or problemfocus (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984), or the individual's possibility for adaption (i.e. accommodative coping (Skinner et al., 2003), among many others. Further higher-order distinctions of coping strategies have been made, whereby the grouping into *engagement* and *disengagement* coping seems to be of greatest importance (Carver & Connor-Smith, 2010). *Engagement* coping styles include behavioural and cognitive efforts to engage with the stressor in an attempt to reduce it and minimize associated emotions. These include *active coping* (e.g. confidently working on solving the problem), *comforting thoughts coping* (e.g. putting things into perspective) and *seeking social support* (e.g. talking to a friend) (Dijkstra & Homan, 2016). *Disengagement* coping styles relate to diverting oneself from the stressor and avoiding related emotions, such as *palliative reaction* (e.g. seeking lively company when feeling worried), *avoidance* (e.g. waiting and seeing what happens), and *reacting passively* (e.g. letting oneself to be overcome by the problem) (Dijkstra & Homan, 2016). Another form of coping is *expressing emotions/anger* (e.g. showing one's frustration), which can be considered neither as engagement nor disengagement coping and should be viewed as a distinct form of coping (Dijkstra & Homan, 2016).

Along with coping, control also plays an important role in human behaviour. Locus of control is defined as a *trait* and the degree to which an individual cross-situationally attributes outcomes and events in their life to their own behaviour (internal locus), as opposed to external forces (external locus) (Rotter, 1954). While the definition of locus of control relates to the individual's *general* belief of control, previous studies on well-being have also conceptualized locus of control as situational or a *state* (Keeton et al., 2008; Ryon & Gleason, 2014). For consistency with previous literature, we also will apply the term *state* locus of control. We use this term synonymously with previously defined state control terms, such as control appraisal (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984) and self-efficacy (Bandura, 1977).

Control and coping are bi-directionally linked. According to coping theory (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984, p. 80) and Social Learning Theory (Bandura, 1977), an individual's state locus of control in a given situation influences the effectiveness and efforts of coping: If control is low, fewer coping efforts will be made, reinforcing a sense of low control. Emotion-focused coping is expected to lead to better outcomes in low control situations. If control is high, more coping efforts will be made. If these are successful, this mastery experience will in turn reinforce an individual's locus of control, and lead to better outcomes. However, the idea that the effectiveness of coping depends on the controllability of the stressor has received mixed empirical support, but studies find that - generally - active coping leads to better, and

disengagement and emotion-focused coping (i.e. venting emotions) to worse adjustment *regardless of controllability* of the situation (Stanisławski, 2019).

Vice versa, coping behaviour also influences state locus of control (Ellen A. Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2011). The way that an individual copes in real life builds the foundation of his or her locus of control, as it may become an experience of control itself (Ellen A. Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2011). As such, engagement coping increases feelings of competence (i.e. higher control), while disengagement coping may enhance perceptions of helplessness (i.e. lower control) (Ellen A. Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2011).

To date, the former relationship of locus of control affecting coping has been investigated more intensely in youth (Boals et al., 2011; Borecka-Biernat, 2020; Doron et al., 2009; Kurtović et al., 2018), whereas studies investigating the effects of coping on control are scarce and limited to the adult population (Dijkstra & Homan, 2016). Recent studies have investigated the relationship of coping with adolescent mental health. For example, disengagement coping styles have been associated with more negative mood (Santiago et al., 2017) and non-suicidal self-injury (Kiekens et al., 2015), whereas using more engagement coping buffered poverty-related stress on negative and positive mood (Santiago et al., 2017), and was unrelated to non-suicidal self-injury (Kiekens et al., 2015).

Also, in sleep, a role of coping has been suggested. The findings from existing literature on coping and sleep quality are limited; results are mixed, differ between subjective and objective measures and domain of sleep quality, and suggest a unidirectional association. 'Social support' coping was associated with better *subjective* sleep quality (van Schalkwijk et al., 2015), while 'problem-focused' coping was not (Matthews et al., 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004). When measured *objectively*, engagement coping is partially related to longer sleep duration (Matthews et al., 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004), delayed sleep, and daytime sleepiness (Matthews et al., 2016), but is not associated with sleep fragmentation (Matthews et al., 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004). In sum, 'social support' coping seems to relate to better sleep quality, whereas overall engagement coping only partially improves sleep (i.e. sleep duration).

Studies investigating the effects of *disengagement* coping found no statistically significant associations with overall *subjective* sleep quality (Matthews et al., 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004). In *objectively* measured sleep, *disengagement* coping was related to *objectively* measured shorter

sleep duration, fragmented sleep, delayed sleep, and daytime sleepiness in one study (Matthews et al., 2016), but not in another (Sadeh et al., 2004). *Emotion-focused* coping was associated with reduced *subjective* sleep quality and decreased *objective* sleep duration during periods of high stress only (Sadeh et al., 2004). Taken together, disengagement coping and emotion-focused coping seem to relate to poor-quality sleep in youth.

Overall, these previous studies suggest that the coping - sleep literature is in line with previous studies on coping and well-being in youth. However, associations between coping and *subjective* sleep quality are mostly non-significant. This may be because *overall* subjective sleep quality was assessed, and the subdomains of sleep quality were not considered. Studies also differed in the way in which coping strategies were grouped into coping styles and engagement or disengagement coping, since consensus on the structure of coping is lacking (Compas et al., 2017; Stanisławski, 2019).

To date, the exact nature of the relationship between coping and sleep is unclear. One potential pathway could be via hyperarousal and low control. When individuals apply disengagement coping - an important contributor to insomnia (Riemann et al., 2020) – empirical evidence suggests that perceptions of control are lowered (Ellen A. Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2011) and, consequently, hyperarousal increases (Liu et al., 2021). This process happens through a negative feedback loop, where unsuccessful coping increases helplessness and lowers control (Ellen A. Skinner & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2011). Lower control has been unidirectionally associated with poor sleep in adolescents (Alfano et al., 2009; DeAngelis et al., 2019), which relates to a heighted stress response (Liu et al., 2021) and is incompatible with sleep (Riemann et al., 2020). Consequently, poor sleep quality develops as a process involving hyperarousal and low control. This suggested relationship may apply regardless of situational controllability, since empirical evidence suggests that negative health outcomes relate to disengagement coping across situations (Stanisławski, 2019).

Currently, it also remains unclear whether effects of coping on sleep may be age-dependent. Youth undergo tremendous maturational development when transitioning to adulthood, involving cognitive, social, and affective changes, including coping (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011) and sleep (Park et al., 2019), which may extend at least until the mid-twenties. Over time, adolescents develop more coping capacities, moving from reliance on adults to selfreliance when employing problem-solving coping, and learning to adjust their coping styles to be situationally appropriate. (Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011). Further, adolescents' sleep duration and quality decrease as they become older (Park et al., 2019). Moreover, due to the hierarchical phasic development of the brain, with cognitive abilities maturing during adolescence (up to 19 years old), and cognitive-emotional capacity maturing within the twenties (Simmonds et al., 2014), younger youth (15-20 years old) and older youth (21-25 years old) may also differ with regard to coping and sleep. Yet, previous studies have overlooked age-specific effects of coping on sleep. To date, previous studies have looked at coping either within younger (mean age 15 years) (Matthews et al., 2016; van Schalkwijk et al., 2015) or older youth (mean age 24 years) (Faber & Schlarb, 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004) samples – yet studies looking at both age groups are lacking. Therefore, we conducted exploratory analyses within these two age groups as determined by their chronological age.

In the current study, we use pre-existing Experience Sampling Method data from a large study of adolescent twins, triplets, and their non-twin siblings. The experience sampling method (ESM; Csikszentmihalyi & Larson, 1987; Myin-Germeys et al., 2018) is a measurement technique that captures individuals' experiences of daily life at multiple time points, which leads to a more diverse and complete picture compared to retrospective, single time-point measurements, such as questionnaires (Hektner et al., 2007; Mehl & Conner, 2012) and is therefore ideally suited to capture the within-person fluctuations in control and sleep (Keeton et al., 2008; Ryon & Gleason, 2014).

We aim to test our suggested theoretical model of coping – control- sleep by investigating (1) how trait coping styles relate to sleep at the daily level in youth. Furthermore, we investigate (2) if state locus of control mediates the association between trait coping style and quality of sleep. First, we hypothesize that individuals with engagement coping styles will report higher sleep quality, whilst individuals using disengagement coping and sleep quality relationship will be mediated by higher internal state locus of control, whilst the disengagement coping and sleep relationship will be mediated by a lower internal daily locus of control. Exploratory analyses will be conducted for age-dependent effects of coping on sleep. Upon reviewer request, we also estimated the direct and indirect effects of an alternative model, control – coping – sleep, in exploratory analyses.<sup>i</sup>

#### 2. Methods

#### 2.1 Participants

We used wave 1 data from TwinssCan, a longitudinal Twin Study of adolescent twins and their siblings, recruited from the East Flanders Prospective Twin Survey (Derom et al., 2019; Pries et al., 2019; www.twins.be). Data used in the current study were from a pre-existing dataset, in which baseline data were collected between 2010 and 2014 (Pries et al., 2019). Participants were recruited through a newsletter invitation aiming to better understand the role of aberrant salience, reward sensitivity, and stress sensitivity as indicators for psychotic and depressive lability. The study included structured interviews, neurocognition and experimental tasks, questionnaires, and data collected using ESM.

Inclusion criteria for TwinssCan were (1) being aged 15-35 years, (2) sufficient understanding and ability to verbally describe the study procedure and give informed consent (if below age 18, consent was given by caregiver), (3) ability to provide valid, reliable and complete data in the questionnaires, structured interviews, and experimental tasks. The only exclusion criterion was the presence of pervasive mental disorders as indicated by the caregiver. In our study, we used a youth subsample of the TwinssCan sample, namely, all participants aged 15-25 years. The study was approved by the Medical Ethics Review Committee at the KU Leuven University Hospital (Commissie Medische Ethiek van de Universitaire ziekenhuizen KU Leuven, Nr. B32220107766).

## 2.2. Measures

## 2.2.1 Experience Sampling Method (ESM): Daily locus of control and sleep quality

The ESM is a structured diary technique that assesses current experiences and contexts in everyday life (Hektner et al., 2007; Mehl & Conner, 2012; Myin-Germeys et al., 2018). To report their experiences, participants received an electronic personal diary assistant (PDA), called "Psy-Mate" (patented) which emitted a signal ("beep") at random moments, ten times per day between 7:30 am and 10:30 pm, whereupon participants were presented with a short questionnaire during 6 consecutive days. Additionally, they received daily morning and evening questionnaires, which included prospective and retrospective questions about the current day, respectively. Daily locus of control and quality of sleep were assessed at the daily level using ESM.

In the morning questionnaire, participants were asked to rate the quality of their sleep on the previous night ("I slept well") on a 7-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (do not agree) to 7 (very much agree) in the morning. Using a single Likert item to assess the previous night's sleep quality has been considered the most appropriate and accepted way of measuring overall sleep quality, as it provides a distinction from single sleep parameters, such as sleep onset latency or awakenings at night (Kline, 2013; Krystal & Edinger, 2008).

Also, single items are a common way to assess behaviour and experiences in ESM research. In the evening, participants were asked to report the extent to which they had control over the most unpleasant event of the day ("How much control did you have over this event?") on a 7-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (very little) to 7 (a lot). Individuals were briefed about the measurement procedure beforehand and practiced the questionnaire in a demo version to familiarize themselves with the 1-7 Likert-type response format on daily locus of control and the sleep quality, and the -3 to +3 Likert-type response format about the pleasantness of the most negative event.

#### 2.2.2. Coping-style

Individuals' general coping-style was assessed with the original Dutch version of the Utrecht Coping List (UCL; (Schreurs, Tellegen, & Willige, 1984). The UCL is a 47-item questionnaire, which measures seven different coping styles, which were all considered separately: active tackling, avoidance, comforting thoughts, expressing emotions, palliative reaction, passive reaction, and social support. Example items for each of the coping style subscales are: "working purposefully on a solution for the problem" (active tackling); "trying to avoid difficult situations" (avoidance); "thinking that worse things could also happen to you" (comforting thoughts); "showing that you are angry at the person who is responsible" (expressing emotions); "talking to friends and family about the problem" (social support); "feeling like you cannot do anything about the problem" (passive reaction); and "trying to feel better about the situation through drinking alcohol" (palliative reaction). Active tackling, comforting thoughts, and social support are considered engagement coping, whereas avoidance, palliative reaction, and passive reaction are considered disengagement coping.

Expressing emotion is seen as a separate coping style which fits neither engagement nor disengagement coping (Dijkstra & Homan, 2016). Responses are given on a four-point Likert-type scale from 1 (never) to 4 (very often), to indicate how often they generally use a specific

coping style when dealing with challenges in daily life. Per subscale, the raw scores were transformed into norm scores via a 5-point norm table, running from very low to very high. The number of items per scale differed: active tackling consisted of seven items, avoidance of eight items, comforting thoughts of five items, expressing emotions of three items, palliative reaction of eight items, passive reaction of eight items, and social support of six items. Mean values were calculated separately for each subscale. The UCL has been validated in both adolescents and adults (Sanderman & Ormel, 1992; Schaufeli & Van Dierendonck, 1992).

#### 2.3. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The full wave 1 sample consisted of 840 twins, triplets, and their siblings aged 15-35 years old. Participants completing less than 33% of the ESM measurements (i.e. 18 beeps) were excluded from the sample (N=790). We had no access to the full wave 1 sample and were therefore unable to account for these missing data due to incomplete beeps. Further exclusion criteria for this study were a) <15 years and > 25 years old (N=747), b) rating the most negative event of the day as positive (N=719), and c) completing ESM data beyond the 6-day ESM measurement period (N=718), to preserve data quality.

Rating the most negative event of the day was assessed as follows: "Think about the most negative event of the day. This event was: very unpleasant (-3) to very pleasant (+3)". Participants rating the most negative event of the day as positive (i.e., from +3 to +1) were excluded. Participants continuing with ESM beyond the protocol period were given extra time to complete ESM due to answering less than 30% of the questionnaires within the six-day period, and they may therefore generally differ from the rest of sample. Lastly, we excluded d) participants having less than 3 pairs of rated lagged state locus of control in the evening and subsequently rated sleep quality in the morning (N=386). The final sample of this study consisted of 386 participants aged 15-25 years old. Among 386 participants, 349 were twins (134 monozygotic), 11 were triplets, 25 were non-twin siblings, and 1 participant with unknown status.

#### 2.4. Missing data exploration

After having applied our inclusion and exclusion criteria, our dataset consisted of 386 participants. In this sample, 1.3% of coping data, 19% of the lagged state locus control data, and 13% of the sleep quality data were missing. We explored patterns of missing data using Little's Test for Missing Completely At Random (MCAR) (Little, 1988) within Stata Version

15.1 (StataCorp, 2017). According to our results, the missing data within our sample were not missing completely at random ( $X^2 = 124.11$ ; df = 69; p = < 0.001).

#### 2.5. Statistical analysis

# 2.5.1 Path c: Total effects of coping on sleep (theoretical model) and effects of locus of control on sleep (alternative model)

In our theoretical model in path c, we investigated the effects of seven different trait coping styles on quality of sleep as measured daily with the ESM. The values of the coping subscales were divided by the number of items to create an average and were mean-centred using the grand mean. All coping styles, age, and gender were included in the same model. The data were hierarchically structured, with quality of sleep over six consecutive days (level 1) nested within individuals (level 2), nested within twin pairs (level 3). Linear mixed effect models (LMM), treating the twin-pair as a random effect with the subject nested within, enabled assessment of between-individual differences (intercepts).

The model was fit using the "lmerTest"-package (Kuznetsova et al., 2017) in RStudio version 3.6.2 (RStudio Team, 2015). Random effects were added for the coping styles, with coping style nested within the "individual", nested within "twin-pair". We accounted for multiple comparisons with a Bonferroni correction (Bonferroni, 1936), by adjusting the test for significant effects relative to the number of estimated models. Since we estimated paths a, b, and c, we divided our p-value of 0.05 by three (adjusted cut-off p-value = 0.017) when estimating the effects of coping on sleep and the indirect, mediated effects of locus of control in the coping-sleep relationship.

In the alternative model suggested by a reviewer, we investigated the effects of state locus of control on subjective sleep quality, which were both measured with the ESM. The values of the state locus control variable were person-mean centred. The model included also age and gender. As in the theoretical model, we accounted for the three levels of the data, and fit the model using the "lmerTest package (Kuznetsova et al., 2017) in RStudio version 3.6.2 (RStudio Team, 2015).

## 2.5.2. Path ab: The mediating role of state locus of control in the coping-sleep relationship (theoretical model) and the mediating role of coping in the control-sleep relationship

Within our theoretical model, we aimed to investigate the possible mediation of state locus of control in the coping sleep-relationship (**Fig. 1**). While coping was measured at baseline, state locus of control was measured at t, and quality of sleep was measured at t+1; therefore, state locus of control was lagged within individuals. As coping is a level 2 variable, we conducted a 2-1-1 mediation analysis. We used the analysis of the indirect effect, a more contemporary approach than the common four-step procedure (Baron & Kenny, 1986; James & Brett, 1984; Judd & Kenny, 1981). One test for the indirect effects, is to build confidence intervals (CIs) for mediated effects (MacKinnon, Fritz, Williams, & Lockwood, 2007). The mediated effect is the product of two regression coefficients, of path a and path b. The distribution-of-the-product method has the best statistical performance of existing methods for building CIs for the mediated effects (Tofighi & MacKinnon, 2011).

One single mediation model was tested for all coping styles together. Both path a and path b were assessed by separate linear mixed models (LMM) using the R package "ImerTest" (Kuznetsova et al., 2017). A random slope for daily locus of control, nested within individuals, was added. State locus of control was within-person centred. Gender and age were added as covariates. Significance was approximated by Wald based 95% confidence intervals around fixed effects. Random slopes were not assessed. Standardized indirect effects were estimated using R package "Rmediation" (Tofighi & MacKinnon, 2011). Confidence intervals (CI) were estimated by the product of confidence limits for indirect effects procedure (PRODCLIN; MacKinnon et al., 2007). We did not test for direct effects, or pathway c', within our mediation analysis, as traditional mediation analysis is not recommended in multilevel models (Bauer, Preacher, & Gil, 2006).

We accounted for multiple testing in the mediation analysis by increasing the 95% CI to 99.65%, which is equivalent to an adjusted p-value of 0.017 (3 models were tested), because the R package RMediation only provides confidence intervals but not p-values (Tofighi & MacKinnon, 2011). To account for developmental differences within our youth sample (15-25 years old), we conducted a sensitivity analysis for younger (15-20 years old) and older (21-25 years old) youth (see Supplement). In the alternative model, we aimed to explore the mediating role of coping in the state locus of control – sleep quality relationship. We used the same approach as for the theoretical model described above, the distribution-of-the-product-method

(Tofighi & MacKinnon, 2011), however with different paths a and b. In both paths, control and coping were person-mean centered.

#### 2.5.3 Descriptive statistics

Pearson's correlations were calculated in Stata version 15 (StataCorp, 2017), means and standard deviations in RStudio version 3.6.3 (RStudio Team, 2015).



**Fig. 1**: Conceptual model of the proposed bi-directional relationships between coping style, state locus of control, and quality of sleep. In our theoretical model, coping was measured at baseline, state locus of control during the ESM period each evening (at t), and quality of sleep during the ESM period each morning on the following day (t+1). A 2-1-1 mediation analysis was conducted. In our alternative model, the effects of state locus of control in the evening (at t) on trait coping and sleep quality the next day (at t+1) were assessed. A 1-2-1 mediation analysis was estimated.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1 Sample

The mean age of the final sample (N=386) was 17.40 years old (SD = 2.46) and 38.26% were male. The average number of ESM days was 5.21 (.69), overall non-compliance was 14%. In the younger subsample (n=343; 15-20 years old), the mean age was 16.70 (SD = 1.47) and 39.88% were male. In the older subsample (n= 43; 21-25 years old), the mean age was 23.10 (SD = 1.24) and 27.91% were male. Our sample (N=386) including participants with at least 3 pairs of rated locus of control items in the evening and sleep quality items the following morning did not differ significantly from the sample with less than 3 pairs of locus of control and sleep (N=332) in terms of sleep quality, coping style, and state locus control. We provide an overview of the means, standard deviations, and zero-order correlations among study variables are reported in **Table 1**.

Measure		Mean	SD				Correlation	n		
				1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Coping styles										
	1. Active	2.47	.47							
	2. Comforting thoughts	2.47	.51	.47***						
	3. Social support	2.41	.63	.19***	.18***					
	4. Emotion-focused	2.27	.42	.09***	<.01	.26****				
	5. Passive reaction	1.71	.51	10***	05*	05*	.19***			
	6. Palliative reaction	2.27	.42	.18***	.32***	.22***	.27***	.19***		
	7. Avoidant	2.05	.42	.03	.21***	09***	01	.33***	.35***	
Daily locus of control		3.26	1.83	02	.06*	01	05	01	.08***	.05
Sleep quality		5.19	1.83	.01***	.05*	04*	11***	19***	.03	01
	Number of ESM days	5.21	.69							
Control Variables	Age	17.40	2.46	.18***	.13***	.23**	01	03	.02	03
	Gender (% female)	61.74		17***	.08***	27***	03	.15***	.04	01

**Table 1** *Descriptive statistics: Means, standard deviations, and correlations of all included variables (N=379)* 

Note:  $SD = standard \ deviation$ ,  $ESM = Experience \ Sampling \ Method$ , \* = p-value < 0.05, \*\* = p-value < 0.01, \*\*\* = p-value < 0.001

#### 3.2 Theoretical model: Associations between coping styles and quality of sleep

There were significant negative associations between emotion-focused coping, 'passivereaction' coping, and sleep quality. Associations between active coping, comforting thoughts coping, social support coping, palliative reaction coping, and avoidant coping were nonsignificant. Older age was significantly related to lower sleep quality, while gender was unrelated to sleep quality. Within this model, and also the following ones, we estimated the models in the full sample (N=386), yet the output of the models showed only results for N=379, due to missingness within our data.

When we estimated the exploratory effects of overall engagement (i.e.; active, social support, and comforting thoughts coping) and disengagement coping (i.e.; passive reaction, palliative reaction, and avoidant coping) within one model, including the control variable age and gender, there was an overall significant negative association of disengagement coping with sleep quality, while there were no overall effects of engagement coping. The control variable age and gender were significant.

In our sensitivity analysis, we found that - compared to the findings in the overall sample - active coping was also associated with better sleep quality in the younger youth subsample, whereas disengagement coping was not. In the older youth subsample, more social support coping and engagement coping also related to better sleep quality, while emotion-focused coping and disengagement coping were no longer significantly related to sleep quality. See **Table 2** for full results and the **Supplement** for the sensitivity analysis.

Independent variable	Dependent	Path c	β (SE)	95% CI	р			
	variable							
Theoretical model: Total effects of coping – sleep (path c)								
Coping	Quality of sleep							
Active			.26 (.12)	.0250	.03			
Comforting thoughts			08 (.11)	3015	.50			
Social support			01 (.09)	1916	.87			
Emotion-focused			22 (.09)	4004	.01*			
Passive reaction			50 (.11)	7129	<.001*			
Palliative reaction			.24 (.13)	0250	.07			
Avoidant			.05 (.13)	2031	.68			
Age			05 (.02)	0901	.02			
Gender			15 (.11)	3607	.18			
Grouped coping style effects								
Engagement			.08 (.05)	00617	.07			
Disengagement			13 (.05)	2303	.009			
Age			05 (.02)	09006	.03			
Gender			27 (.10)	4807	.02			
Alternative model: Total effects of state locus control – sleep (path c)								
Locus of control	Quality of sleep		005 (.02)	0901	.01			
Age			04 (.02)	08	.05			
				.0005				
Gender			27 (.11)	4706	.01			

**Table 2** Direct effects of coping – sleep (theoretical model) and control – sleep (alternativemodel) in N=379 using linear mixed effects models

Note:  $\beta$  = regression coefficient, SE = standard error, CI= confidence interval, in bold = p < 0.05; \* = remains statistically significant after Bonferroni correction applied (adjusted cut-off p = 0.017)

# 3.3 Theoretical model: Mediated (indirect) effects of coping on quality of sleep via state locus of control

## 3.3.1 Effects of coping style on state locus of control (Pathway a)

The results of the analysis of the relationship between coping and state locus of control can be found in **Table 3**. There were significant positive associations 'palliative reaction' and state locus of control after adjusting for the Bonferroni correction. There no significant associations between active coping, comforting thoughts coping, social support coping, emotion-focused coping, passive coping, avoidant coping, and state locus of control. Age and gender were not associated with state locus of control.

## 3.3.2 Effect of state locus of control on quality of sleep (Pathway b)

Full results for this analysis are given in **Table 3**. State locus of control was not significantly related with quality of sleep anymore after adjusting for multiple testing.

## 3.3.3 Indirect effects of coping on quality of sleep (Pathway ab)

There were no significant mediated effects of state locus of control between any coping style and quality of sleep. Likewise, within our sensitivity analysis, did not find any indirect effects of daily locus of control in the younger (15-20 years-old) and older (21-25 years-old) subsample. See **Table 5** for full results and the Supplement for the sensitivity analysis.

Theoretical model: Coping – locus of control - sleep							
Independent variable	Dependent	Path	Estimates				
	variable						
Coping	State locus of	path a	β (SE)	95% CI	р		
	control						
Active			18 (.15)	47 – .11	.22		
Comforting thoughts			.21 (.14)	0648	.13		
Social support			05 (.11)	26 – .16	.61		
Emotion-focused			15 (.11)	36 – .06	.16		
Passive reaction			10 (.13)	35 – .15	.44		
Palliative reaction			.40 (.16)	.08 – .07	.01*		
Avoidant			.06 (.16)	25 – .37	.44		
Age			02 (.03)	07 – .03	.39		
Gender			.12 (.11)	14 – .38	.36		
State locus of control	Quality of	path b	02 (.13)	09 –006	.04		
	sleep						

**Table 3** Estimates and confidence intervals for estimated pathways a and b using mixedeffects linear models in the overall sample (N=379) for the theoretical model

*Note:*  $\beta$  = regression coefficient, SE = standard error, CI= confidence interval, in bold = p < 0.05, \* = remained statistically significant after adjusted Bonferroni correction (p = 0.017)

Alternative model: Locus of control – coping - sleep							
Independent	Dependent variable	Path		Estimates			
variable							
State locus of	Coping	path a	$\beta$ (SE)	95% CI	р		
control							
	Active		004 (.02)	0605	.83		
	Comforting thoughts		.05 (.02)	0110	.03		
	Social support		01 (.03)	0806	.60		
	Emotion-focused		03 (.03)	1004	.27		
	Passive reaction		01 (.02)	0705	.56		
	Palliative reaction		.05 (.02)	.00101	.008		
	Avoidant		.03 (.02)	00403	.12		
	Age		-	-			
	Gender		-	-			
Coping	Quality of sleep	path b	β (SE)	95% CI	р		
Active			.31 (.13)		.01		
Comforting			09 (.12)		.45		
thoughts							
Social support			05 (.09)		.55		
Emotion-focused			18 (.09)		.03		
Passive reaction			50 (.09)		<.01		
Palliative reaction			.24 (.14)		.07		
Avoidant			.04 (.14)		.76		
Age			06 (.02)		.009		
Gender			09 (.11)		.41		

**Table 4** Estimates and confidence intervals for estimated pathways a and b using mixedeffects linear models in the overall sample (N=379) for the alternative model

*Note:*  $\beta$  = regression coefficient, SE = standard error, CI= confidence interval, in bold = p < 0.05, \* = remained statistically significant after adjusted Bonferroni correction (p = 0.017) **Table 5** Mediated (indirect) effects of locus of control in the coping – sleep relationship(theoretical model) and mediated (indirect) effects of coping in the control – sleeprelationship (alternative model) estimated for each coping style with 99%<sup>1</sup> bias – correctedCI using the distribution-of-the-product-method<sup>2</sup> (N= 379)

	Theoretical model		Alternative model		
	Coping - control - sleep		Control - coping - sleep		
	Path ab		Path ab		
Coping	β (SE)	99% CI	$\beta$ (SE)	99% CI	
Active	.009 (.009)	01 – .04	001 (.071)	0302	
Comforting thoughts	01 (.009)	0202	.001 (.004)	01 – .02	
Social support	.002 (.001)	0202	.002 (.003)	01 – .02	
Emotion-focused	.007 (.007)	00803	01 (.007)	03004	
Passive reaction	.005 (.007)	0203	.007 (.01)	03 – .04	
Palliative reaction	02 (.01)	06006	.01 (.009)	00705	
Avoidant	002 (.009)	03 – .02	.001 (.005)	06102	

Note:  $\beta$  = regression coefficient, SE = standard error, CI= confidence interval, in bold = p < 0.05; <sup>1</sup>The Bonferroni correction was applied by adjusting the CI to 99.15, which corresponds to an adjusted cut-off of 0.017 (0.05/3 models).<sup>2</sup>The distribution of the product of the coefficient CI was produced by RMediation. p-values are not reported for this method.

## *3.4. Testing an alternative model: The control – coping – sleep relationship*

Upon a reviewer's request, we also estimated the effects of an alternative model with reversed directionality of the control and coping variable, i.e. the control – coping – sleep relationship. In our analyses, we explored both the direct effects of control on sleep, and also the mediated effects of coping in the control-sleep relationship. We found that low locus of control was associated with lower sleep quality (path c) (**Table 2**). Trait coping did not mediate the control – sleep relationship (**Table 3** and **5**).

#### *3.5. Comparing model fit*

Following a reviewer's suggestion, we also compared the model fit between our theoretical model (coping – control – sleep), and an alternative model (control – coping – sleep). Our exploratory analyses based on the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) indicated that the alternative model had a better model fit when comparing the effects of control on sleep (AIC: 4604.25; BIC 4640.94) to the effects of coping on sleep (AIC: 5590.47; BIC: 5661.15) in the theoretical model.

## 4. Discussion

The current study is, to the best of our knowledge, the first investigation which explores the coping-sleep relationship in a youth sample over the age span of 15-25 years and the potential underlying psychological mechanisms in this relationship. Overall, our results show that disengagement, 'passive reaction', and emotion-focused coping measured at baseline were negatively associated with subjective quality of sleep, as measured in daily life in youth. However, we found no significant associations between other coping styles and sleep quality. Additionally, locus of control over the most negative event in daily life did not mediate any coping style - sleep relationship.

The results from our sensitivity analysis investigating the coping – sleep relationship by age group showed that active coping was also associated with better sleep quality in the younger youth subsample, whereas disengagement coping was not – in contrast to the overall sample. In the older youth subsample, we found that social support coping and engagement coping additionally related to better sleep quality, while emotion-focused coping and disengagement coping were not related to sleep quality anymore.

In line with our hypothesis, our findings indicate that those youth who habitually apply more disengagement and 'passive reaction' coping when experiencing stress, also experience worse sleep quality than youth who use this type of coping strategy less. Youth who feel unable to address their stressors may find that their sleep suffers, however, reduced sleep quality may also be impacting youth's ability to address problems. These findings are novel as no previous study has found a relationship of disengagement coping with *subjective* sleep quality in youth (Faber & Schlarb, 2016; Matthews et al., 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004), whereas a relationship with *objective* quality sleep (i.e. sleep fragmentation and sleep onset delay) was found before (Matthews et al., 2016). *Subjective* sleep quality in particular is associated with psychosocial stress and negative affect as opposed to objective sleep quality measures (Jackowska et al., 2011). Youth scoring high on poor sleep quality when using more passive reaction coping could therefore also experience distress and negative affect.

Our exploratory analyses revealed that emotion-focused coping was associated with poor quality sleep. These findings support previously reported poor sleep quality in youth applying more emotion-focused coping during stressful periods (Sadeh et al., 2004) and suggest that the associations are also present during in non-stressful periods. The associations between emotion-focused coping and sleep quality may be bi-directional. For example, empirical work has shown that people with insomnia apply more emotion-focused coping - potentially due to sleep-related decreases in emotional information processing, energy, and alertness - which has been shown to negatively affect emotions (Kahn et al., 2013), and may, consequently, increase emotion-focused coping (Morin et al., 2003).

As we have measured quality sleep repeatedly over 3-5 nights per week, our results highlight that disengagement coping, 'passive reaction', and emotion-focused coping relate to poor sleep quality during a prolonged period of time. Whilst an occasional night with poor sleep quality may be unpleasant, youth experiencing poor quality sleep during at least three days of the week when using more disengagement, 'passive reaction', and emotion-focused coping may be concerning, as having sleep problems for at least three days a week partially classifies for acute insomnia (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), which may reach a threshold for treatment. Further, if sleep problems persist for months, they may enhance symptoms of psychopathology over time (Kaneita et al., 2009). Therefore, we believe that there may be value in asking about coping when youth present with sleep problems, and clinicians should also be alert that youth reporting poor sleep quality may also experience impaired coping.

Clinically, these findings suggest that in order to improve sleep quality, efforts and attention should be directed at reducing youths' disengagement, 'passive reaction', and emotion-focused coping behaviour. As coping is a developmental process which youth expand their coping capacities and deployment, coping behaviours during adolescence partially lay the foundation for future adult coping practices (Jenzer et al., 2019; Wingo et al., 2015). Consequently, decreasing disengagement, 'passive reaction', and emotion-focused coping early on may offer an opportunity to positively impact youths' sleep quality, which could translate into better sleep later in life.

Our non-significant mediation analysis findings may suggest that the relationships between disengagement, 'passive reaction', emotion-focused coping, and sleep are not explained by locus of control in daily life, contrary to our hypothesis. Alternatively, underlying mechanisms other than locus of control may explain the coping - sleep relationship. These may include presleep arousal for example, which has shown to mediate the stress-sleep relationship in youth (Maskevich et al., 2020). Pre-sleep arousal, including physiological arousal (i.e. elevated heart rate, cortisol, and sympathetic nervous system) (Andreassi, 2010), has been widely linked with sleep disturbances, yet researchers have not fully understood the pathways between arousal and sleep yet (Kahn et al., 2013). Early work has suggested that heightened cognitive (Kales et al., 1976) and emotional (Perlis et al., 1997) arousal may lead to physiological arousal compromising sleep. Since individuals high in passive reaction coping tend to become highly cognitively involved with the stressor (Yeh et al., 2015), and individuals high in emotionfocused coping are prone to physiological arousal due to venting their emotions (Zantinge et al., 2017), these responses may be related also to heightened physiological pre-sleep arousal, leading to sleep problems. Next to these approaches, also a genetic vulnerability for physiological and emotional hyperarousal has been suggested, which may lead to sleep disturbances (Kahn et al., 2013; Riemann et al., 2010).

Contrary to our hypothesis, our overall grouped results of engagement coping and sleep quality were non-significant. While the absence of evidence does not imply evidence of absence, these findings may mean that that youth generally applying more engagement coping when facing stressful events do not experience better sleep quality. Interestingly, these findings are in contrast to previous research finding positive (van Schalkwijk et al., 2015) associations, but are consistent with two other studies demonstrating non-significant effects of coping on subjective sleep quality (Matthews et al., 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004). Potentially, the effects of coping on
sleep are mixed, because problem-focused coping can sometimes be in conflict with getting good quality sleep due to a higher mental workload (Jansen et al., 2020). Also, as suggested by Dijkstra and Homan (2016), social support may only occasionally result in receiving successful social support, since it is dependent on others. Given that our results do not support a relationship between engagement coping and sleep quality in youth, it may be more relevant to focus on reducing disengagement, 'passive reaction', and emotion-focused coping instead of on increasing the use of engagement coping to improve youths' quality of sleep.

In our sensitivity analyses, we found that particularly in older youth, different associations between coping and sleep occurred: The significant associations between social support coping and engagement coping, and non-significant associations between emotion-focused coping and disengagement coping suggest a simultaneous shift from less to more effective coping strategies with increasing age. As suggested by Zimmer-Gembeck and Skinner (2011), coping deployment and capacities develop from using more engagement coping styles with increasing age, whereas disengagement coping styles remain stable. This is in line with our findings, as 'passive reaction' coping remained significantly associated with poor sleep quality. However, the older youth subsample was small (n=43), suggesting that these initial findings need replication.

Notably, comparing our results to other studies is particularly challenging, since the methodology from the small amount of previous research varies considerably in several aspects, which limits our ability to conclude whether particular elements of the methodology may have driven the differences in results. As such, the methods employed in previous research differ from those used in our study in terms of *context* (high stress vs. low stress) (Sadeh et al., 2004), *measurement frequency* (single vs. multiple timepoints) (Faber & Schlarb, 2016; van Schalkwijk et al., 2015) and *operationalization*, such as the way in which coping items were grouped into coping strategies (Faber & Schlarb, 2016; Matthews et al., 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004; van Schalkwijk et al., 2015). As a result, the high methodological variation across previous studies limits the comparability and overall interpretation of the existing coping and sleep literature.

Finally, the results from the alternative model suggested by reviewers show that lower control relates to poor-quality sleep in youth, which is in line with previous literature in adolescents (Alfano et al., 2009; DeAngelis et al., 2019). These effects were not mediated by any trait

coping strategy. As suggested earlier, alternative explanations for the relationship may include hyperarousal. Our results may suggest that adolescents having an external locus of control over the most negative events in daily life sleep poorly as compared to adolescents having an internal locus of control over the most negative event in daily life – and may imply that decreasing external locus of control in daily life could improve sleep quality in youth.

#### 4.1. Strengths, limitations, and future directions

Our study has a number of strengths. First, to the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to investigate how coping in youth relates to quality of sleep and locus of control at a daily level, by using ESM. This methodological approach allows behaviours and experiences to be captured as they occur outside of the laboratory, instead of measuring individuals' selfreflection upon their usual behaviour (Myin-Germeys et al., 2018). Additionally, this method overcomes some of the problems of recall bias and allows us to investigate day-to-day variability and associations (Myin-Germeys et al., 2018), which increases the overall validity of the measured variables as compared to single timepoint measures. Second, our study also benefited from a relatively large sample size (n=379), which is not typical of many youth ESM studies. Moreover, our study included both younger and older youth, allowing us to investigate the coping-sleep relationship over a wider age range, whereas previous studies have looked at either younger (Matthews et al., 2016; van Schalkwijk et al., 2015) or older youth (Faber & Schlarb, 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004). Last, but not least, the results of our study may have clinical and practical implications. There may be value in exploring coping strategies when youth present with decreased sleep quality, and in asking about impaired coping, when youth report sleeping poorly.

Yet, there are also some limitations to be considered. First, the study is cross-sectional with respect to measuring the association between trait coping and daily measures of sleep. Therefore, further work would benefit from assessing both coping and sleep prospectively and preferably using intensive longitudinal methods, e.g. ESM. Second, coping style was measured once at baseline as a trait, while coping strategies may vary depending on the daily-life context and controllability of the stressor (Troy et al., 2013). For example, evidence in adults using Experience Sampling data suggests that state and trait variables of coping predict subsequent negative affect differently, such that at the *state* level, emotional coping predicted negative affect, whereas at the *trait* coping level, only avoidance coping predicted negative affect

(Roesch et al., 2010). Potentially, state coping also relates sleep differently than trait coping, yet no previous study has investigated this yet.

Third, we did not consider the potential influence of psychopathology symptoms, which may be associated with both coping style (Compas et al., 2017) and sleep quality (Gest et al., 2019). Fourth, whilst a single item question on sleep quality is generally accepted to assess sleep quality (Krystal & Edinger, 2008) and common to use in ESM studies, given the need to minimise participant burden, it remains vague. A single item does not provide a nuanced picture regarding which specific facet of sleep quality is compromised, and there may be individual differences in the specific aspect of sleep quality that drives the quality evaluation (e.g. awakenings, sleep onset latency). Additionally, the combined use of subjective and objective measures as provided in some previous studies (Matthews et al., 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004) may be informative. Future studies should attempt to combine ESM measures with further objective instruments to increase interpretability of results and comparability with other studies.

Fifth, our criterion to include only participants with at least three pairs of evening and morning data on 'locus of control' led to the inclusion of 386 participants out of 750 participants. However, we found that those who completed less than three pairs of evening and morning data did not differ from those had at least three pairs of beeps regarding coping style, sleep, or psychopathology symptoms.

Besides addressing our current study limitations, future studies may investigate how youth may reduce disengagement, 'passive reaction', and emotion-focused coping as these coping styles may sustain feelings of distress and poor sleep quality. Since the underlying mechanisms remain poorly understood, alternative pathways between coping and sleep (e.g. pre-sleep arousal) could be explored, as they will improve our understanding of how coping styles may affect quality of sleep in youth.

# References

- Alfano, C. A., Zakem, A. H., Costa, N. M., Taylor, L. K., & Weems, C. F. (2009). Sleep problems and their relation to cognitive factors, anxiety, and depressive symptoms in children and adolescents. *Depression and Anxiety*, 26(6), 503–512. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20443
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5). Fifth edition* (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Association Publishing.
- Andreassi, J. L. (2010). *Psychophysiology. Human Behavior and Physiological Responses* (5th ed.). Psychology Press.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Prentice-Hall.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The Moderator-Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological Research. Conceptual, Strategic, and Statistical Considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173–1182. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173
- Bauer, D. J., Preacher, K. J., & Gil, K. M. (2006). Conceptualizing and testing random indirect effects and moderated mediation in multilevel models: New procedures and recommendations. *Psychological Methods*, 11(2), 142–163. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.11.2.142
- Boals, A., VanDellen, M. R., & Banks, J. B. (2011). The relationship between self-control and health: The mediating effect of avoidant coping. *Psychology and Health*, 26(8), 1049– 1062. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2010.529139
- Bonferroni, C. (1936). Teoria statistica delle classi e calcolo delle probabilita. *Pubblicazioni Del R Istituto Superiore Di Scienze Economiche e Commerciali Di Firenze*, 8, 3–62.
- Borecka-Biernat, D. (2020). Coping strategies in adolescents in situations of social conflict and the locus of control. *Polskie Forum Psychologiczne*, 25(2), 157–169. https://doi.org/10.14656/PFP20200201
- Carver, C. S., & Connor-Smith, J. (2010). Personality and Coping. Annual Review of *Psychology*, 61(1), 679–704. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100352
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1994). Situational Coping and Coping Dispositions in a Stressful Transaction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 66(1), 184–195. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.66.1.184
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Bettis, A. H., Watson, K. H., Gruhn, M. A., Dunbar, J. P., Williams, E., & Thigpen, J. C. (2017). Coping, emotion regulation, and psychopathology in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis and narrative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(9), 939–991. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000110

- Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Larson, R. (1987). Validity and reliability of the Experience Sampling Method. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, *175*(9), 526–536.
- DeAngelis, R. T., Escobar, I., Ruiz, A. L., & Acevedo, G. A. (2019). Sleep quality among college students: exploring the role of a divine locus of sleep control. *Sleep Health*, 5(6), 592–597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2019.08.004
- Derom, C., Thiery, E., Rutten, B. P. F., Peeters, H., Gielen, M., Bijnens, E., Vlietinck, R., & Weyers, S. (2019). The East Flanders Prospective Twin Survey (EFPTS): 55 Years Later. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, 22(6), 454–459. https://doi.org/10.1017/thg.2019.64
- Dijkstra, M. T. M., & Homan, A. C. (2016). Engaging in rather than disengaging from stress: Effective coping and perceived control. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1415. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01415
- Doron, J., Stephan, Y., Boiché, J., & le Scanff, C. (2009). Coping with examinations: Exploring relationships between students' coping strategies, implicit theories of ability, and perceived control. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 79(3), 515–528. https://doi.org/10.1348/978185409X402580
- Faber, J., & Schlarb, A. A. (2016). The Relation of Sleep, Distress, and Coping Strategies—
  What Male and Female Students Can Learn from Each Other? *Health*, 08(13), 1356–1367. https://doi.org/10.4236/health.2016.813136
- Gest, S., Frank, M., Holtmann, M., Schölmerich, A., & Legenbauer, T. (2019). The Relationship between Sleep Problems, Insufficient Sleep Duration, and Psychiatric Abnormalities in Children and Adolescents. *Kindheit Und Entwicklung*, 28(4), 252–262. https://doi.org/10.1026/0942-5403/a000276
- Hektner, J., Schmidt, J., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2007). *Experience sampling method: measuring the quality of everyday life*. Sage. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412984201
- Jackowska, M., Dockray, S., Hendrickx, H., & Steptoe, A. (2011). Psychosocial factors and sleep efficiency: Discrepancies between subjective and objective evaluations of sleep. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 73(9), 810–816. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182359e77
- James, L. R., & Brett, J. M. (1984). Mediators, Moderators, and Tests for Mediation. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 69(2), 307–321.
- Jansen, E. C., Peterson, K. E., O'Brien, L., Hershner, S., & Boolani, A. (2020). Associations between Mental Workload and Sleep Quality in a Sample of Young Adults Recruited from a US College Town. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 18(4), 513–522. https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2019.1626728
- Jenzer, T., Read, J. P., Naragon-Gainey, K., & Prince, M. A. (2019). Coping trajectories in

- emerging adulthood: The influence of temperament and gender. *Journal of Personality*, 87(3), 607–619. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12419
- Judd, C. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1981). Process analysis: Estimating Mediation in Treatment Evaluations. *Evaluation Review*, 5(5), 602–619. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193841X8100500502
- Kahn, M., Sheppes, G., & Sadeh, A. (2013). Sleep and emotions: Bidirectional links and underlying mechanisms. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 89(2), 218–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2013.05.010
- Kales, A., Caldwell, A. B., Preston, T. A., Healey, S., & Kales, J. D. (1976). Personality patterns in insomnia. Theoretical implications. *Archives of Generaly Psychiatry*, 33, 1128–1134.
- Kalmbach, D. A., Anderson, J. R., & Drake, C. L. (2018). The impact of stress on sleep: Pathogenic sleep reactivity as a vulnerability to insomnia and circadian disorders. *Journal* of Sleep Research, 27(6), e12710. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12710
- Kaneita, Y., Yokoyama, E., Harano, S., Tamaki, T., Suzuki, H., Munezawa, T., Nakajima, H., Asai, T., & Ohida, T. (2009). Associations between sleep disturbance and mental health status: A longitudinal study of Japanese junior high school students. *Sleep Medicine*, 10(7), 780–786. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2008.06.014
- Keeton, C. P., Perry-Jenkins, M., & Sayer, A. G. (2008). Sense of Control Predicts Depressive And Anxious Symptoms Across the Transition to Parenthood. *J Fam Psychol*, 22(2), 212– 221. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.22.2.212.Sense
- Kenny, D. A., Korchmaros, J. D., & Bolger, N. (2003). Lower Level Mediation in Multilevel Models. *Psychological Methods*, 8(2), 115–128. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.8.2.115
- Kiekens, G., Bruffaerts, R., Nock, M. K., Van de Ven, M., Witteman, C., Mortier, P., Demyttenaere, K., & Claes, L. (2015). Non-suicidal self-injury among Dutch and Belgian adolescents: Personality, stress and coping. *European Psychiatry*, 30(6), 743–749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.06.007
- Kline, C. (2013). Sleep Quality. In M. D. Gellman & J. R. Turner (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine* (p. 117). Springer. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9\_849
- Krull, J. L., & MacKinnon, D. P. (1999). Multilevel mediation modeling in group-based intervention studies. *Evaluation Review*, 23(4), 418–444. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193841X9902300404
- Krystal, A. D., & Edinger, J. D. (2008). Measuring sleep quality. *Sleep Medicine*, *9*, S10–S17. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1389-9457(08)70011-X
- Kurtović, A., Vuković, I., & Gajić, M. (2018). The Effect of Locus of Control on University

- Students' Mental Health: Possible Mediation through Self-Esteem and Coping. Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied, 152(6), 341–357. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2018.1463962
- Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P. B., & Christensen, R. H. B. (2017). ImerTest Packge: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 82(13), 1–26. https://doi.org/doi: 10.18637/jss.v082.i13
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, coping. Springer.
- Li, Y., Bai, W., Zhu, B., Duan, R., Yu, X., Xu, W., Wang, M., Hua, W., Yu, W., Li, W., & Kou, C. (2020). Prevalence and correlates of poor sleep quality among college students: A crosssectional survey. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 18(1), 2010. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-020-01465-2
- Liu, Q., Wu, J., Zhang, L., Sun, X., Guan, Q., & Yao, Z. (2021). The Relationship Between Perceived Control and Hypothalamic–Pituitary–Adrenal Axis Reactivity to the Trier Social Stress Test in Healthy Young Adults. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 683914. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.683914
- MacKinnon, D. P., Fritz, M. S., Williams, J., & Lockwood, C. M. (2007). Distribution of the product confidence limits for the indirect effect: Program PRODCLIN. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(3), 384–389. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193007
- MacKinnon, D. P., Lockwood, C. M., Hoffman, J. M., West, S. G., & Sheets, V. (2002). A comparison of methods to test mediation and other intervening variable effects. *Psychological Methods*, 7(1), 83–104. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.7.1.83
- Maskevich, S., Cassanet, A., Allen, N. B., Trinder, J., & Bei, B. (2020). Sleep and stress in adolescents: the roles of pre-sleep arousal and coping during school and vacation. *Sleep Medicine*, 66, 130–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2019.10.006
- Matthews, K. A., Hall, M. H., Cousins, J., & Lee, L. (2016). Getting a Good Night's Sleep in Adolescence: Do Strategies for Coping With Stress Matter? *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 14(4), 367–377. https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2015.1007994
- Mehl, M., & Conner, T. (2012). *Handbook of research methods for studying daily life*. Guilford Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199828340-0243
- Morin, C. M., Rodrigue, S., & Ivers, H. (2003). Role of stress, arousal, and coping skills in primary insomnia. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 65(2), 259–267. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.PSY.0000030391.09558.A3
- Myin-Germeys, I., Kasanova, Z., Vaessen, T., Vachon, H., Kirtley, O., Viechtbauer, W., & Reininghaus, U. (2018). Experience sampling methodology in mental health research: new insights and technical developments. *World Psychiatry*, 17(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20513

- Ohayon, M., Wickwire, E. M., Hirshkowitz, M., Albert, S. M., Avidan, A., Daly, F. J., Dauvilliers, Y., Ferri, R., Fung, C., Gozal, D., Hazen, N., Krystal, A., Lichstein, K., Mallampalli, M., Plazzi, G., Rawding, R., Scheer, F. A., Somers, V., & Vitiello, M. V. (2017). National Sleep Foundation's sleep quality recommendations: first report. *Sleep Health*, 3(1), 6–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2016.11.006
- Park, H., Chiang, J. J., Irwin, M. R., Bower, J. E., McCreath, H., & Fuligni, A. J. (2019). Developmental trends in sleep during adolescents' transition to young adulthood. *Sleep Medicine*, 60, 202–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2019.04.007
- Perlis, M. L., Giles, D. E., Mendelson, W. B., Bootzin, R. R., & Wyatt, J. K. (1997). Psychophysiological insomnia: the behavioural model and a neurocognitive perspective. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 6(3), 179–188.
- Pries, L. K., Snijders, C., Menne-Lothmann, C., Decoster, J., Van Winkel, R., Collip, D., Delespaul, P., De Hert, M., Derom, C., Thiery, E., Jacobs, N., Wichers, M., Guloksuz, S., Van Os, J., & Rutten, B. P. F. (2019). TwinssCan - Gene-Environment Interaction in Psychotic and Depressive Intermediate Phenotypes: Risk and Protective Factors in a General Population Twin Sample. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, 22(6), 460–466. https://doi.org/10.1017/thg.2019.96
- Riemann, D., Krone, L. B., Wulff, K., & Nissen, C. (2020). Sleep, insomnia, and depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 45(1), 74–89. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-019-0411-y
- Riemann, D., Spiegelhalder, K., Feige, B., Voderholzer, U., Berger, M., Perlis, M., & Nissen, C. (2010). The hyperarousal model of insomnia: A review of the concept and its evidence. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 14(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2009.04.002
- Roesch, S. C., Aldridge, A. A., Stocking, S. N., Villodas, F., Leung, Q., Bartley, C. E., & Black, L. J. (2010). Multilevel factor analysis and structural equation modeling of daily diary coping data: Modeling trait and state variation. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 45(5), 767–789. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273171.2010.519276
- Rotter, J. B. (1954). *Social Learning and Clinical Psychology*. Prentice-Hall. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/10788-000
- RStudio Team. (2015). RStudio: Integrated Development for R. In *RStudio, Inc.* RStudio, Inc. http://www.rstudio.com/
- Ryon, H. S., & Gleason, M. E. J. (2014). The Role of Locus of Control in Daily Life. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 40(1), 121–131. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167213507087
- Sadeh, A., Keinan, G., & Daon, K. (2004). Effects of stress on sleep: The moderating role of coping style. *Health Psychology*, 23(5), 542–545. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.23.5.542

- Sanderman, R., & Ormel, J. (1992). De Utrechtse Coping Lijst (UCL): validiteit en betrouwbaarheid [The Utrecht Coping List (UCL): validity and reliability]. *Tijdschrift Voor Psychiatrieschrift Voor Psychologie En Gezondheid*, 20(1), 32–37. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Santiago, C. D. C., Brewer, S. K., Fuller, A. K., Torres, S. A., Papadakis, J. L., & Ros, A. M. (2017). Stress, Coping, and Mood Among Latino Adolescents: A Daily Diary Study. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 27(3), 566–580. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12294
- Schaufeli, W. B., & Van Dierendonck, D. (1992). De betrouwbaarheid en validiteit van de Utrechtse Coping Lijst: Een longitudinaal onderzoek bij schoolverlaters [The reliability and validity of the Utrecht Coping Inventory: A Longitudinal study among schoolleavers]. *Gedrag & Gezondheid*, 20, 38–45. https://www.wilmarschaufeli.nl/publications/Schaufeli/029.pdf
- Schreurs, P., Tellegen, B., & Willige, G. (1984). Gezondheid, stress en coping: de ontwikkeling van de Utrechtse coping-lijst [Health, stress and coping: the development of the Utrechtse Coping Scale]. *Gedrag: Tijdschrift Voor Psychologie*, 12(1–2), 101–117.
- Short, M. A., Gradisar, M., Lack, L. C., & Wright, H. R. (2013). The impact of sleep on adolescent depressed mood, alertness and academic performance. *Journal of Adolescence*, 36(6), 1025–1033. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2013.08.007
- Simmonds, D. J., Hallquist, M. N., Asato, M., & Luna, B. (2014). Developmental stages and sex differences of white matter and behavioral development through adolescence: A longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) study. *NeuroImage*, 92, 356–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.12.044
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the Structure of Coping: A Review and Critique of Category Systems for Classifying Ways of Coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129(2), 216–269. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.2.216
- Skinner, E. A., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J. (2011). Perceived Control and the Development of Coping. In S. Folkman (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Stress, Health, and Coping.* (pp. 35–62). Oxford University Press.
- Stanisławski, K. (2019). The coping circumplex model: An integrative model of the structure of coping with stress. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*, 694. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00694
- StataCorp. (2017). Stata Statistical Software: Release 2015. StataCorp LLC.
- Tofighi, D., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2011). RMediation: An R package for mediation analysis confidence intervals. *Behavior Research Methods*, 43(3), 692–700. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-011-0076-x
- Troy, A. S., Shallcross, A. J., & Mauss, I. B. (2013). A Person-by-Situation Approach to

- Emotion Regulation: Cognitive Reappraisal Can Either Help or Hurt, Depending on the<br/>Context.Psychological<br/>Science,Science,24(12),2505–2514.https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613496434
- van Schalkwijk, F. J., Blessinga, A. N., Willemen, A. M., Van Der Werf, Y. D., & Schuengel, C. (2015). Social support moderates the effects of stress on sleep in adolescents. *Journal* of Sleep Research, 24(4), 407–413. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12298
- Wingo, A. P., Baldessarini, R. J., & Windle, M. (2015). Coping styles: Longitudinal development from ages 17 to 33 and associations with psychiatric disorders. *Psychiatry Research*, 225(3), 299–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2014.12.021
- www.twins.be. (2020). www.twins.be
- Yeh, Z. T., Wung, S. K., & Lin, C. M. (2015). Pre-sleep arousal as a mediator of relationships among worry, rumination, and sleep quality. *International Journal of Cognitive Therapy*, 8(1), 21–34. https://doi.org/10.1521/ijct.2015.8.1.21
- Zantinge, G., van Rijn, S., Stockmann, L., & Swaab, H. (2017). Physiological Arousal and Emotion Regulation Strategies in Young Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 47(9), 2648–2657. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3181-6
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025410384923

# Chapter 6 - General discussion

The main three goals of this PhD project were:

- (1) To investigate if a cross-sectional relationship exists between objectively measured light, moderate-vigorous physical activity, and general psychopathology symptoms; and what kind of model (e.g. linear or non-linear) would best represent the nature of the objectively measured physical activity-general psychopathology relationship.
- (2) To explore if there is a cross-sectional non-linear association between Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep duration, sleep quality, and symptoms of psychopathology, and whether not complying with sleep duration recommendations is associated with more symptoms of psychopathology.
- (3) To disentangle whether trait coping styles relate cross-sectionally to sleep quality in youth, and if this potential relationship is mediated by locus of control (i.e. one's attribution of control over events to own behaviour or external circumstances).

In the first part of the discussion, I will summarise the main findings. Next, in part two, I consider the findings within the behavioural epidemiological framework, discuss the meaning of the findings, and suggest future directions for research. In part three, the general limitations of this PhD research project will be discussed. Lastly, in part four, I draw some final conclusions.

# 1. Key findings

(1) The first aim of this PhD project was to examine if the significant associations between *subjectively* measured physical activity and psychopathology reported in previous studies could be replicated using objective measures. Our findings in chapter 3, regarding the physical activity-psychopathology relationship, showed that the selected linear model did not indicate a significant association between objectively measured light physical activity, moderate-vigorous physical activity, and symptoms of depression, anxiety, psychoticism, and general psychopathology.

(2) Similarly, the second aim was to investigate if the significant associations of subjectively measured sleep duration, sleep quality, and psychopathology symptoms found in the previous literature could be replicated when using objective measures. In chapter 4, we report results showing that we did not find evidence that objectively measured sleep duration and non-compliance with sleep guidelines were associated with symptoms of psychopathology. Counterintuitively, we found that Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep quality was positively associated with symptoms of depression, psychoticism, and general psychopathology symptoms. The non-significant findings in objective lifestyle data and psychopathology are in line with previous accelerometery data studies (Kandola et al., 2020; Slykerman et al., 2019; Toseeb et al., 2014; Wiles et al., 2012; Ranum et al., 2019; Koopman-Verhoeff et al., 2019), but in contrast with previous self-report data studies (Kaneita et al., 2007, 2009; Korczak et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2020; McMahon et al., 2017; Morishima et al., 2020; Ojio et al., 2016; Schuch et al., 2018, 2019).

(3) Lastly, we aimed to understand which factors relate to decreased quality sleep in adolescents. Our results in chapter 5 showed that 'passive reaction' and 'emotion-focused' coping styles were associated with decreased subjective sleep quality, whereas other coping styles were not. When we assessed the effects of grouped coping styles, we found that disengagement coping (i.e. avoidant coping, passive reaction coping, and palliative reaction coping) was associated with lower quality sleep. Further, locus of control did not mediate any coping – sleep quality relationship. These findings are in line with previous research suggesting that reducing disengagement coping may be more relevant to improving sleep quality than increasing engagement coping (Matthews et al., 2016).

#### 2. Reflections and advancing knowledge

In the introduction, we have situated this PhD project within the first three processes of the behavioural epidemiological framework (Sallis et al., 2000). These include (1) establishing a link between lifestyle and psychopathology; (2) developing methods to measure lifestyle; and (3) identifying factors that influence/ relate to lifestyle. The behavioural epidemiological framework aims to outline the five necessary processes for investigating the relationship between health-related behaviours and health outcomes, so that these insights inform intervention and implementation in practice (Sallis et al., 2000). Theoretically, there is a sequential order between the processes, where process 1 is followed by process 2, for example. In research *practice*, however, non-linear pathways are also possible. For example, interventions for improving sleep quality, sleep duration, and physical activity levels may be developed, although there is a lack of evidence on the correlates of physical activity and sleep. Or, the development of new methods of measuring lifestyle may stimulate the investigation of health-related behaviours and health outcomes, despite established research on the topic. In the following sections, we place our findings within the behavioural epidemiological framework and suggest how future work could build on this research.

# 2.1. What do these non-significant findings between lifestyle and psychopathology symptoms in general populations adolescents mean?

In chapters 3 and 4, we estimated the associations between differing levels of physical activity and sleep levels, and symptoms of psychopathology – which were non-significant at the grouplevel. These findings can be situated within the first and second process of the behavioural epidemiological framework: (1) 'establishing a link between lifestyle and psychopathology' and (2) 'developing methods to measure lifestyle'. While the absence of evidence for an association does not imply that a relationship does not exist, it is possible that lifestyle may not be as relevant and impactful for *early* adolescent mental health and psychopathology development in the general population, as we have previously assumed based on subjective self-report data. In terms of the behavioural epidemiological framework, which aims to establish a relationship between lifestyle and psychopathology - as a risk factor for, inherent part, or consequence of psychopathology - our non-significant findings do not support any of these assumptions in general population adolescents. Based on the lack of support for a relationship, lifestyle may not be the promising target for early intervention and prevention that it appeared to be, based on subjective data. Our non-significant findings at the group-level may imply that other factors are more important to adolescent mental health. For example, small, negative effects of low physical activity levels and inadequate sleep duration on psychopathology may be buffered by social support, which has been consistently linked with mental health (Colman et al., 2014; Scardera et al., 2020). Vice versa, positive effects of lifestyle on mental health may be diminished due to risk factors such as bullying (Lereya et al., 2015; Sharpe et al., 2021) or traumatic experiences (McKay et al., 2021; ten Have et al., 2019).

Alternatively, our non-significant findings at the group-level may imply that an adolescent's affective response to physical activity, and vice versa, is *individual* instead (i.e., happens at the within-person-level). For example, effects of lifestyle on acute, momentary affect states may occur when an individual deviates from his or her typical physical activity level mean instead of deviating from the group-level mean. Vice versa, negative affect states may represent in some individuals a driving force to become active whereas there are an additional burden in others (Cushing et al., 2018; Koch et al., 2020). Since momentary negative affect states may be a preceding subthreshold symptom in developing psychopathology in adolescence (Hartmann et al., 2021; McGorry et al., 2018), studying the early associations between physical activity and momentary affect is relevant.

Further, *individual characteristics*, such as physical activity expectations (Herring et al., 2022), self-determination (Owen et al., 2014), social support, self-efficacy, and perceived control (Cushing et al., 2018), but also consider different *physical activity characteristics*, such as leisure-time physical activity (White et al., 2017), incidental physical activity, exercise, and (non-) competitive sports may be important, as these seem to be relevant in the momentary physical activity – affect relationship (Koch et al., 2020; Szabo et al., 2020).

Similarly, in sleep studies, our non-significant findings at the group-level may indicate that effects of lifestyle are *individual*, and may not be observable at the group-level within the general adolescent population, potentially due to individual differences in sleep sensitivity to stress (i.e. sleep reactivity) (Kalmbach et al., 2018). For example, within-person variability in objectively measured sleep duration was associated with more symptoms of anxiety in adolescents, whereas between-person analyses did not reveal an association between sleep duration and anxiety symptoms and depression (Bustamante et al., 2020). Future research in longitudinal study designs may build on these preliminary findings.

At a methodological level, our findings may, firstly, imply that higher sampled studies may be necessary to estimate the probably small associations between objectively measured lifestyle and psychopathology. Among the very limited number of other objective studies, small, but significant effects between total objective physical activity, and light physical activity have been found in high-sampled (i.e., N=> 3000) cross-sectional analyses (Kandola et al., 2020; Wiles et al., 2012). Secondly, the variability of person-level lifestyle data may have been too low to pick up an association. As elaborated in chapter 3, a potential threshold for light physical activity may be around ~320 min of light physical activity (Kandola et al., 2020), yet the majority (i.e. 75%) of the average values in our study were lower (~250 min/day). However, the relationship remained non-significant after conducting a post-hoc sensitivity analysis in participants with higher average light physical activity values (N= 332; mean 360.28, SD 25.98), potentially due to lacking power. Similarly, associations between sleep duration and psychopathology may have not occurred in our sample due to lack of sleep duration variability. Significant associations of sleep duration and mental health may occur when reaching a threshold of on average 5-7 hours per night (Matamura et al., 2014, Ojio et al, 2016, Liu et al., 2020, Morishima et al., 2020), which may be adjusted to 4-6 hours per night when compared to objective sleep data to due inclusions of awakenings in subjective data (Chaput et al., 2018). However, this lower threshold of 4-6 hours average sleep duration has not been reached in our (mean 7.84) and previous objective data studies (Ranum et al., 2019, Slykerman et al., 2019), so that the lack of participants with short sleep durations could potentially explain the nonsignificant associations. The associations in a post-hoc sensitivity analysis in adolescents (N=43) having slept  $\leq 6$  hours remained non-significant, yet the analysis may have been underpowered, which requires further exploration in future research.

Overall, our non-significant findings, coupled with those from previous studies of lifestyle in general population adolescents, may suggest that lifestyle instead plays a more prominent role after the onset of psychopathology.

# 2.2. Lifestyle and psychopathology - What causes what?

In chapter 3 and 4, our lifestyle and psychopathology data from Wave 1 of the SIGMA study is cross-sectional. Therefore, results based on these data contribute very little to answering the question of directionality in the relationship between lifestyle and psychopathology symptoms. In chapters 3 and 4, our statistical models included lifestyle as an independent variable and psychopathology symptoms as a dependent variable – however, due to the cross-sectional

nature of the data, this approach does not imply directional interpretation of the results. Statistically, it would have been possible to estimate models in which psychopathology symptoms were an independent variable and lifestyle was a dependent variable – but even if the results had differed, they would not have contributed to the directionality question. In order to gain more insights on the directionality of this relationship, we would need longitudinal data, i.e. from multiple different time points.

We applied this cross-sectional design in chapters 3 and 4 because it allowed us to investigate many relevant, yet unexplored, questions for the field: The nature of the relationship (i.e. linear or non-linear), the unique effects of light physical activity, sleep phase-based quality of sleep, and a broad spectrum of psychopathology symptoms within a general population sample in early adolescence. We had also aimed to explore the moderating role of sedentary behaviour in the physical activity - psychopathology relationship, yet we omitted this research question due to high amounts of missingness.

Since the Fitbit Charge 2 data is longitudinal data measured over seven consecutive data, and we have collected data on affect and mood states within the same measurement period, investigating the prospective within-person effects between sleep, physical activity and ESM would have been a possible and a very interesting option in this research topic, which we had considered in the provisional doctoral plan of the PhD thesis. However, we did not apply this design for several reasons. First, practically, the process of extracting and linking minute-level Fitbit Charge 2 and ESM data, was too time-intensive for this PhD project. Second, based on our pilot data, we assumed high amounts of missing data, which might have increased in combination with the (incomplete) ESM data.

Consequently, the group-level comparison as applied in our study likely allowed us to include a larger sample than a prospective, within-person analysis approach applying ESM data. Third, and finally, at the time-point we were opting for the cross-sectional design in chapters 3 and 4, we assumed that a longitudinal analysis of the data would be possible with SIGMA Wave 2 data. However, due to the start of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, data collection for the second wave was postponed.

#### 2.3 Do objective and subjective concepts of lifestyle differ?

Within the literature, we find similar, non-significant results for cross-sectional objective lifestyle data studies and psychopathology for physical activity (Kandola et al., 2020; Slykerman et al., 2020; Wiles et al., 2012), sleep duration (Ranum et al., 2019; Slykerman et al., 2020), and sleep quality (Koopman-Verhoeff et al., 2019). However, we see that these findings do not replicate earlier, subjective data research (Kaneita et al., 2007, 2009; Korczak et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2020; McMahon et al., 2017; Morishima et al., 2020; Ojio et al., 2016; Schuch et al., 2018, 2019), suggesting that more physical activity, adequate sleep duration, and good quality sleep relate to fewer symptoms of psychopathology. These consistently diverging findings between subjective and objective findings suggest that questionnaires and multi-sensor devices measure different concepts of physical activity and sleep.

Epidemiological studies assessing physical activity via self-report questionnaires have the advantage that they capture the domains of physical activity, such as leisure-time, transport, household, and work-related physical activity (Korczak et al., 2017; McMahon et al., 2017). Assessing domains of physical activity is relevant because preliminary evidence suggests that leisure-time physical activity is associated with fewer symptoms of psychopathology (White et al., 2017). In contrast, physical activity during transport, and physical education classes is not associated with fewer symptoms of psychopathology (White et al., 2017). Objective measures of physical activity, in contrast, do not differentiate between domains of physical activity, but include an unknown mixture of various physical activity domains, which may eventually 'blur' the associations of physical activity and psychopathology. Consequently, differences in associations between subjective and objective data and psychopathology may occur due to (not) accounting for physical activity domains.

On the downside, questionnaires are less likely to capture incidental physical activity than objective measures (Castillo-Retamal & Hinckson, 2011), which is why unstructured light physical activity occurring within daily life (e.g. short walks, household chores) in particular is underreported when compared to objectively measured physical activity (Sullivan et al., 2012). However, capturing incidental versus structured physical activity is relevant because recent evidence suggests that incidental and exercise-related activity are differentially related to adolescents' mood when measured with objective measures and the Experience Sampling Method (ESM) (Koch et al., 2020).

Next to domain of physical activity, the context in which physical activity takes place may also influence mood and well-being. For example, being outdoors (Coon et al., 2011) or being in the company of others (Eime et al., 2013; VanKim & Nelson, 2013) has been suggested to have particularly positive effects on mood, whereas competitive sport environments may have negative effects on mood (Koch et al., 2020). Therefore, the context of physical activity may be an additional important aspect related to mental health, yet has so far mainly been investigated in subjective, but less in the context of objective data.

Similarly - although this has so far received little attention - considering the difference in conceptualization of subjective and objective sleep is relevant. On the upside, epidemiological studies using questionnaires have been able to study the prolonged periods of sleep (e.g. for a month) (Liu et al., 2020; Morishima et al., 2020; Ojio et al., 2016), whereas objective studies usually include a 7-day period (Ranum et al., 2019; Slykerman et al., 2020). Identifying the overall sleep patterns of sleep duration is more relevant for long-term health than just a brief snapshot in time (Chaput et al., 2018).

Studies using sleep quality questionnaires, such as the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) (Kaneita et al., 2009), measure a variety of sleep quality dimensions, such as subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, sleep medication, and daytime sleepiness. However, previous objective studies on sleep quality have focused only on a single dimension of sleep quality, such as sleep efficiency, for example, the time asleep whilst being in bed (Koopman-Verhoeff et al., 2019). Likewise, in chapter 4, the measured concepts of sleep quality were different from questionnaire-assessed sleep quality, including dimensions such as sleep stages, awakening, and heart rate. Overall, given these inherent differences in defining the content of specific sleep concepts, the diverging findings may not be very surprising after all.

Understanding what aspects of lifestyle may be measured in either subjective or objective lifestyle, and how they might relate differently to psychopathology, is relevant for future research and clinical interpretation. Novel ways of investigating lifestyle both objectively and subjectively will be elaborated in more detail in a later section.

#### 2.4. Is it really about lifestyle – or is it just the subjective perception?

The current literature investigating subjectively measured lifestyle and psychopathology suggests that lifestyle is an important predictor of psychopathology symptoms. Yet, in the light of the current findings of this PhD thesis, which does not support this idea, we may need to carefully reconsider this relationship. It essentially boils down to the question: Is it really lifestyle that is related to psychopathology, or is it just the subjective perception of it?

Previous work comparing subjective and objective measures of sleep, and investigating factors in explaining the differences between the two, suggests that subjectively measured underestimation of sleep efficiency and overestimation of sleep problems were driven by psychosocial factors and affect, whereas objective measures were not (Jackowska et al., 2011). Therefore, the authors conclude that these aspects are important moderators that should be considered when making any conclusions about the sleep – health relationship. In the same vein, Matthews and colleagues (2018) found that subjective sleep duration is over- or underestimated to a greater extent in people reporting hostility, poor subjective health, and depressive symptoms as compared to healthy controls. Surprisingly, similar studies investigating psychosocial moderators in the physical activity – psychopathology relationship seem to be lacking.

The general difference between perception and actual observation at predicting health and wellbeing is well-acknowledged. Overall, findings from previous studies suggest that subjective measures are better predictors for self-reported health outcomes than objective ones (McLean et al., 2018). Consequently, this implies that subjective estimates of lifestyle could be important targets for prevention and intervention – in terms of identifying adolescents at risk. However, the non-significant objective associations between lifestyle and psychopathology would not provide support for intervention and prevention initiatives targeting lifestyle to address mental health problems in general population adolescents.

In the light of the potentially moderating aspects in the lifestyle-psychopathology relationship, it seems to be even more important for future work to consider a combined approach of objective and subjective measures which we will elaborate upon in a later section as it allows accounting for psychosocial factors and affect in the lifestyle-psychopathology relationship.

# 2.5. Practical implications: How to reduce emotion-focused coping and disengagement coping?

Lastly, our work in chapter 5, investigating if coping relates to subjective sleep quality and the potentially mediating role of locus of control, was situated in process (3) 'identifying factors that influence/ relate to lifestyle' of the behavioural epidemiological framework. We found that 'passive reaction', emotion-focused coping, and disengagement coping were related to poor sleep quality. 'Passive reaction' coping includes behaviours such as rumination about the past, isolating oneself from others, and using calming substances, but also feeling unable to do anything about the stressor, having a negative outlook on the situation, and being taken in by the difficult situation. Emotion-focused coping is a grouped variable including 'passive reaction' coping (e.g., being taken in by the problem), 'palliative reaction' coping (e.g. seeking distraction, using substances for tension reduction), and avoidant coping (e.g. avoiding difficult situations).

Our findings support previous negative associations of disengagement coping with objective sleep quality (Matthews et al., 2016), whereas they are in contrast with findings from the same study, where they did not find any significant associations between disengagement coping and subjectively measured sleep quality (Matthews et al., 2016). This is surprising since previous work has used a very similar methodology (i.e. daily sleep logs) and sample (i.e. young adolescents) as in our study (Matthews et al., 2016). Overall, the significant associations between disengagement coping, emotion-focused coping, and sleep quality, but non-significant findings for engagement coping and sleep findings could imply that those adolescents experiencing poor sleep quality may particularly benefit from employing 'passive reaction' coping less, instead of using engagement coping styles more, as other studies on well-being suggest (Dijkstra & Homan, 2016; Freire et al., 2016). However, since our findings are cross-sectional, future research on the long-term effects of disengagement coping, emotion-focused coping, and passive reaction coping may be relevant before building on processes such as (4) 'evaluating interventions to change lifestyle'.

Based on our findings, interventions to improve quality of sleep in youth might include efforts to enhance emotion-regulation, relaxation, and cognitive disengagement when feeling stressed. Short-term distraction can be a useful strategy to take the edge off a stressful situation if it includes the intention of returning to unpleasant emotions (Gratz & Tull, 2011; Linehan, 1993;

Wolgast & Lundh, 2017). Importantly, adaptive distraction as a coping strategy includes the willingness of experiential emotions exposure, which can increase well-being, whereas distraction without such an accepting attitude would be maladaptive for well-being (Wolgast & Lundh, 2017). Overall, constructive distraction could be a short-term effective emotion-regulation strategy to also improve sleep quality in those youth prone to using emotion-focused coping, passive-reaction coping, and general disengagement coping. Once stress-related tension has reduced, youth may feel capable to address the stressor or related emotions.

While this work has focused on the relationship between trait coping and sleep, coping behaviour also includes state components (Roesch et al., 2010). Empirical evidence suggests that state and trait coping relate differently to affect (Roesch et al., 2010), which may also be true for sleep quality. While investigating trait coping answers the question of what an individual generally does when stressed, state coping looks at the fine-grained situational responses under stress, when considering characteristics of the stressor and situational aspects (Roesch et al., 2010). So far, state coping and sleep have not been investigated in youth, but certainly would provide valuable insights into the momentary processes between coping, locus of control, and sleep.

#### 2.6. Moving beyond current measurement limitations

Currently, research on lifestyle and psychopathology seems to stand at a cross-road. The evidence on objectively measured and subjectively-rated lifestyle and psychopathology clearly differs, yet the factors that contribute to these different findings need still to be unravelled. We have suggested many aspects that may contribute to the differences in conceptualization of subjective and objective measurement: (1) The domain and context of physical activity, (2) the assessed dimensions of the sleep quality construct, and (3) the length of the sleep duration period (i.e. a week vs. a month). We also discussed an alternative perspective of the lifestyle-psychopathology relationship: Exploring within-person effects between lifestyle and psychopathology. This aspect may be important particularly in early adolescence, when symptoms are still variable and subtle across individuals (Van Os, 2013).

In order to investigate these unanswered, yet important questions, an alternative novel study design that combines subjective and objective measures may be necessary. For example, participants might wear the multi-sensory device on their wrist to capture lifestyle objectively, and in parallel answer questions on their context, domain, and experience of physical activity

and sleep by means of the ESM. This combined approach, that also was applied in the SIGMA study, would combine the best of both worlds - the accuracy of objective measurement and additional information around lifestyle, such as domain and context of physical activity, subjective experiences of sleep, and comparable length of sleep duration assessment. Unfortunately, this approach was not feasible within this PhD

project, as elaborated above (see section, 2.2. for more details). Additionally, this approach would allow us to investigate within-person effects between lifestyle and psychopathology symptoms over time due to the repeated measurement. Eventually, this approach would allow us to advance knowledge in areas that have received relatively little attention, such as investigating dynamic, momentary associations between objectively measured physical activity, sleep, and momentary affect in general population adolescents.

Conceptionally, the field of lifestyle psychiatry tends to treat movement behaviours such as sleep, physical activity, and sedentary behaviour as equally determined by one's own will. However, we may also need to acknowledge that physical activity and sedentary behaviour have a more 'volitional' quality, whereas sleep duration and sleep quality are less under one own control, even when someone 'tries to sleep'. Many daytime behaviours influence sleep, such as coping and stress management (Faber & Schlarb, 2016; Matthews et al., 2016; Sadeh et al., 2004; van Schalkwijk et al., 2015), physical activity (Kelley & Kelley, 2017; Lang et al., 2013; Štefan et al., 2018; Yoong et al., 2016), diet (Boozari et al., 2021), and screen time (B. Carter et al., 2016; Lemola et al., 2015), so that sleep can also be considered as an outcome of other behaviours. Future research may study the effects of these behaviour in more depth and how these influence sleep related behaviours such as winding down before bedtime, time spent in bed, and sleep duration, subsequently.

# 3. General limitations and future directions

This PhD project has a few general limitations. First, our SIGMA sample may not have been fully representative of the adolescent population in Flanders, which limits the generalizability of our findings. If we compare the educational levels in our study from year 1, 3, and 5 to the general Flemish secondary school population 2018-2019, the SIGMA sample is comparable in school years 1 and 3, whereas in year 5, the general secondary education level (i.e. 'ASO') was underrepresented by 7%, the technical secondary education (i.e. 'TSO') was overrepresented

by 21%, and the vocational secondary education (i.e. 'BSO') was overrepresented by 9%, while the arts secondary education (i.e. 'KSO') was representative. If we look at the overall distribution of the school years in the SIGMA study, 55% of the sample were 1<sup>st</sup> years, whereas 23% were 2<sup>nd</sup>, and 22% 3<sup>rd</sup> years, respectively. However, first years were intentionally oversampled to maximise longitudinal follow-up across the target age range for the study.

Likewise, since only 75% of the participants indicated whether they identified themselves with a Belgian or non-Belgian culture - because this question was only included later in the study - it is unclear how ethnically diverse the sample was compared to the general Flemish population. In those participants who responded, 37% of the participants identified with a non-Belgian culture (Kirtley et al., 2021), which is roughly comparable to 34.4% in the general population (Kind en Gezin, 2019).

Second, the SIGMA (chapter 3 and 4) and TwinssCan (chapter 5) data are cross-sectional and therefore cannot contribute to the question of directionality. Future longitudinal studies may focus on the effects of psychopathology on lifestyle, in particular, since this relationship is currently understudied. Likewise, studies on the longitudinal effects of coping and sleep are missing to provide insights on the directionality. Understanding the longitudinal relationship better may offer opportunities for early prevention and intervention.

Third, the complexity of the relationship between lifestyle factors and psychopathology may have been simplified within this study. Although lifestyle factors may have a unique effect on psychopathology, which is worth exploring, they are also considered to be inter-related (Falck et al., 2021; Tremblay et al., 2016). Future studies may consider interactions in objective lifestyle data with regards to psychopathology (Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2020). Similarly, when studying the associations between coping and sleep quality, considering interactions between sleep quality and sleep duration may account for potential interactions (Chaput et al., 2018; Hestetun et al., 2018).

Fourth, we have not explored the potentially confounding role of social factors, such as social support (Colman et al., 2014; Scardera et al., 2020), bullying (Lereya et al., 2015; Sharpe et al., 2021), and childhood trauma (McKay et al., 2021; ten Have et al., 2019), which have shown to be linked to psychopathology, and sleep, in particular (Brindle et al., 2018; de Grey et al., 2018;

van Geel et al., 2015). Future studies may consider these social factors when investigating the lifestyle-psychopathology relationship.

Fifth, in both chapter 3 and 4, we have imputed the outcome variables of psychopathology based on a general recommendation (van Ginkel et al., 2020). This decision has affected our findings, since our results within the imputed dataset differ from those in the non-imputed dataset (see chapter 4). Despite the general recommendation to impute missing data within outcome variables, further empirical research is necessary to determine if multiple imputation or listwise deletion is most appropriate for these types of data.

## 4. Conclusion

This doctoral research project investigated the objectively measured lifestyle – psychopathology relationship in general population adolescents and explored coping as a behavioural correlate of sleep quality, as measured within ESM data. We found that objective lifestyle factors were unrelated to general psychopathology symptoms, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism, which is in contrast to self-report data studies suggesting predictive effects of lifestyle on psychopathology. Overall, these diverging findings may suggest that objective and subjective lifestyle measures cover different concepts. As an approach for future longitudinal research, we suggested a study design combining subjective and objective measures, whilst taking interactions between lifestyle, domain, and context factors into account. This approach would allow us to disentangle the unique role of measurement type, characteristics of lifestyle, and psycho-social factors influence in lifestyle-psychopathology relationship.

Lastly, we saw that 'passive reaction', emotion-focused and disengagement coping related to lower sleep quality and suggested how these results may inform future intervention studies and research. For example, interventions may include short-termed distraction and acceptancebased elements from Acceptance and Commitment Therapy to downregulate intense emotions during peaks of stress.

This PhD research project showed that the field of lifestyle research currently stands at an interesting cross-road. If future research continues to address the remaining, challenging issues regarding measurement methodology, these novel approaches may contribute to new insights in the lifestyle - psychopathology relationship.

## Appendices

# References

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5). Fifth edition* (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Association Publishing.
- Asselmann, E., Wittchen, H. U., Lieb, R., & Beesdo-Baum, K. (2018). Sociodemographic, clinical, and functional long-term outcomes in adolescents and young adults with mental disorders. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 137(1), 6–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.12792
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Prentice-Hall.
- Bauducco, S. V., Flink, I. K., Jansson-Fröjmark, M., & Linton, S. J. (2016). Sleep duration and patterns in adolescents: correlates and the role of daily stressors. *Sleep Health*, 2(3), 211– 218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2016.05.006
- Baum, K. T., Desai, A., Field, J., Miller, L. E., Rausch, J., & Beebe, D. W. (2014). Sleep restriction worsens mood and emotion regulation in adolescents. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 55(2), 180–190. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12125
- Bailey, A. P., Hetrick, E., Rosenbaum, S., Purcell, R., & Parker, A. G. (2018). Treating depression with physical activity in adolescents and young adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(7), 1068– 1083. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717002653
- Bauman, A. E., Reis, R. S., Sallis, J. F., Wells, J. C., Loos, R. J. F., Martin, B. W., Alkandari, J. R., Andersen, L. B., Blair, S. N., Brownson, R. C., Bull, F. C., Craig, C. L., Ekelund, U., Goenka, S., Guthold, R., Hallal, P. C., Haskell, W. L., Heath, G. W., Inoue, S., ... Sarmiento, O. L. (2012). Correlates of physical activity: Why are some people physically active and others not? *The Lancet*, *380*(9838), 258–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60735-1
- Bei, B., Allen, N. B., Nicholas, C. L., Dudgeon, P., Murray, G., & Trinder, J. (2014). Actigraphy-assessed sleep during school and vacation periods: A naturalistic study of restricted and extended sleep opportunities in adolescents. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 23(1), 107–117. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12080
- Bernard, P., Doré, I., Romain, A. J., Hains-Monfette, G., Kingsbury, C., & Sabiston, C. (2018). Dose response association of objective physical activity with mental health in a representative national sample of adults: A cross-sectional study. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(10), e0204682. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204682
- Biddle, S. J. H., Mutrie, N., & Gorely, T. (2015). *Psychology of Physical Activity*. *Determinants, Well-Being, and Interventions* (Third). Routledge.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003127420

- Birkeland, M. S., Torsheim, T., & Wold, B. (2009). A longitudinal study of the relationship between leisure-time physical activity and depressed mood among adolescents. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 10(1), 25–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2008.01.005
- Block, V. J., Meyer, A. H., Miché, M., Mikoteit, T., Hoyer, J., Imboden, C., Bader, K., Hatzinger, M., Lieb, R., & Gloster, A. T. (2020). The effect of anticipatory stress and openness and engagement on subsequently perceived sleep quality–An Experience Sampling Method study. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 29(5), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12957
- Brindle, R. C., Cribbet, M. R., Samuelsson, M. S., Gao, C., Frank, E., Krafty, R. T., Thayer, J. F., Buysse, D. J., & Hall, M. H. (2018). The relationship between childhood trauma and poor sleep health in adulthood. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 80(2), 200–207. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.000000000000542
- Bull, F. C., Al-Ansari, S. S., Biddle, S., Borodulin, K., Buman, M. P., Cardon, G., Carty, C., Chaput, J. P., Chastin, S., Chou, R., Dempsey, P. C., Dipietro, L., Ekelund, U., Firth, J., Friedenreich, C. M., Garcia, L., Gichu, M., Jago, R., Katzmarzyk, P. T., ... Willumsen, J. F. (2020). World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 54(24), 1451–1462. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2020-102955
- Bustamante, C. M. V., Rodman, A. M., Dennison, M. J., Flournoy, J. C., Mair, P., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2020). Within-person fluctuations in stressful life events, sleep, and anxiety and depression symptoms during adolescence: a multiwave prospective study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 61(10), 1116–1125. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13234
- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., & Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Reports*, 100(2), 126–131. https://doi.org/10.2307/20056429
- Castillo-Retamal, M., & Hinckson, E. A. (2011). Measuring physical activity and sedentary behaviour at work: A review. *Work*, 40(4), 345–3547. https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-2011-1246
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). *Measuring Physical Activity Intensity*. https://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/basics/measuring/index.html
- Chaput, J. P., Dutil, C., & Sampasa-Kanyinga, H. (2018). Sleeping hours: What is the ideal number and how does age impact this? *Nature and Science of Sleep*, *10*, 421–430. https://doi.org/10.2147/NSS.S163071
- Chinoy, E. D., Cuellar, J. A., Huwa, K. E., Jameson, J. T., Watson, C. H., Bessman, S. C.,

- Hirsch, D. A., Cooper, A. D., Drummond, S. P., & Markwald, R. R. (2021). Performance of seven consumer sleep-tracking devices compared with polysomnography. *Sleep*, 44(5), 1– 16. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsaa291
- Clarke, G., McGlinchey, E. L., Hein, K., Gullion, C. M., Dickerson, J. F., Leo, M. C., & Harvey,
  A. G. (2015). Cognitive-behavioral treatment of insomnia and depression inadolescents:
  A pilot randomized trial. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 69, 111–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2015.04.009
- Colman, I., Zeng, Y., McMartin, S. E., Naicker, K., Ataullahjan, A., Weeks, M., Senthilselvan, A., & Galambos, N. L. (2014). Protective factors against depression during the transition from adolescence to adulthood: Findings from a national Canadian cohort. *Preventive Medicine*, 65, 28–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.04.008
- Colrain, I. M., & Baker, F. C. (2011). Changes in sleep as a function of adolescent development. *Neuropsychology Review*, 21(1), 5–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-010-9155-5
- Coon, J. T., Boddy, K., Stein, K., Whear, R., Barton, J., & Depledge, M. H. (2011). Does participating in physical activity in outdoor natural environments have a greater effect on physical and mental wellbeing than physical activity indoors? A systematic review. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 45(5), 1761–1772. https://doi.org/10.1021/es102947t
- Corbett, S., Farris, M. S., MacQueen, G., & Addington, J. (2021). Pilot aerobic exercise intervention for youth at-risk for serious mental illness. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 15(3), 547–553. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12977
- Correll, C. U., Galling, B., Pawar, A., Krivko, A., Bonetto, C., Ruggeri, M., Craig, T. J., Nordentoft, M., Srihari, V. H., Guloksuz, S., Hui, C. L. M., Chen, E. Y. H., Valencia, M., Juarez, F., Robinson, D. G., Schooler, N. R., Brunette, M. F., Mueser, K. T., Rosenheck, R. A., ... Kane, J. M. (2018). Comparison of early intervention services vs treatment as usual for early-phase psychosis: A systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. In *JAMA Psychiatry* (Vol. 75, Issue 6, pp. 555–565). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.0623
- Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Larson, R. (1987). Validity and reliability of the Experience Sampling Method. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 175(9), 526–536.
- Cushing, C. C., Bejarano, C. M., Mitchell, T. B., Noser, A. E., & Crick, C. J. (2018). Individual Differences in Negative Affectivity and Physical Activity in Adolescents: An Ecological Momentary Assessment Study. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 27(9), 2772–2779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1128-y
- Dalgleish, T., Black, M., Johnston, D., & Bevan, A. (2020). Transdiagnostic Approaches to Mental Health Problems: Current Status and Future Directions. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 88(3), 179–195. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000482.supp

- Dean, D. J., Bryan, A. D., Newberry, R., Gupta, T., Carol, E., & Mittal, V. A. (2017). A Supervised Exercise Intervention for Youth at Risk for Psychosis: An Open-Label Pilot Study. *Joural Clinical Psychiatry*, 78(9), e1167–e1173. doi:10.4088/JCP.16m11365
- de Grey, R. G. K., Uchino, B. N., Trettevik, R., Cronan, S., & Hogan, J. N. (2018). Social support and sleep: A meta-analysis. *Health Psychology*, 37(8), 787–798. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000628
- Deci, E., & Ryan, R. (2002). Handbook of Selfdetermination Research (U. of R. Press (Ed.)).
- Delaruelle, K., Dierckens, M., Vandendriessche, A., & Deforche, B. (2019). Studie Jongeren en Gezondheid, Deel 3: gezondheid en welzijn – Uitgelicht: slaap [Factsheet]. https://www.jongeren-en-gezondheid.ugent.be/wordpress/wpcontent/uploads/2020/03/HBSC\_201718\_Factsheet\_slaap.pdf
- Delaruelle, Katrijn, Dierckens, M., Vandendriessche, A., Deforche, B., & Poppe, L. (2021). Adolescents' sleep quality in relation to peer, family and school factors: findings from the 2017/2018 HBSC study in Flanders. *Quality of Life Research*, 30(1), 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-020-02614-2
- Dierckens, M., De Clercq, B., & Deforche, B. (2019). *Studie Jongeren en Gezondheid, Deel 4:* gezondheidsgedrag Beweging en sedentair gedrag [Factsheet]. hbsc.org
- Dijkstra, M. T. M., & Homan, A. C. (2016). Engaging in rather than disengaging from stress: Effective coping and perceived control. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *7*, 1415. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01415
- Doane, L. D., & Thurston, E. C. (2014). Associations among sleep, daily experiences, and loneliness in adolescence: Evidence of moderating and bidirectional pathways. *Journal of Adolescence*, 37(2), 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2013.11.009
- Donoghue, C., & Meltzer, L. J. (2018). Sleep it off: Bullying and sleep disturbances in adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 68, 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.07.012
- Dow, M. G., & Craighead, W. E. (1987). Social Inadequacy and Depression: Overt Behavior and Self-Evaluation Processes. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 5(1), 99–113. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.1987.5.1.99
- Dowlati, Y., Herrmann, N., Swardfager, W., Liu, H., Sham, L., Reim, E. K., & Lanctôt, K. L. (2010). A Meta-Analysis of Cytokines in Major Depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 67(5), 446–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.09.033
- Dunne, L., Profita, H., & Zeagler, C. (2014). Social Aspects of Wearability and Interaction. In
  E. Sazonov (Ed.), *Wearable Sensors: Fundamentals, Implementation and Applications* (First, pp. 25–43). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-418662-0.00026-X
- Eime, R. M., Young, J. A., Harvey, J. T., Charity, M. J., & Payne, W. R. (2013). A systematic

- review of the psychological and social benefits of participation in sport for children and adolescents: informing development of a conceptual model of health through sport. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *10*(1), 98. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-10-98
- Emons, H. J. G., Groenenboom, D. C., Westerterp, K. R., & Saris, W. H. M. (1992). Comparison of heart rate monitoring combined with indirect calorimetry and the doubly labelled water (2H218O) method for the measurement of energy expenditure in children. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*, 65(2), 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00705064
- Evans, S. C., Wei, M. A., Harmon, S. L., & Weisz, J. R. (2021). Modular Psychotherapy Outcomes for Youth With Different Latent Profiles of Irritability and Emotion Dysregulation. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12(April). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.618455
- Faber, J., & Schlarb, A. A. (2016). The Relation of Sleep, Distress, and Coping Strategies— What Male and Female Students Can Learn from Each Other? *Health*, 08(13), 1356–1367. https://doi.org/10.4236/health.2016.813136
- Falck, R. S., Davis, J. C., Li, L., Stamatakis, E., & Liu-Ambrose, T. (2021). Preventing the '24hour Babel': the need for a consensus on a consistent terminology scheme for physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, bjsports-2021-104487. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2021-104487
- Farooq, A., Martin, A., Janssen, X., Wilson, M. G., Gibson, A. M., Hughes, A., & Reilly, J. J. (2020). Longitudinal changes in moderate-to-vigorous-intensity physical activity in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, 21(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12953
- Feehan, L. M., Geldman, J., Sayre, E. C., Park, C., Ezzat, A. M., Young Yoo, J., Hamilton, C. B., & Li, L. C. (2018). Accuracy of fitbit devices: Systematic review and narrative syntheses of quantitative data. *JMIR MHealth and UHealth*, 6(8), e10527. https://doi.org/10.2196/10527
- Firth, J., Carney, R., Elliott, R., French, P., Parker, S., McIntyre, R., McPhee, J. S., & Yung, A.
  R. (2018). Exercise as an intervention for first-episode psychosis: a feasibility study. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 12(3), 307–315. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12329
- Firth, J., Solmi, M., Wootton, R. E., Vancampfort, D., Schuch, F. B., Hoare, E., Gilbody, S., Torous, J., Teasdale, S. B., Jackson, S. E., Smith, L., Eaton, M., Jacka, F. N., Veronese, N., Marx, W., Ashdown-Franks, G., Siskind, D., Sarris, J., Rosenbaum, S., ... Stubbs, B. (2020). A meta-review of "lifestyle psychiatry": the role of exercise, smoking, diet and sleep in the prevention and treatment of mental disorders. *World Psychiatry*, *19*(3), 360–380. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20773

- Fisher, E., Wood, S. J., Elsworthy, R. J., Upthegrove, R., & Aldred, S. (2020). Exercise as a protective mechanism against the negative effects of oxidative stress in first-episode psychosis: a biomarker-led study. *Translational Psychiatry*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-00927-x
- Fitbit. (2021). *How does Fitbit calculate my active minutes?* https://help.fitbit.com/articles/en\_US/Help\_article/1379.htm?Highlight=active minutes
- Franco, P., Putois, B., Guyon, A., Raoux, A., Papadopoulou, M., Guignard-Perret, A., Bat-Pitault, F., Hartley, S., & Plancoulaine, S. (2020). Sleep during development: Sex and gender differences. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 51, 101276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2020.101276
- Freeman, D., Stahl, D., McManus, S., Meltzer, H., Brugha, T., Wiles, N., & Bebbington, P. (2011). Insomnia, worry, anxiety and depression as predictors of the occurrence and persistence of paranoid thinking. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 2011* 47:8, 47(8), 1195–1203. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00127-011-0433-1
- Freire, C., Ferradás, M. D. M., Valle, A., Núñez, J. C., & Vallejo, G. (2016). Profiles of psychological well-being and coping strategies among university students. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1554. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01554
- Fusar-Poli, P., Solmi, M., Brondino, N., Davies, C., Chae, C., Politi, P., Borgwardt, S., Lawrie, S. M., Parnas, J., & Mcguire, P. (2019). Transdiagnostic psychiatry: a systematic review. *World Psychiatry*, 18(2), 192–207.
- Galantino, M. Lou, Galbavy, R., & Quinn, L. (2008). Therapeutic effects of yoga for children: A systematic review of the literature. *Pediatric Physical Therapy*, 20(1), 66–80. https://doi.org/10.1097/PEP.0b013e31815f1208
- Gordon, B. R., McDowell, C. P., Lyons, M., & Herring, M. P. (2020). Resistance exercise training for anxiety and worry symptoms among young adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-74608-6
- Gore, F. M., Bloem, P. J. N., Patton, G. C., Ferguson, J., Joseph, V., Coffey, C., Sawyer, S. M., & Mathers, C. D. (2011). Global burden of disease in young people aged 10-24 years: A systematic analysis. *The Lancet*, 377(9783), 2093–2102. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60512-6
- Grandner, M. A., Sands-Lincoln, M. R., Pak, V. M., & Garland, S. N. (2013). Sleep duration, cardiovascular disease, and proinflammatory biomarkers. *Nature and Science of Sleep*, 5, 93–107. https://doi.org/10.2147/NSS.S31063
- Gratz, K. L., & Tull, M. T. (2011). Extending research on the utility of an adjunctive emotion regulation group therapy for deliberate self-harm among women with borderline personality pathology. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 2(4), 316–326. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022144

- Grootendorst-van Mil, N. H., Bouter, D. C., Hoogendijk, W. J. G., van Jaarsveld, S. F. L. M., Tiemeier, H., Mulder, C. L., & Roza, S. J. (2021). The iBerry study: a longitudinal cohort study of adolescents at high risk of psychopathology. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 36(4), 453–464. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-021-00740-w
- Guedes, L. G., Abreu, G. de A., Rodrigues, D. F., Teixeira, L. R., Luiz, R. R., & Bloch, K. V. (2016). Comparison between self-reported sleep duration and actigraphy among adolescents: gender differences/ Comparação entre duração do sono autodeclarada e actigrafia entre adolescentes: Diferenças de gênero. *Revista Brasileira de Epidemiologia*, 19(2), 339–347. https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-5497201600020011
- Gujral, S., Aizenstein, H., Reynolds, C. F., Butters, M. A., & Erickson, K. I. (2017). Exercise effects on depression: Possible neural mechanisms. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 49, 2– 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2017.04.012
- Guthold, R., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M., & Bull, F. C. (2020). Global trends in insufficient physical activity among adolescents: a pooled analysis of 298 population-based surveys with 1.6 million participants. *The Lancet Child and Adolescent Health*, 4(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30323-2
- Hagströmer, M., Bergman, P., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., Manios, Y., Rey-López, J. P., Phillipp, K., von Berlepsch, J., & Sjöström, M. (2008). Concurrent validity of a modified version of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ-A) in European adolescents: The HELENA Study. *International Journal of Obesity*, *32*, S42–S48. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2008.182
- Hartmann, J. A., McGorry, P. D., Destree, L., Amminger, G. P., Chanen, A. M., Davey, C. G., Ghieh, R., Polari, A., Ratheesh, A., Yuen, H. P., & Nelson, B. (2021). Pluripotential Risk and Clinical Staging: Theoretical Considerations and Preliminary Data From a Transdiagnostic Risk Identification Approach. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.553578
- Herring, M. P., Gordon, B. R., Murphy, J., Lyons, M., & Lindheimer, J. B. (2022). The Interplay Between Expected Psychological Responses to Exercise and Physical Activity in Analogue Generalized Anxiety Disorder: a Cross-sectional Study. *International Journal* of Behavioral Medicine, 0123456789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-022-10081-x
- Hestetun, I., Svendsen, M. V., & Oellingrath, I. M. (2018). Sleep problems and mental health among young Norwegian adolescents. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 72(8), 578–585. https://doi.org/10.1080/08039488.2018.1499043
- Hirshkowitz, M., Whiton, K., Albert, S. M., Alessi, C., Bruni, O., DonCarlos, L., Hazen, N., Herman, J., Adams Hillard, P. J., Katz, E. S., Kheirandish-Gozal, L., Neubauer, D. N., O'Donnell, A. E., Ohayon, M., Peever, J., Rawding, R., Sachdeva, R. C., Setters, B., Vitiello, M. V, & Ware, J. C. (2015). National Sleep Foundation's updated sleep duration

- recommendations: Final report. Sleep Health, 1(4), 233–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2015.10.004
- Hyde, M., O'Driscoll, D. M., Binette, S., Galang, S. K. T., Vergini, N., Davey, M. J., & Horse,
  R. S. C. (2007). Validation of actigraphy for determining sleep and wake in preterm infants. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *16*, 213–216. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008.01002.x
- Jackowska, M., Dockray, S., Hendrickx, H., & Steptoe, A. (2011). Psychosocial factors and sleep efficiency: Discrepancies between subjective and objective evaluations of sleep. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 73(9), 810–816. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182359e77
- Jetté, M., Sidney, K., & Blümchen, G. (1990). Metabolic equivalents (METS) in exercise testing, exercise prescription, and evaluation of functional capacity. *Clinical Cardiology*, 13(8), 555–565. https://doi.org/10.1002/clc.4960130809
- Kalmbach, D. A., Anderson, J. R., & Drake, C. L. (2018). The impact of stress on sleep: Pathogenic sleep reactivity as a vulnerability to insomnia and circadian disorders. *Journal* of Sleep Research, 27(6), e12710. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12710
- Kandola, A., Lewis, G., Osborn, D. P. J., Stubbs, B., & Hayes, J. F. (2020). Depressive symptoms and objectively measured physical activity and sedentary behaviour throughout adolescence: a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(3), 262–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30034-1
- Kelley, G. A., & Kelley, K. S. (2017). Exercise and sleep: a systematic review of previous metaanalyses. *Journal of Evidence-Based Medicine*, 10(1), 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/jebm.12236.Exercise
- Kaneita, Y., Ohida, T., Osaki, Y., Tanihata, T., Minowa, M., Suzuki, K., Wada, K., Kanda, H., & Hayashi, K. (2007). Association between mental health status and sleep status among adolescents in Japan: A nationwide cross-sectional survey. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 68(9), 1426–1435. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.v68n0916
- Kaneita, Y., Yokoyama, E., Harano, S., Tamaki, T., Suzuki, H., Munezawa, T., Nakajima, H., Asai, T., & Ohida, T. (2009). Associations between sleep disturbance and mental health status: A longitudinal study of Japanese junior high school students. *Sleep Medicine*, 10(7), 780–786. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2008.06.014
- Kasanova, Z., Hajdúk, M., Thewissen, V., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2020). Temporal associations between sleep quality and paranoia across the paranoia continuum: An experience sampling study. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *129*(1), 122–130. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000453
- Kaskie, R. E., Graziano, B., & Ferrarelli, F. (2017). Schizophrenia and sleep disorders: Links, risks, and management challenges. *Nature and Science of Sleep*, *9*, 227–239.

https://doi.org/10.2147/NSS.S121076

Kind en Gezin. (2019). Het kind in Vlaanderen 2019.

- Kinder, J. R., Lee, K. A., Thompson, H., Hicks, K., Topp, K., & Madsen, K. A. (2012). Validation of a Hip-Worn Accelerometer in Measuring Sleep Time in Children. *Journal* of *Pediatric Nursing*, 27(2), 127–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2010.11.004
- Kirtley, O. J., Achterhof, R., Hagemann, N., Hermans, K. S. F. M. Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Boets, B., Henquet, C., Kasanova, Z., Schneider, M., Reiningshaus, U., Viechtbauer, W., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2021). *Initial cohort characteristics and protocol for SIGMA: An accelerated longitudinal study of environmental factors, inter- and intrapersonal processes, and mental health in adolescence.* https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/jp2fk
- Kline, C. (2013). Sleep Quality. In M. D. Gellman & J. R. Turner (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine* (p. 117). Springer. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9\_849
- Koch, E. D., Tost, H., Braun, U., Gan, G., Giurgiu, M., Reinhard, I., Zipf, A., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Ebner-Priemer, U. W., & Reichert, M. (2020). Relationships between incidental physical activity, exercise, and sports with subsequent mood in adolescents. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, 30(11), 2234–2250. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.13774
- Koivukangas, J., Tammelin, T., Kaakinen, M., Mäki, P., Moilanen, I., Taanila, A., & Veijola, J. (2010). Physical activity and fitness in adolescents at risk for psychosis within the Northern Finland 1986 Birth Cohort. *Schizophrenia Research*, 116(2–3), 152–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2009.10.022
- Koopman-Verhoeff, M. E., Bolhuis, K., Cecil, C. A. M., Kocevska, D., Hudziak, J. J., Hillegers, M. H. J., Mileva-Seitz, V. R., Reiss, I. K., Duijts, L., Verhulst, F., Luijk, M. P. C. M., & Tiemeier, H. (2019). During day and night: Childhood psychotic experiences and objective and subjective sleep problems. *Schizophrenia Research*, 206, 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2018.12.002
- Korczak, D. J., Madigan, S., & Colasanto, M. (2017). Children's physical activity and depression: A meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 139(4), e20162266. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2266
- Kredlow, M. A., Capozzoli, M. C., Hearon, B. A., Calkins, A. W., & Otto, M. W. (2015). The effects of physical activity on sleep: a meta-analytic review. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 38(3), 427–449. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-015-9617-6
- Lang, C., Brand, S., Feldmeth, A. K., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., Pühse, U., & Gerber, M. (2013). Increased self-reported and objectively assessed physical activity predict sleep quality among adolescents. *Physiology and Behavior*, 120, 46–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.07.001

- Lang, C., Kalak, N., Brand, S., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., Pühse, U., & Gerber, M. (2016). The relationship between physical activity and sleep from mid adolescence to early adulthood. A systematic review of methodological approaches and meta-analysis. In *Sleep Medicine Reviews* (Vol. 28, pp. 32–45). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2015.07.004
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, coping. Springer.
- LeBlanc, A. G. W., & Janssen, I. (2010). Difference between self-reported and accelerometer measured moderate-to-vigorous physical activity in youth. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 22(4), 523–534. https://doi.org/10.1123/pes.22.4.523
- LeBouthillier, D. M., & Asmundson, G. J. G. (2017). The efficacy of aerobic exercise and resistance training as transdiagnostic interventions for anxiety-related disorders and constructs: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 52(July), 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2017.09.005
- Lee, X. K., Chee, N. I. Y. N., Ong, J. L., Teo, T. B., Van Rijn, E., Lo, J. C., & Chee, M. W. L. (2019). Validation of a consumer sleep wearable device with actigraphy and polysomnography in adolescents across sleep opportunity manipulations. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 15(9), 1337–1346. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.7932
- Lereya, S. T., Copeland, W. E., Costello, E. J., & Wolke, D. (2015). Adult mental health consequences of peer bullying and maltreatment in childhood: Two cohorts in two countries. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 2(6), 524–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00165-0
- Lemola, S., Perkinson-Gloor, N., Brand, S., Dewald-Kaufmann, J. F., & Grob, A. (2015). Adolescents' Electronic Media Use at Night, Sleep Disturbance, and Depressive Symptoms in the Smartphone Age. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 44(2), 405–418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-014-0176-x
- Linehan, M. M. (1993). *Skills training manual for treating borderline personality disorder*. Guilford Publications.
- Liu, B. P., Wang, X. T., Liu, Z. Z., Wang, Z. Y., An, D., Wei, Y. X., Jia, C. X., & Liu, X. (2020). Depressive symptoms are associated with short and long sleep duration: A longitudinal study of Chinese adolescents. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 263(44), 267– 273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.11.113
- Lovato, N., & Gradisar, M. (2014). A meta-analysis and model of the relationship between sleep and depression in adolescents: Recommendations for future research and clinical practice. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 18(6), 521–529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2014.03.006
- Lubans, D. R., Plotnikoff, R. C., & Lubans, N. J. (2012). Review: A systematic review of the impact of physical activity programmes on social and emotional well-being in at-risk youth. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 17(1), 2–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-

- Lubans, D., Richards, J., Hillman, C., Faulkner, G., Beauchamp, M., Nilsson, M., Kelly, P., Smith, J., Raine, L., & Biddle, S. (2016). Physical Activity for Cognitive and Mental Health in Youth: A Systematic Review of Mechanisms. *Pediatrics*, *138*(3), e20161642– e20161642. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1642
- Manios, Y., Androutsos, O., Moschonis, G., Birbilis, M., Maragkopoulou, K. Giannopulou, A., Argyri, E., & Kourlaba, G. (2013). Criterion validity of the Physical Activity Questionnaire for Schoolchildren (PAQ-S) in assessing physical activity levels: The Healthy Growth Study. *The Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*, 53(5), 502– 508.
- Matthews, K. A., Hall, M. H., Cousins, J., & Lee, L. (2016). Getting a Good Night's Sleep in Adolescence: Do Strategies for Coping With Stress Matter? *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 14(4), 367–377. https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2015.1007994
- Matthews, K. A., Patel, S. R., Pantesco, E. J., Buysse, D. J., Kamarck, T. W., Lee, L., & Hall, M. H. (2018). Similarities and differences in estimates of sleep duration by polysomnography, actigraphy, diary, and self-reported habitual sleep in a community sample. *Sleep Health*, 4(1), 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2017.10.011
- McGorry, P. D., Hartmann, J. A., Spooner, R., & Nelson, B. (2018). Beyond the "at risk mental state" concept: transitioning to transdiagnostic psychiatry. *World Psychiatry*, 17(2), 133– 142. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20514
- McKay, M. T., Cannon, M., Chambers, D., Conroy, R. M., Coughlan, H., Dodd, P., Healy, C., O'Donnell, L., & Clarke, M. C. (2021). Childhood trauma and adult mental disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal cohort studies. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 143(3), 189–205. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.13268
- McLean, D. C., Nakamura, J., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2018). Reconsidering the experience machine: Self-reported versus objective measures of physical activity to increase positive affect. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 25(13–14), 2428–2439. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105318801939
- McMahon, E. M., Corcoran, P., O'Regan, G., Keeley, H., Cannon, M., Carli, V., Wasserman, C., Hadlaczky, G., Sarchiapone, M., Apter, A., Balazs, J., Balint, M., Bobes, J., Brunner, R., Cozman, D., Haring, C., Iosue, M., Kaess, M., Kahn, J. P., ... Wasserman, D. (2017). Physical activity in European adolescents and associations with anxiety, depression and well-being. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 26(1), 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-016-0875-9
- Meltzer, L. J., Montgomery-Downs, H. E., Insana, S. P., & Walsh, C. M. (2012). Use of actigraphy for assessment in pediatric sleep research. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 16(5), 463– 475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2011.10.002

- Menghini, L., Yuksel, D., Goldstone, A., Baker, F. C., & de Zambotti, M. (2021). Performance of Fitbit Charge 3 against polysomnography in measuring sleep in adolescent boys and girls. *Chronobiology International*. https://doi.org/10.1080/07420528.2021.1903481
- Michaud, I., & Chaput, J. P. (2016). Are Canadian children and adolescents sleep deprived? *Public Health*, 25(5), 541–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2016.09.009
- Morishima, R., Yamasaki, S., Ando, S., Shimodera, S., Ojio, Y., Okazaki, Y., Kasai, K., Sasaki, T., & Nishida, A. (2020). Long and short sleep duration and psychotic symptoms in adolescents: Findings from a cross-sectional survey of 15 786 Japanese students. *Psychiatry Research*, 293, 113440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113440
- Mulligan, L. D., Haddock, G., Emsley, R., Neil, S. T., & Kyle, S. D. (2016). High resolution examination of the role of sleep disturbance in predicting functioning and psychotic symptoms in schizophrenia: A novel experience sampling study. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 125(6), 788–797. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000180
- Myin-Germeys, I., Kasanova, Z., Vaessen, T., Vachon, H., Kirtley, O., Viechtbauer, W., & Reininghaus, U. (2018). Experience sampling methodology in mental health research: new insights and technical developments. *World Psychiatry*, 17(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20513
- Nascimento-Ferreira, M. V., Collese, T. S., de Moraes, A. C. F., Rendo-Urteaga, T., Moreno, L. A., & Carvalho, H. B. (2016). Validity and reliability of sleep time questionnaires in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 30, 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2015.11.006
- Nicholson, L. R., Lewis, R., Thomas, K. G. F., & Lipinkska, G. (2021). Influence of poor emotion regulation on disrupted sleep and subsequent psychiatric symptoms in university students | South African Journal of Psychology. *South African Journal of Psychology*, 51(1), 6–20. https://journals.co.za/doi/pdf/10.10520/ejc-sapsyc-v51-n1-a2
- Ojio, Y., Nishida, A., Shimodera, S., Togo, F., & Sasaki, T. (2016). Sleep duration associated with the lowest risk of depression/anxiety in adolescents. *Sleep*, *39*(8), 1555–1562. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.6020
- Palagini, L., Biber, K., & Riemann, D. (2014). The genetics of insomnia Evidence for epigenetic mechanisms? *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 18(3), 225–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2013.05.002
- Palmer, C. A., & Alfano, C. A. (2017). Sleep and emotion regulation: An organizing, integrative review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *31*, 6–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2015.12.006
- Palmer, C. A., Oosterhoff, B., Bower, J. L., Kaplow, J. B., & Alfano, C. A. (2018). Associations among adolescent sleep problems, emotion regulation, and affective disorders: Findings from a nationally representative sample. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 96, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.09.015
- Patten, C. A., Choi, W. S., Gillin, J. C., & Pierce, J. P. (2000). Depressive symptoms and cigarette smoking predict development and persistence of sleep problems in US adolescents. *Pediatrics*,106(2), e23–e23. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.106.2.e23
- Patton, G. C., Coffey, C., Romaniuk, H., Mackinnon, A., Carlin, J. B., Degenhardt, L., Olsson, C. A., & Moran, P. (2014). The prognosis of common mental disorders in adolescents: A 14-year prospective cohort study. *The Lancet*, 383(9926), 1404–1411. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62116-9
- Pearson, D. G., & Craig, T. (2014). The great outdoors? Exploring the mental health benefits of natural environments. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 1178. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01178
- Pigeon, W. R., Bishop, T. M., & Krueger, K. M. (2017). Insomnia as a Precipitating Factor in New Onset Mental Illness: a Systematic Review of Recent Findings. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 19(8), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-017-0802-x
- Piggin, J. (2020). What Is Physical Activity? A Holistic Definition for Teachers, Researchers and Policy Makers. *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living*, 2(June), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fspor.2020.00072
- Pinto Pereira, S. M., Li, L., & Power, C. (2014). Early-life predictors of leisure-time physical inactivity in midadulthood: Findings from a prospective british birth cohort. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 180(11), 1098–1108. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwu254
- Prather, A. A., Vogelzangs, N., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2015). Sleep duration, insomnia, and markers of systemic inflammation: Results from the Netherlands Study of Depression and Anxiety (NESDA). *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 60, 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.09.018
- Ranum, B. M., Wichstrøm, L., Pallesen, S., Falch-Madsen, J., Halse, M., & Steinsbekk, S. (2019). Association Between Objectively Measured Sleep Duration and Symptoms of Psychiatric Disorders in Middle Childhood. *JAMA Network Open*, 2(12), e1918281. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.18281
- Rauschenberg, C., van Os, J., Goedhart, M., Schieveld, J. N. M., & Reininghaus, U. (2021). Bullying victimization and stress sensitivity in help-seeking youth: findings from an experience sampling study. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30(4), 591–605. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-020-01540-5
- Rehm, J., & Shield, K. D. (2019). Global Burden of Disease and the Impact of Mental and Addictive Disorders. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 21(2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-019-0997-0
- Roberts, R. E., & Duong, H. T. (2014). The Prospective Association between Sleep Deprivation and Depression among Adolescents. *Sleep*, *37*(2), 239–244. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.3388

- Roesch, S. C., Aldridge, A. A., Stocking, S. N., Villodas, F., Leung, Q., Bartley, C. E., & Black,
  L. J. (2010). Multilevel factor analysis and structural equation modeling of daily diary
  coping data: Modeling trait and state variation. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 45(5),
  767–789. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273171.2010.519276
- Rotter, J. B. (1954). *Social Learning and Clinical Psychology*. Prentice-Hall. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/10788-000
- Ryff, C. D., & Keyes, C. L. M. (1995). The structure of psychological well-being revisted. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(NOVEMBER 1995), 719–727. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.4.719
- Sabiston, C. M., O'Loughlin, E., Brunet, J., Chaiton, M., Low, N. C., Barnett, T., & O'Loughlin, J. (2013). Linking depression symptom trajectories in adolescence to physical activity and team sports participation in young adults. *Preventive Medicine*, 56(2), 95–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.11.013
- Sadeh, A. (2011). The role and validity of actigraphy in sleep medicine: An update. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *15*(4), 259–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2010.10.001
- Sadeh, A., Keinan, G., & Daon, K. (2004). Effects of stress on sleep: The moderating role of coping style. *Health Psychology*, 23(5), 542–545. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.23.5.542
- Sallis, J. F., Owen, N., & Fotheringham, M. J. (2000). Behavioural Epidemiology: A systematic framework to classify phases of research on health promotion and disease prevention. *Ann Behav Med*, 22(4), 294–298. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324796abm2402\_02
- Sampasa-Kanyinga, H., Colman, I., Goldfield, G. S., Janssen, I., Wang, J., Podinic, I., Tremblay, M. S., Saunders, T. J., Sampson, M., & Chaput, J. P. (2020). Combinations of physical activity, sedentary time, and sleep duration and their associations with depressive symptoms and other mental health problems in children and adolescents: A systematic review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *17*(1), 72. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-020-00976-x
- Sanders, T., Cliff, D. P., & Lonsdale, C. (2014). Measuring adolescent boys' physical activity: Bout length and the influence of accelerometer epoch length. *PLoS ONE*, 9(3), e92040. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092040
- Scardera, S., Perret, L. C., Ouellet-Morin, I., Gariépy, G., Juster, R. P., Boivin, M., Turecki, G., Tremblay, R. E., Côté, S., & Geoffroy, M. C. (2020). Association of social support during adolescence with depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation in young adults. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(12), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.27491
- Scheffer, D. da L., & Latini, A. (2020). Exercise-induced immune system response: Antiinflammatory status on peripheral and central organs. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta -Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1866(10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2020.165823

- Schuch, F. B., Stubbs, B., Meyer, J., Heissel, A., Zech, P., Vancampfort, D., Rosenbaum, S., Deenik, J., Firth, J., Ward, P. B., Carvalho, A. F., & Hiles, S. A. (2019). Physical activity protects from incident anxiety: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Depression and Anxiety*, 36(09), 846–858. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22915
- Schuch, F. B., Vancampfort, D., Firth, J., Rosenbaum, S., Ward, P. B., Silva, E. S., Hallgren, M., De Leon, A. P., Dunn, A. L., Deslandes, A. C., Fleck, M. P., Carvalho, A. F., & Stubbs, B. (2018). Physical activity and incident depression: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 175(7), 631–648. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17111194
- Sedentary Behavior Research Network. (2021). Final definitions, caveats and examples of key terms from the Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN) Terminology Consensus Project. https://www.sedentarybehaviour.org/sbrn-terminology-consensusproject/#consensus-definitions
- Seime, R. J., & Vickers, K. S. (2006). The challenges of treating depression with exercise: From evidence to practice. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 13(2), 194–197. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2850.2006.00022.x
- Severinsen, M. C. K., & Pedersen, B. K. (2020). Muscle–Organ Crosstalk: The Emerging Roles of Myokines. *Endocrine Reviews*, 41(4), 594–609. https://doi.org/10.1210/ENDREV/BNAA016
- Sharpe, H., Fink, E., Duffy, F., & Patalay, P. (2021). Changes in peer and sibling victimization in early adolescence: longitudinal associations with multiple indices of mental health in a prospective birth cohort study. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 10.1007/s00787-020-01708-z. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-020-01708-z
- Siebers, M., Biedermann, S. V., Bindila, L., Lutz, B., & Fuss, J. (2021). Exercise-induced euphoria and anxiolysis do not depend on endogenous opioids in humans. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *126*, 105173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2021.105173
- Silva, S. A., Silva, S. U., Ronca, D. B., Gonçalves, V. S. S., Dutra, E. S., & Carvalho, K. M. B. (2020). Common mental disorders prevalence in adolescents: A systematic review and metaanalyses. *PLoS ONE*, 15(4), e0232007. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232007
- Sirard, J. R., & Pate, R. R. (2001). Physical activity assessment in children and adolescents. *Sports Medicine*, *31*(6), 439–454. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200131060-00004
- Slykerman, R. F., Thompson, J. M. D., Coomarasamy, C., Wall, C. R., Waldie, K. E., Murphy, R., & Mitchell, E. A. (2020). Early adolescent physical activity, sleep and symptoms of depression at 16 years of age. *Acta Paediatrica, International Journal of Paediatrics*, 109(7), 1394–1399. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.15140

Soczynska, J. K., Kennedy, S. H., Woldeyohannes, H. O., Liauw, S. S., Alsuwaidan, M., Yim,

- C. Y., & McIntyre, R. S. (2011). Mood disorders and obesity: Understanding inflammation as a pathophysiological nexus. *NeuroMolecular Medicine*, 13(2), 93–116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12017-010-8140-8
- Solmi, M., Radua, J., Olivola, M., Croce, E., Soardo, L., Salazar de Pablo, G., Il Shin, J., Kirkbride, J. B., Jones, P., Kim, J. H., Kim, J. Y., Carvalho, A. F., Seeman, M. V., Correll, C. U., & Fusar-Poli, P. (2021). Age at onset of mental disorders worldwide: large-scale meta-analysis of 192 epidemiological studies. *Molecular Psychiatry*, Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-021-01161-7
- Sousa-Sá, E., Agostinis-Sobrinho, C., Lopes, L., Moreira, C., Abreu, S., Pereira, J. R., Zhang, Z., Rodrigues, B., & Santos, R. (2021). Prevalence, patterns and socio-demographic correlates of sleep duration in adolescents: results from the LabMed study. *Sleep Medicine*, 83, 204–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2021.05.001
- Štefan, L., Krističević, T., & Sporiš, G. (2018). The associations of self-reported physical fitness and physical activity with sleep quality in young adults: A population-based study. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 14(November 2017), 131–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2018.04.002
- Suetani, S., Mamun, A., Williams, G. M., Najman, J. M., McGrath, J. J., & Scott, J. G. (2017). The association between adolescent psychopathology and subsequent physical activity in young adulthood: a 21-year birth cohort study. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(2), 269–278. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717001660
- Suetani, S., Waterreus, A., Morgan, V., Foley, D. L., Galletly, C., Badcock, J. C., Watts, G., McKinnon, A., Castle, D., Saha, S., Scott, J. G., & McGrath, J. J. (2016). Correlates of physical activity in people living with psychotic illness. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 134(2), 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.12594
- Suetani, Shuichi, Mamun, A., Williams, G. M., Najman, J. M., McGrath, J. J., & Scott, J. G. (2017). Longitudinal association between physical activity engagement during adolescence and mental health outcomes in young adults: A 21-year birth cohort study. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 94, 116–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.06.013
- Suetani, Shuichi, Saha, S., Milad, A., Eakin, E., Scott, J. G., & McGrath, J. J. (2017). Common mental disorders and recent physical activity status: findings from a National Community Survey. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 52(7), 795–802. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-016-1307-3
- Sullivan, R., Kinra, S., Ekelund, U., AV, B., Vaz, M., Kurpad, A., Collier, T., Reddy, K. S., Prabhakaran, D., Ebrahim, S., & Kuper, H. (2012). Evaluation of the Indian Migration Study Physical Activity Questionnaire (IMS-PAQ): A cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 9, 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-

5868-9-13

- Szabo, A., Takács, D., Magyar, M., Soós, I., Boros, S., & Bősze, J. (2020). Adolescents' dual affective response to dance in training, grading, and competition. *Current Psychology*, 39(3), 878–884. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-018-9800-3
- Takano, K., Sakamoto, S., & Tanno, Y. (2014). Repetitive Thought Impairs Sleep Quality: An Experience Sampling Study. *Behavior Therapy*, 45(1), 67–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2013.09.004
- Telford, R. M., Telford, R. D., Cunningham, R. B., Cochrane, T., Davey, R., & Waddington, G. (2013). Longitudinal patterns of physical activity in children aged 8 to 12 years: The LOOK study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 10, 81. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-10-81
- ten Have, M., de Graaf, R., van Dorsselaer, S., Tuithof, M., Kleinjan, M., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2019). Childhood maltreatment, vulnerability characteristics and adult incident common mental disorders: 3-year longitudinal data among >10,000 adults in the general population. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *113*, 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.03.029
- Yoong, S. L., Chai, L. K., Williams, C. M., Wiggers, J., Finch, M., & Wolfenden, L. (2016). Systematic review and meta-analysis of interventions targeting sleep and their impact on child body mass index, diet, and physical activity. *Obesity*, 24(5), 1140–1147. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21459
- Thompson Coon, J., Boddy, K., Stein, K., Whear, R., Barton, J., & Depledge, M. H. (2011). Does participating in physical activity in outdoor natural environments have a greater effect on physical and mental wellbeing than physical activity indoors? A systematic review. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 45(5), 1761–1772. https://doi.org/10.1021/es102947t
- Toseeb, U., Brage, S., Corder, K., Dunn, V. J., Jones, P. B., Owens, M., St Clair, M. C., Van Sluijs, E. M. F., & Goodyer, I. M. (2014). Exercise and depressive symptoms in adolescents: A longitudinal cohort study. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *168*(12), 1093–1100. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.1794
- Tremblay, M. S., Carson, V., Chaput, J.-P., Connor Gorber, S., Dinh, T., Duggan, M., Faulkner, G., Gray, C. E., Gruber, R., Janson, K., Janssen, I., Katzmarzyk, P. T., Kho, M. E., Latimer-Cheung, A. E., LeBlanc, C., Okely, A. D., Olds, T., Pate, R. R., Phillips, A., ... Zehr, L. (2016). Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Children and Youth: An Integration of Physical Activity, Sedentary Behaviour, and Sleep. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.*, *41*(6 Suppl 3), S311–S327. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2016-0151
- Tubbs, A. S., Khader, W., Fernandez, F., & Grandner, M. A. (2020). The common denominators of sleep, obesity, and psychopathology. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 34,

84-88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.11.003

- van Geel, M., Goemans, A., & Vedder, P. H. (2015). The relation between peer victimization and sleeping problems: A meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 27, 89–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2015.05.004
- van Ginkel, J. R., Linting, M., Rippe, R. C. A., & van der Voort, A. (2020). Rebutting Existing Misconceptions About Multiple Imputation as a Method for Handling Missing Data. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 102(3), 297–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2018.1530680
- Van Os, J. (2013). The dynamics of subthreshold psychopathology: Implications for diagnosis and treatment. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 170(7), 695–698. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13040474
- van Schalkwijk, F. J., Blessinga, A. N., Willemen, A. M., Van Der Werf, Y. D., & Schuengel, C. (2015). Social support moderates the effects of stress on sleep in adolescents. *Journal* of Sleep Research, 24(4), 407–413. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12298
- Vancampfort, D., Correll, C. U., Galling, B., Probst, M., De Hert, M., Ward, P. B., Rosenbaum, S., Gaughran, F., Lally, J., & Stubbs, B. (2016). Diabetes mellitus in people with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder: A systematic review and large scale meta-analysis. *World Psychiatry*, 15(2), 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20309
- Vancampfort, D., Firth, J., Schuch, F. B., Rosenbaum, S., Mugisha, J., Hallgren, M., Probst, M., Ward, P. B., Gaughran, F., De Hert, M., Carvalho, A. F., & Stubbs, B. (2017). Sedentary behavior and physical activity levels in people with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. *World Psychiatry*, *16*(3), 308–315. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20458
- Vandekerckhove, M., & Wang, Y. L. (2018). Emotion, emotion regulation and sleep: An intimate relationship. *AIMS Neuroscience*, 5(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3934/Neuroscience.2018.1.1
- VanKim, N. A., & Nelson, T. A. (2013). Vigorous Physical Activity, Mental Health, Perceived Stress, and Socializing Among College Students. Am J Health Promot., 28(1), 7–15. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.111101-QUAN-395
- Vriend, J. L., Davidson, F. D., Corkum, P. V., Rusak, B., Chambers, C. T., & McLaughlin, E. N. (2013). Manipulating sleep duration alters emotional functioning and cognitive performance in children. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 38(10), 1058–1069. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jst033
- Walker, E. R., McGee, R. E., & Druss, B. G. (2015). Mortality in mental disorders and global disease burden implications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 72(4), 334–341. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2502

- White, R. L., Babic, M. J., Parker, P. D., Lubans, D. R., Astell-Burt, T., & Lonsdale, C. (2017).
  Domain-Specific Physical Activity and Mental Health: A Meta-analysis. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 52(5), 653–666.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.12.008
- Wiles, N. J., Haase, A. M., Lawlor, D. A., Ness, A., & Lewis, G. (2012). Physical activity and depression in adolescents: Cross-sectional findings from the ALSPAC cohort. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 47(7), 1023–1033. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-011-0422-4
- Willis, E. A., Ptomey, L. T., Szabo-Reed, A. N., Honas, J. J., Lee, J., Washburn, R. A., & Donnelly, J. E. (2015). Length of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity bouts and cardiometabolic risk factors in elementary school children. *Preventive Medicine*, 73, 76–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.01.022
- Wolgast, M., & Lundh, L. G. (2017). Is Distraction an Adaptive or Maladaptive Strategy for Emotion Regulation? A Person-Oriented Approach. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 39(1), 117–127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-016-9570-x
- Zaki, L. F., Coifman, K. G., Rafaeli, E., Berenson, K. R., & Downey, G. (2013). Emotion Differentiation as a Protective Factor Against Nonsuicidal Self-Injury in Borderline Personality Disorder. *Behavior Therapy*, 44(3), 529–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2013.04.008
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025410384923

## **Supplementary materials**

# Chapter 3

## Supplement 1: Deviations from the post-registration

#### 1. Change of sleep duration criteria

We made a change to the criteria for inclusion of the sleep criteria. In the post-registration, we stated that having less than 120 minutes sleep duration before 9pm would lead to an exclusion of the measurement day. Subsequently, we extended the sleep duration to up to 200 minutes. We extended the period because using the 120 minutes criterium would have included several periods of data points in the range between 120-200 minutes, which were unlikely to be real sleep.

## 2. Dropping of the variable 'weekday' as a covariate in the analyses

In our analyses, we looked at average values of PA, which provides only one score per participant as it was also planned within our post-registration. However, we falsely included 'weekday' as a covariate, since it is not possible to account for the influence of working days/ weekend days if we look at average PA, and thus, dropped the variable from the model.

#### 3. Adding the variable 'season' as an interaction effect in the model

In order to understand season-dependent effects of PA and psychopathology, it needs to be added as an interaction effect in the model, not as a covariate, as was specified in our postregistration.

#### 4. Power analysis

The power analysis in the pre-registration was falsely based on a logistic regression. We conducted a sensitivity power analysis based on a linear regression model instead.

# 5. Associations between sedentary behaviour and psychopathology and the moderating role of sedentary behaviour

Since a high percentage of the variable 'sedentary behaviour' was missing (~60%), we could not estimate the associations between sedentary behaviour and psychopathology or the interaction effects of sedentary behaviour.

## 6. Additional analyses

We conducted additional analyses, such as (a) a sensitivity analysis within a dataset including at least 4 valid days, and (b) exploratory analyses estimating the effects of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism on LPA and MVPA.

# 7. Additional model selection methods

In our post-registration, we had stated that in case that AIC and BIC would contradict each other, we would opt for the BIC values. However, upon further reading, we realised that in our study this approach was incorrect. Since the results from the AIC and BIC estimation did not favour a model, we also use k-fold cross-validation for additional model selection information.

#### Supplement 2: Data pre-processing steps

To determine the expected amount of usable data and to test analysis code, we had access to a small pilot sample (n=54). Using this pilot sample, we also defined criteria for missing data and non-wear time. Defining non-wear time is essential for inclusion and exclusion of accelerometery data. In general, non-wear time in accelerometery has been determined in numerous ways (e.g. threshold for signal in acceleration; heart rate detection). Previous studies using the Fitbit Charge 2 (FC2) device have used heart rate data as a proxy of wear time contact (Collins, Yang, Trentadue, Gong, & Losina, 2019). However, in this study, heart rate data were not available. Therefore, alternative proxies for non-wear time are needed and presented below.

### 'Defining' missing PA and data exclusion in physical activity variables

As non-wear time as a separate variable was unavailable, we used the variable of interest, PA, to decide if the PA variables represented non-wear time. Our dataset consisted of daily summaries of the variables of interest. Since wear of the device seemed unlikely when all PA variables (LPA, MPA, VPA) recorded zero simultaneously for a complete day, we labelled these days as 'missing data'. Regarding data exclusion, the following criteria were applied. First, measurement days on which a minimum threshold of daily LPA of 60 minutes per day was not reached was excluded. This threshold was set based on minimum PA duration required for basic activities such as self-care (eating, bathroom use). In doing so, we avoided including measurement days on which the device was worn for only a few hours/minutes per day, which would be insufficiently representative of PA over a full day. At the same time, this conservative approach allows for data from inactive participants wearing the device over the whole day to be included in the dataset. Second, we excluded measurement days from participants who were

not able to wear the device long enough due to scheduling within our study. As such, we excluded participants' day 1 data if they started wearing the Fitbit device later than 12pm Assuming that the majority of adolescents within the sample were going to bed later than 8pm, this cut-off allowed the participants to wear the device for at least 8 hours. Third, if all measurable variables of the Fitbit device, LPA, MPA, VPA, steps, and sleep, were missing over all 7 measurement days within one participant, the participant was excluded.

#### 'Defining' missing sedentary behaviour

We determined that whenever sleep data were missing (=zero), sedentary behaviour was also considered as missing data. We chose this approach, as we observed within the pilot dataset that sedentary behaviour minutes seem to be constructed by subtracting both sleep data and active minutes from the value 1440 (total number of minutes within a 24h day). As such, a default value of 1440 was provided whenever PA and sleep duration were recorded as zero.

#### Data exclusion of sedentary behaviour

We excluded sedentary behaviour, whenever the sleep duration was below 200 minutes and started between 1pm and 9pm, since these brief periods unlikely recorded night time sleep.

#### Supplement 3: Sensitivity analysis

As current literature suggests including at least 4 valid days of accelerometery data in the dataset (Migueles et al., 2017), and our dataset consists of at least 3 valid days, we conducted a sensitivity analysis on a sample which included at least 4 valid days (n=434).

# Associations between light and moderate-vigorous physical activity and symptoms of general psychopathology, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism

We conducted a sensitivity analysis using a linear regression model. The pooled results across the 10 imputed datasets can be found in **Table 1** and **Table 2**. There are no significant associations between LPA and MVPA with symptoms of general psychopathology (**Table 1**), depression, anxiety, and psychoticism (**Table 2**).

		Dependent variable	
Independent variables		GSI-BSI	
	β (SE)		р
LPA	0002 (.0006)	.76	
MVPA	0005 (.0009)	.58	
Age	.05 (.02)	.008	
Gender	.28 (.06)	<.0001	
Season	.05 (.03)	.07	

**Table 1** Associations between light (LPA) and moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA)and general psychopathology (GSI-BSI-53) estimated with a linear regression (n=434)

**Table 2** Associations between light (LPA) and moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA)and depression, anxiety, and psychoticism estimated with a linear regression (n=434)

	Dependent variables						
Independen	Depressio	n	Anxiety	•	Psychoticism		
t variables							
	$\beta$ (SE)	р	$\beta$ (SE)	р	$\beta$ (SE)	р	
LPA	0006 (.0009)	.51	.0003 (.0007)	.66	0003 (.0008)	.69	
MVPA	0002 (.001)	.85	0009 (.0009)	.25	0002 (.001)	.82	
Age	.07 (.02)	.003	.02 (.02)	.36	.02 (.02)	.07	
Gender	.31 (.08)	<.001	.26 (.06)	<.001	.24 (.06)	<.001	
Season	.05 (.04)	.22	.05 (.03)	.09	.05 (.03)	.06	

## Supplement 4: Power analysis

Within the power analysis, we changed the linear regression function from gls to lm, as it estimates the model using least squares (Pinheiro et al., 2019). The lm function has very similar model assumptions as the gls function, as it also assumes that the errors are distributed independently.

# Supplement 5: Standardized values of the main analyses

To allow comparability with previous studies, we provide the standardized values for the outcome variables depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in the testing subsample (n=464) in **Table 3**.

Independent variables	Dependent variables						
	Depression		Anxiety		Psychoticism		
	b (SE)	р	b (SE)	р	b (SE)	р	
LPA	0003 (.0009)	.74	.0002 (.0005)	.70	0001 (.0004)	.77	
MVPA	0009 (.0013)	.51	0003 (.0007)	.23	.0002 (.0007)	.71	
Age	11 (.02)	<.001	.03 (.02)	.15	.05 (.02)	.03	
Gender	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Season	-	-	.05 (.03)	.09	.06 (.03)	.06	

**Table 3** Associations between light (LPA) and moderate-vigorous physical activity (MVPA)and depression, anxiety, and psychoticism estimated with a linear regression (n=464)

## Chapter 4

## Appendix A: Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Our dataset consisted of daily summaries of the variables sleep duration and sleep quality. Common proxies of non-wear time at night (e.g. heart rate, accelerometer count) were not available. Alternatively, we decided that when both sleep duration and sleep quality were simultaneously recorded as 'zero' within the same measurement day, they were labelled as missing. These missing values may have occurred either due to non-wear of the device at night, or due to syncing too late. In that case, the existing data gets erased to provide storage for collecting more recent data. The device cannot store data for longer than 7-9 days and if that period is exceeded, the data collected on day 1 and 2 (sleep and active minutes) will be converted to zero values, in order to store data on the measurement days 9, 10, 11, and so on. This process was confirmed by a Fitbit customer service assistant.

#### Data exclusion

From our in-lab pilot testing, we also concluded that if the device was briefly removed during the day for at least one hour (due to showering or other reasons) then replaced, *but not worn during the night of the same day*, the device would incorrectly log this period of non-wear time as 'sleep' time. To avoid that short periods of 'sleep' occurred in our data, we excluded these brief 'sleep' periods using the following criterion: Any sleep time that was recorded before 9pm and with a duration of 200 minutes. Additionally, this decision was made since we wanted to assess the effects of night-time sleep. Also, if during all 8 measurement days, sleep duration and sleep quality were recorded as zero, all data from this participant were excluded from the analysis. Lastly, as this study investigates sleep in 11-17-year-olds, any participants older than 17 (N=26) were excluded from the analysis.

# Appendix B: Deviations from the post-registration

#### 1. Change from gam model to linear model

As we aimed to impute the missing values of sleep duration, we were not able to estimate generalized additive models using the gam function of the mgcv package, as this package does not support the use of multilevel multiple imputed datasets. Thus, we changed the model to a mixed effects linear model using cubic splines to account for the non-linear effects. As the ICCs of the linear mixed effects model were zero, we simplified the model and did not take the different clusters for school into account anymore.

2. Additional, exploratory analyses for the subscales depression, anxiety, and psychoticism Since previous studies have mainly investigated the effects of sleep duration and quality on depression, anxiety, and psychoticism, we conducted exploratory analyse for these subscales.

#### 3. Model validation

In our post-registration, we stated that we would check models met the assumption of independence. However, it was not possible for us to pool the imputed results within a plot, so we dropped this and evaluated the assumption of homogeneity only (**Appendix F**).

# 4. Imputation of the BSI data

We had stated in our post-registration that imputation would not be feasible, since 60% of the sleep data was missing. However, after we had excluded participants with less than 4 valid days, the 32% missingness of sleep duration and sleep quality seemed a justifiable amount of missingness to impute. Furthermore, based upon further reading after our post-registration, we decided that imputation of the BSI-GSI and BSI subscale variables depression, anxiety, and psychoticism is in general a better and more robust approach than listwise deletion (van Ginkel et al., 2020). We report the findings of the non-imputed BSI and Fitbit variables in the **Appendix F**.

#### 5. Additional model selection methods

In our post-registration, we stated that if AIC and BIC contradicted each other, we would opt for the BIC values. However, upon further reading, we realised that this approach was incorrect. As the results from the AIC and BIC estimation did not favour a model, we also used the MSPE value calculated via k-fold cross-validation for additional model selection information.

# 6. Change of statistical analysis for estimating the effects of non-adherence with sleep guidelines on psychopathology symptoms

Following suggestions from peer-reviewers, we changed our original analysis plan as outlined in our post-registration, which was to analyse the effects of non-compliance with sleep guidelines on psychopathology symptoms by estimating interaction effects between age group and sleep duration. Instead, we created a non-compliance score which considers the agematched sleep duration recommendations and implemented this variable into our model (please see the methods section for more details). Given the post-hoc change to our analysis plan for this hypothesis, we subsequently considered this analysis as exploratory. The interaction effects between age group and sleep duration were removed. For transparency, however, we report the results from our initial original, planned statistical analysis, including the interaction effects between age group and sleep duration in **Appendix H**.

### 7. Change in terminology

As pointed out within our manuscript and by reviewers, Fitbit Charge 2 data currently has several limitations, such as lack of transparency - because of the proprietary nature of the algorithm - and accuracy. Since these limitations do not completely generalize to other objective measures of sleep, we have changed our terminology from 'objectively measured sleep duration / sleep quality' to "Fitbit Charge 2-derived sleep duration and quality" within the full draft, including the title.

# Appendix C: Knot selection for cubic splines of sleep duration and non-compliance with the training subsample (n=56)

To determine how many knots would best represent the non-linear nature of the data when using cubic splines, we compared the model fit across three different models using 3, 4, and 5 knots in R (R Core Team, 2019). Each of the three linear regression models estimated the non-linear effects of sleep duration and non-compliance on symptoms of psychopathology through adding cubic splines with either 3, 4, or 5 knots to the predictor variables. For each of models including each either 3, 4, or 5 knots, we computed the Bayesian information Criterion (BIC), Akaike information criterion (AIC) values, and the mean squared prediction error (MSPE) across the 10 imputed datasets. The MSPE represents the expected differences between the predicted and observed values of a function which can be used for k-fold cross-validation (Hastie et al., 2008). In this approach, the sample is divided into different subsets (k) which are used to estimate the model for each fold. During this procedure, in each fold the k<sup>th</sup> subset is kept aside for model validation, allowing the subsets to be cross-validated against each other. Afterwards, the computed MSPE values are averaged across the folds (Hastie et al., 2008). In this study, we used 10-fold cross-validation in each imputed dataset to compute the MSPE value, which was later pooled across all imputed datasets (Hastie et al., 2008). The best fit of the model was determined using a combined approach considering the lowest AIC, BIC, and MSPE value across all imputed datasets (Hagemann et al., 2021).

#### Appendix D: Conducting a simulation-based power analysis

The simulation-based power analyses (Lane & Hennes, 2018) was used to calculate the power for H1, H2, and H3 within the random 10% training subsample (n = 56). First, two separate linear regressions as outlined below were run in order to get the required effect sizes and model parameters. Second, these model parameters and effect sizes were used as input for 1000 Monte Carlo simulations, which sample size was set to n = 502, which is equal to the size of the testing dataset. Of these simulations, the proportion of simulations where the null hypothesis – the effect size of interest being significantly different from zero – was rejected at p <.05 was taken as the power. We considered power exceeding .80 to be sufficient.

#### Appendix E: Model validation

In line with our post-registration, we checked for homogeneity by plotting the fitted values against the residuals in both models. In the first model, estimating the non-linear effects of sleep duration and non-compliance with sleep guidelines on symptoms of general psychopathology (see **Fig.1**). Similarly, we checked our second model estimating the linear associations between sleep quality and symptoms of general psychopathology (see **Fig. 2**). Both plots show that the residuals are shrunk towards the lower values which may indicate that the assumption of homogeneity is violated. In future work, a larger training subsample may be needed for conducting model selection.



**Fig. 1** *Fitted values against residuals for non- linear associations between sleep duration, non-compliance, and symptoms of general psychopathology in the testing dataset (n=502)* 



**Fig. 2** *Fitted values against residuals for linear associations between sleep quality and symptoms of general psychopathology in the testing dataset (n=502)* 

## Appendix F: Results from non-imputed outcome variables

For transparency, we report the results of our original post-registered model here in which we did not impute the variables BSI GSI, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism (**Tables 1-4**): As opposed to models estimated using the fully imputed datasets, models using data where outcome variables (BSI GSI, depression, anxiety, and psychoticism symptoms) had not been imputed did not show a statistically significant association between sleep quality, general psychopathology symptoms, and psychoticism symptoms (**Table 2, Table 4**). In contrast, the associations between non-compliance with sleep guidelines, sleep duration, depression, and anxiety symptoms were significant when models were estimated using data in which the mean depression and anxiety symptoms variables were not imputed (**Table 3**). However, these associations were not significant in models in which the depression and anxiety symptoms were imputed.

In order to evaluate if the imputation of the BSI variable can be considered reliable, we followed the suggestions of van Ginkel (2020) to first check the imputed BSI values from anomalies (i.e. extreme minimum and maximum values) or patterns as observed in a histogram – and to compare the imputed and non-imputed BSI values. Our exploration of the imputed values compared to non-imputed BSI values indicated that means, minimum, and maximum values

did not differ between the imputed and non-imputed values (see **Table 5**) and that the histograms of the imputed and non-imputed BSI variable were comparable (see **Fig. 3** and **4**).

Second, van Ginkel (2020) suggests to conduct a MCAR test on the non-imputed dataset, since a violation of the MCAR assumption might explain the differences in results between imputed and non-imputed values. Because our non-imputed data were not MCAR as indicated by Little's MCAR test ( $X^2$ = 121.49; df= 25; p≤ .001), our differing findings may be explained by the violation of the MCAR assumption (van Ginkel et al., 2020). Although van Ginkel et al. (2020) state that when no anomalies can be detected in the imputed data, and the dataset is likely not MCAR, the imputation model can be trusted, we conclude that further empirical research needs to be conducted to determine whether listwise deletion or multiple imputation are more appropriate for this type of data.

	Dependent variable			
Independent variables		GSI-BSI		
	β (SE)	b (SE)	р	
Intercept	3.37 (2.41)	10 (.16)	.52	
Sleep duration	007 (.003)	41 (.22)	.07	
Spline sleep duration 3 knots	.006 (.003)	.33 (.18)	.07	
Non-compliance	.001 (.003)	.08 (.20)	.70	
Spline non-compliance 3 knots	004 (.003)	28 (.19)	.14	
Age	.05 (.04)	.12 (.10)	.26	
Gender: girls	.21 (.06)	.35 (.12)	.001	
Season: spring	16 (.07)	27 (.11)	.02	
Season: autumn	003 (.10)	003 (.16)	.99	

**Table 1** Associations between sleep duration and psychopathology (GSI-BSI) estimated with a linear regression when the BSI variable was not imputed (n=502)

	Dependent variable				
Independent variables		GSI-BSI			
	β (SE)	b (SE)	р		
Sleep quality	.03 (.02)	10 (.06)	.09		
Age	.07 (.02)	.19 (.05)	.0002		
Gender: girls	.18 (.06)	.30 (.11)	.004		
Season: spring	15 (.07)	26 (.11)26 (.11)	.03		
Season: autumn	008 (.09)	01 (.15)	.92		

**Table 2** Associations between sleep quality and psychopathology (GSI-BSI) estimated with a linear regression when the BSI variable was not imputed (n=502)

	Dependent variables					
Independent variables	Depress	ion	Anxiety		Psychoticism	
	β (SE)	р	β (SE)	р	β (SE)	р
Intercept	2.99 (3.36)	.37	5.35 (2.70)	.05	1.71 (2.68)	.52
Sleep duration	010 (.006)	.08	009 (.004)	.03	004 (.003)	.29
Spline sleep duration	.01 (.005)	.03	.007 (.004)	.08	.004 (.004)	.22
3 knots						
Non-compliance	.007 (.005)	.17	0007 (.003)	.17	.002 (.003)	.52
Spline non-	009 (.004)	.03	005(.003)	.17	004 (.003)	.23
compliance 3 knots						
Age	.12 (.06)	.04	.0001 (.05)	.99	.06 (.05)	.16
Gender: girls	.29 (.09)	≤.001	.20 (.07)	.005	.19 (.07)	.007
Season: spring	18 (.09)	.06	17 (.08)	.03	19 (.07)	.01
Season: autumn	.005 (.13)	.97	.05 (.11)	.66	03 (.11)	.77

**Table 3** Associations between sleep duration and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism estimated with three linear regression models when the outcome variables were not imputed (n=502)

	Dependent variables					
Independent	Depression		Anxie	Anxiety		icism
variables						
	β (SE)	р	$\beta$ (SE)	р	β (SE)	р
Sleep quality	.06 (.03)	.02	.007 (.02)	.74	.03 (.02)	.14
Age	.12 (.03)	<.001	.05 (.02)	.02	.07 (.02)	.001
Gender: girls	.23 (.09)	.006	.20 (.07)	.004	.16 (.07)	.02
Season: spring	16 (.09)	.09	17 (.08)	.03	18 (.08)	.02
Season: autumn	.003 (.13)	.91	.01 (.10)	.90	03 (.10)	.76

**Table 4** Associations between sleep quality and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism estimated with three linear regression models when the subscales were not imputed (n=502)

**Table 5** *Descriptive statistics of the BSI outcome variable when the variable is imputed and non-imputed in the testing subsample* (N=502)

	BSI variable			
Descriptive statistics	imputed	Non-imputed		
Mean	0.84	.84		
Minimum	-0.74	0		
Maximum	2.90	2.87		



**Fig. 3** *Histogram of the imputed BSI-GSI-53 variable in the testing subsample* (N = 502)



**Fig. 4** *Histogram of the non-imputed BSI-GSI-53 variable in the testing subsample* (N = 502)

# Appendix G

**Table 6** Standard error values of the Mean Squared Prediction Error (MSPE) values for three linear regression models estimating the non-linear effects of sleep duration and non-compliance on general psychopathology symptoms when including differing numbers of knots (3,4, or 5) within cubic splines among ten imputed datasets in the training subsample (n=56)

Dataset	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
MSPE SE										
3 knots	0.26	0.39	0.32	0.39	0.57	0.32	0.35	0.41	0.32	0.30
4 knots	79.95	35.74	42.33	189.45	69.27	139.02	31.71	391.00	155.40	73.78
5 knots	116.08	2.56	39.32	353.72	835.83	1117.62	334.70	123.20	426.03	445.73

*Note: MSPE* = *Mean Squared Prediction Error; SE* =*standard error* 

# Appendix H: Original, post-registered statistical analysis of the effects of non-compliance

## with sleep guidelines and psychopathology

Following reviewers' comments that the operationalization of our research question "Does noncompliance with sleep guidelines relate to psychopathology symptoms?" (H2) may not be correct, we deviated from our previously planned statistical analysis, which included interaction effects between age groups and sleep duration to estimate non-compliance. We agreed with the reviewers that this approach did not capture a deviation from the sleep guidelines, but rather estimated the effects of sleep duration in different age groups instead. For transparency, we report the findings of our original, post-registered analysis here, including the interaction effects of age group and sleep duration on psychopathology symptoms in **Table 7** and **Table 8** below. The modified analysis is reported in the manuscript.

**Table 7** *Results from a linear regression model estimating the non-linear effects of sleep duration and non-compliance with cubic splines including 3 knots on symptoms of symptoms general psychopathology (BSI-GSI-53) in the testing subsample (n=502).* 

	Dependent variable			
Independent variables	BS	I- GSI (53)		
	β (SE)	b (SE)	р	
Intercept	.65 (1.20)	-	.59	
Sleep duration	.0002 (.003)	.01 (.15)	.95	
Spline sleep duration with 3 knots	0004 (.003)	.02 (.18)	.90	
Sleep duration x age group	005 (.006)	31 (.32)	.35	
Spline sleep duration with 3 knots x age group	.003 (.008)	.17 (.46)	.71	
Age group: 14-17-year-olds	2.65 (2.37)	.31 (.33)	.30	
Gender: girls	.18 (.06)	.31 (.07)	.002	
Season: spring	12 (.07)	20 (.06)	.07	
Season: autumn	.04 (.09)	.07 (.10)	.64	

*Note: in bold* = p < 0.05;  $\beta$ = unstandardized regression coefficient; b = standardized regression coefficient, SE= standard error

**Table 8** Results from a linear regression model estimating the non-linear effects of sleep duration and non-compliance with cubic splines including 3 knots on symptoms of symptoms of depression, anxiety, and psychoticism in the testing subsample (n=502)

	Dependent variables					
Independent variables	Depress	ion	Anxiet	у	Psychoticism	
	β (SE)	р	β (SE)	Р	β (SE)	р
Intercept	.30 (1.54)	.84	.84 (1.41)	.56	.66 (1.32)	.62
Sleep duration	.0003	.85	0002	.95	0002	.94
	(.003)		(.003)		(.003)	
Spline sleep duration	.0001	.97	.001 (.004)	.72	.0006 (.003)	.84
with 3 knots	(.004)					
Sleep duration x age	008 (.01)	.49	005 (.01)	.64	001 (.009)	.91
group						
Spline sleep duration	008 (.07)	.90	.005 (.06)	.94	01 (.06)	.85
with 3 knots x age						
group						
Age group:	3.94 (4.76)	.42	2.42 (4.35)	.58	.86(2.27)	.71
14-17-year-olds						
Gender: girls	.27 (.08)	.001	.17 (.07)	.01	.17 (.07)	.01
Season: spring	13 (.09)	.15	13 (.07)	.07	14 (.07)	.05
Season: autumn	.08 (.13)	.57	.05 (.10)	.62	.01 (.10)	.86

### Chapter 5

## Sensitivity analysis

The full TwinssCan sample included individuals aged 15-35 and the current study included a subsample of participants who were classed as "youths", i.e. aged 15-25 years old (Sawyer et al., 2018). To determine if there are age-specific associations between younger (15-20 years old) and older youth (21-25 years old), within the sample, we conducted a sensitivity analysis, where our youth sample was split into two groups: 15-20-year-olds and 21-25-year-olds.

For the younger youth subsample, (n = 336 individuals in 229 twin pairs), we found that active coping (b = .83, SE = .28, p = .006) was associated with better sleep quality, whereas 'passive reaction' coping (b = -.41, SE = .35, p =  $\leq$ .001) and emotion-focused coping were negatively associated with poor quality of sleep (b = -.23, SE = .09, p = .014). State locus of control did not mediate any coping- sleep quality relationship in the younger youth subsample.

In older youth subsample (n=43 individuals in 31 twin pairs), more social support coping (b = -.06, SE = .01, p = .02) and engagement coping (b= .47, SE= .15, p = .004) related to better sleep quality, while 'passive reaction' coping (b= -1.03, SE= .35, p= .02, p = .006) related to worse sleep quality. State locus of control did not mediate any coping- sleep quality relationship in the older youth subsample.

#### Scientific acknowledgements

We thank all adolescents, teachers, parents, and school boards from the SIGMA study and all youth from the TwinssCan study for their participation. We are grateful for the work of the SIGMA team, research interns, and staff from the Center for Contextual Psychiatry for their support in data collection and management, administration, and logistics of the SIGMA study.

This research was supported by the FWO Odysseus grant to professor Myin-Germeys (G0F8416N) and the doctoral grant from the Bischöfliche Studienförderung Cusanuswerk e.V. to Noëmi Hagemann. The funding resources of the co-authors can be accessed via the published versions of the studies.

## **Personal Contribution**

The work within this PhD project is the result of several contributors. Noëmi Hagemann supervised and coordinated the implementation, data collection, data extraction, and data management of the Fitbit Charge 2 with support of the SIGMA team and master students from the Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation Sciences. For all empirical studies, she performed the analyses and prepared the manuscript with support from GL. The contribution of the co-authors is listed below per chapter. Professor Davy Vancampfort, Dr. Olivia Kirtley, and Professor Myin-Germeys provided senior supervision and mentorship during the writing of the manuscripts.

# Chapter 3

NH collected and analysed the data. NH and DV conceived the study. RA, KH, AH, and AL supported the data collection. GL and MW supported the data analysis and data-pre-processing. All co-authors contributed to the writing with review and editing. DV, OJK, and IMG provided supervision to NH.

# Chapter 4

NH collected and analysed the data. NH and DV conceived the study. RA, KH, AH, and AL supported the data collection. GL and MW supported the data analysis and data pre-processing. All co-authors contributed to the writing with review and editing. DV, OJK, and IMG provided supervision to NH.

# Chapter 5

NH and OJK conceived the study. JD, CD, SG, MDH, NJ, CML, BR, ET, JvO, RvW, and MW collected the data and designed the study. GL and OJK supported the data analysis. All co-authors contributed to the writing with review and editing. DV, OJK, and IMG provided supervision to NH.

# **Conflict of Interest Statement**

The co-authors and doctoral candidate have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

#### About the Author

Noëmi Hagemann grew up in Osnabrück, Germany. After a sabbatical year, working on the maternity ward of the Franziskus Hospital Osnabrück and various organic farms in New South Wales and Queensland, Australia, she completed a 3-year apprenticeship to become a licensed physiotherapist at the Professor-Grewe Schule, Osnabrück. During this time, she worked on a case report on breathing exercises in patients after heart surgery, which later won a prize at the Verband Leitender Lehrkräfte (VLL). In 2013, she started her scientific education with a bachelor program *Physiotherapy* at Marburg University and the University of Applied Sciences, Fulda. During this time, she continued to work in ambulatory care with patients with musculoskeletal and neurological disorders, volunteered as a student representative at the occupational union "Physio Deutschland", received a full scholarship from the Bischöfliche Studienförderung Cusanuswerk, and worked during a 6-week internship at Ludwig-Maximilian University (LMU), Munich on a project on falls prevention in patients with Parkinson's disease. This research stay resulted in her first publication.

After receiving her Bachelor degree, she continued to deepen her clinical expertise during a 2year full-time position as a clinical physiotherapist in ambulatory care at Praxis Achenbach, Marburg, where she completed advanced training in lymphatic drainage and Manual Therapy. During her work, Noëmi developed a strong interest in the body-mind connection, which led her to move to Leuven, Belgium, where she followed the international 2-year master program *Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation Sciences* at KU Leuven, to specialize as a physiotherapist within the field of mental health care. During this period, she wrote her master thesis on framing techniques and motivational processes of physical activity in elderly people, and graduated magna cum laude in 2017. After having developed an increased interest in the mental-health related effects of physical activity, she joined the SIGMA study on adolescent mental health at the Center of Contextual Psychiatry (CCP) at KU Leuven, to work on a 4-year PhD project to investigate early relationships between lifestyle and psychopathology in the general adolescent population.

### List of publications

All publications indicated with \* below are included as chapters of this doctoral thesis.

- Achterhof, R., Kirtley, O., Schneider, M., Hagemann, N., Hermans, K.S F M., Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Decoster, J., Derom, C., de Hert, M., Guloksuz, S., Jacobs, N., Menne-Lothmann, C., Rutten, B., Thiery, E., van Os, J., van Winkel, R., Wichers, M., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2020). *General psychopathology and its social correlates in the daily lives* of youth. August, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.31234/OSF.IO/95AFU
- Achterhof, Robin, Kirtley, O. J., Schneider, M., Lafit, G., Hagemann, N., Hermans, K. S. F. M., Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2021). Daily-Life Social Experiences as a Potential Mediator of the Relationship Between Parenting and Psychopathology in Adolescence. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12, 1279. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.697127
- \*Hagemann, N., Kirtley, O. J., Lafit, G., Wampers, M., Achterhof, R., Hermans, K. S. F. M., Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Myin-Germeys, I., & Vancampfort, D. (2021). Objectively measured physical activity and symptoms of psychopathology in general population adolescents from the SIGMA cohort. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 21, 100416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2021.100416
- Hermans, K. S. F. M., Kirtley, O. J., Kasanova, Z., Achterhof, R., Hagemann, N., Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Zapata-Fonseca, L., Lafit, G., Fossion, R., Froese, T., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2021). Capacity for social contingency detection continues to develop across adolescence. *Social Development*. https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12567
- Janssens, J. J., Achterhof, R., Lafit, G., Bamps, E., Hagemann, N., Hiekkaranta, A. P., Hermans, K. S. F. M., Lecei, A., Myin-Germeys, I., & Kirtley, O. J. (2021). The Impact of COVID-19 on Adolescents' Daily Lives: The Role of Parent–Child Relationship Quality. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 31(3), 623–644. https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12657
- Kirtley, O. J., Achterhof, R., Hiekkaranta, A. P., Hermans, K., Hagemann, N., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2019). Hoe word ik wie ik ben. De voorlopige resultaten van de SIGMAstudie: een langdurig onderzoek naar de geestelijke gezondheid van jongeren in Vlaanderen.
  https://gbiomed.kuleuven.be/english/research/50000666/50000673/cpp/images/sigmarapport-w1
- Pelykh, O.; **Hagemann, N**.; Loidl, V.; Ilmberger, J; Boetzel, K. (2013). Falls prevention: Balance training in Parkinson patients with postural instability. *Basal Ganglia*, *3*(1), 57–58.
- Vancampfort, D., Hagemann, N., Wyckaert, S., Rosenbaum, S., Stubbs, B., Firth, J., Schuch, F. B., Probst, M., & Sienaert, P. (2017). Higher cardio-respiratory fitness is associated

with increased mental and physical quality of life in people with bipolar disorder: A controlled pilot study. *Psychiatry Research*, 256(March), 219–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.06.066

- Vancampfort, D., Stubbs, B., Firth, J., Hagemann, N., Myin-Germeys, I., Rintala, A., Probst, M., Veronese, N., & Koyanagi, A. (2018). Sedentary behaviour and sleep problems among 42,489 community-dwelling adults in six low- and middle-income countries. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 27(6). https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12714
- Vancampfort, D., Van Damme, T., Firth, J., Smith, L., Stubbs, B., Rosenbaum, S., Hallgren, M., Hagemann, N., & Koyanagi, A. (2019). Correlates of physical activity among 142,118 adolescents aged 12–15 years from 48 low- and middle-income countries. *Preventive Medicine*, 127, 105819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105819
- Vancampfort, D., Vandael, H., Hallgren, M., Probst, M., Hagemann, N., Bouckaert, F., & Van Damme, T. (2018). Physical fitness and physical activity levels in people with alcohol use disorder versus matched healthy controls: a pilot study. *Alcohol*, 76, 73–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2018.07.014

#### Pre-prints:

- Achterhof, Robin, Kirtley, O., Schneider, M., Lafit, G., & ... (2021). Interrelationships Between Parenting Styles, Daily-life Social Experiences and Psychopathology in Adolescence. PsyArXiv. https://doi.org/10.31234/OSF.IO/BCZDG
- Achterhof, Robin, Myin-Germeys, I., Bamps, E., Hagemann, N., Hermans, K., Hiekkaranta, A. P., Janssens, J., Lecei, A., Lafit, G., & Kirtley, O. (2021). COVID-19-related changes in adolescents' daily-life social interactions and psychopathology symptoms. https://doi.org/10.31234/OSF.IO/5NFP2
- \*Hagemann, N., Kirtley, O. J., Lafit, G., Wampers, M., Achterhof, R., Hermans, K. S. F. M., Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Vancampfort, D., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2021). *Fitbit Charge* 2 - derived sleep duration, sleep quality, and symptoms of psychopathology in general population adolescents from the SIGMA cohort. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/yx2eb
- Hermans, K. S. F. M., Kirtley, O. J., Kasanova, Z., Achterhof, R., Hagemann, N., Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Zapata-Fonseca, L., Lafit, G., Fossion, R., & Froese, T. (2021). Ecological and convergent validity of experimentally and dynamically assessed social capacity using the Perceptual Crossing Experiment in adolescence. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/jrzbw
- Kirtley, O. J., Achterhof, R., Hagemann, N., Hermans, K. S. F. M. Hiekkaranta, A. P., Lecei, A., Boets, B., Henquet, C., Kasanova, Z., Schneider, M., Reiningshaus, U., Viechtbauer, W., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2021). *Initial cohort characteristics and protocol for SIGMA: An accelerated longitudinal study of environmental factors, inter- and intrapersonal processes, and mental health in adolescence.* https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/jp2fk

#### Personal acknowledgements

I'd like to express my deep gratitude to the wonderful people who supported me during my PhD trajectory.

Thank you, **Davy**, for taking me under your wings and giving me the opportunity to work on this research topic under your skilled supervision. Without your initiative to find a PhD project for me I would not be submitting my thesis today. During my work, you provided instant, helpful guidance and supportive resources no matter if in Belgium or Uganda. Your feedback on my work was usually faster than your own shadow! Thank you for always being available and that I could always count on you. I particularly appreciate your pragmatic, humane, and authentic mentorship which helped me to work with ease, and also to develop as a researcher.

I'm very grateful, **Inez**, that you gave me the chance to be a part of the Center of Contextual Psychiatry. Thank you for carefully navigating me through every phase of my PhD, which allowed to me to take the next step when possible, and to feel supported, when needed. It may seem a detail, but I'm very grateful that you reliably kept every single deadline despite your full agenda which allowed to stay on track with ease. Your door was always open, even for a short (sometimes longer) word of advice. I appreciate you being so approachable and down to earth, and will keep our nice and open conversations in good memory.

Thank you, **Olivia**, for taking on your role as my daily supervisor with so much diligence and knowledge. Especially during start of my PhD, your calm, patient, and empathetic supervision style helped me to feel safe in face of challenging situations. Thanks for being incredibly resourceful, from R code to references to any given topic, and for spicing up our meetings with unexpected, hilarious humour! I feel proud that I worked under your supervision!

Thank you, **Michel**, for being there from the first day that I visited Leuven and stepped into your office. It's thanks to you that I decided to become a psychomotor therapist and pursue a PhD project.

I also wish to thank the internal jury members of my Supervisory Committee, Professor Marc **De Hert**, Professor **Ruud van Winkel**, and Professor **Jannique van Uffelen** for providing invaluable feedback during the yearly evaluation moments. Thank you for stimulating me to widen my conceptual horizon and to integrate my research topic in a broader context. I am particularly grateful to Professor **van Uffelen** for encouraging me to apply for a PhD position when I was still a master student. Thank you, Professor **Yves Vanlandewyck**, for chairing the

supervision meetings and the public defence and providing helpful information during the last steps of my PhD. Thank you, Professor **Joseph Firth**, for taking up the role as external jury member, your constructive feedback, and the nice compliments on my PhD thesis manuscript.

At the start of my PhD journey, I was incredibly lucky to join the fantastic SIGMA team, consisting of **Karlijn**, **Robin**, **Aleks**, and **Lore** at the time. No matter how intense, sometimes exhausting our data collection and its preparation over whole Flanders has been, I now look back with nostalgia to all the never-ending train rides, early mornings, and overnight stays in West Flanders. In hindsight, it was in the middle of the streets in West Flanders, when pulling our suitcases through the snowy streets, or in hotel rooms enlightened by flickering, green Fitbit Charge 2 lights, where the SIGMA magic actually happened. It's been incredible fun and an honour to work within such a dedicated, skilled, and supportive team.

Thanks **Karlijn**, for not only being the organizational super talent that you are, but for always being there to listen, brainstorm for solutions, and being so authentic and open for feedback. I'm so happy that you found your new position as a post doc, they couldn't have wished for a better candidate!

Thanks, **Aleks**, for being such a technical genius and having the nerves to solve any issue that comes along your way – I really don't know how you do/did it all! My most beautiful memory is still our travel to Tanzania, what a lifetime experience! I appreciate it so much that we stayed in touch despite our busy lives and it's so special to me that you made it all the way from Germany to celebrate the ending of my PhD. **Robin** aka Queen, if this PhD was a ship, you were the anchor. Whenever there was a struggle, you looked at it with humour and empathy,

making me feel much lighter afterwards. Thanks for all the great conversations, whether personal, fun, or silly! It's amazing to watch you lead the SIGMA team now, so proud of what you do and what you've achieved so far! **Lore**, thanks for supporting SIGMA with meticulous Excel sheets and for flashing up every room with your great style. **Anu**, when you joined our team a year later, I first did not know you very well, but I quickly discovered your warm, serene, and genuinely curious personality. You often seemed so balanced that it sometimes occurred to me you not only studied, but also breathed the topic 'emotion regulation'.

I much enjoyed getting to know you better during lockdown walks and spontaneous visits. Thank you for all the interesting, conceptional discussions! **Tessa** and **Jolien**, thanks for taking up mountains of SIGMA administration, but also for being such kind, warm, and cheerful colleagues! Julie and Eva, it feels already ages ago that you joined SIGMA, and I'm so glad you did! Julie, we do not only share birthdays, similarly-aged babies (and mum journeys), but also our love for both the clinical and research world! I enjoy your vibrant, spontaneous, and also empathetic energy, and I cherish all the nice moments when we connected on a personal level, shared a long ride in the car, organized the educational packages, or talked about all the never-ending baby stuff nobody else ever wanted to hear about. I hope we get to organize a few more play dates for Alix and Zoë in the future! Eva, thanks for always being so cheerful to meet me and showing genuine interest in how I am doing! I loved our chats at the office and I will really miss your jokes. It's been great to watch you taking up your role as a student representative and fierce mental health/feminism advocate! You rock, girl! Zeynep, although you're the youngest, there is an air of wisdom around you. Despite Covid-19, you transitioned so smoothly into our team that it feels like you've always been there! Thanks for spreading your infectious enthusiasm for your research topic, and being so kind and easy to talk to!

The CCP wouldn't be such a great place to work at without *all* its members. I feel very proud and grateful to have been a part of this vibrant, driven, talented, and international team. Thanks **Aki**, **Aleksandra**, **Daphne**, **Fanya**, **Glenn**, **Jeroen**, **Rafaël**, **Rob**, **Steffie**, **Thomas**, **Lena**, **Lotte**, **Marlies**, **Nian**, and **Xu**! I enjoyed the great atmosphere in the lab so much – something that I don't take for granted.

**Davinia** and **Silke**, thanks for all TwinssCan- and SIGMA-related support – from keeping files neat and accessible whenever needed, to carrying all SIGMA-gear to the other end of the country whilst being pregnant! And of course, thanks for sharing all your mum wisdom and understanding with me! Another big thank you goes to the statistical queens of the lab: Thank you **Martien**, for helping me to stay sane and encouraging me ('It isn't actually that difficult') when learning basic STATA skills. But most of all, thank you for being so genuinely happy for me for personal highlights in my life or work achievements. I appreciate your honesty a lot! Thank you, thank you, thank you, **Ginette** for your incredible patience and instant help with literally *any* statistical challenge I faced. Just knowing you'd be there – with a big smile! - in case I wouldn't solve it myself was a powerful antidote to my R-induced frustrations and anxiety. I hope we will replace those meetings with the climbing gym soon. **Martine**, thanks for your instant help with any SIGMA-related admin and keeping me posted with lab-related updates in a way only you can phrase them!

Thank you, **Joana**, **Gudrun**, and **Evelyne**, for your amazing friendship and adding colour, warmth, and lots of laughter to my PhD life! Surprisingly, our paths crossed only later during my PhD trajectory, but I am so deeply grateful that they did! I loved our conversations about literally any topic, the coffee breaks, the walks, the runs, the movie nights, the dinners, and yoga classes. Thank you for always cheering for me, but also for encouraging me when things got rough. I don't know what I would've done without you! I look forward to following your future adventures.

I am extremely grateful for the assistance from the master students **Louise Dendoncker**, **Lore Dumolein**, **Romanie Kint**, **and Silke De Neve** in the data extraction process.

During my PhD, I was lucky to be a member of not only one, but even two labs. Thanks to **Tine**, **Anke**, **Anoushka**, **Carlos**, and **Nathalie** from the research group on Adapted Physical Activity and Psychomotor Rehabilitation for cosy lunches, online conference participation, barbecue, and of course feedback on my work. I would enjoy it very much to stay in touch!

I've also been lucky enough to be surrounded by amazing friends I met before starting out my PhD adventure. Dear physio girls - aka **Maarja-Liisa**, **Josien**, **Laura**, and **Mayse** – thanks for taking my mind off PhD work with nice calls, visits, and walks in the park! I'm so glad we're still in touch. Dankjewel **Marthe**, voor alle leuke drankjes, wandelingen, en lekker onnozel doen! Merci **Lise**, voor je enthousiasme tijdens de reading group, je constructieve en doordachte feedback en alle open en gezellige gesprekjes tijdens een drankje of even op kantoor! Beste **vrienden van de beflijster**, bedankt om me zo warm in jullie kring op te nemen en steeds mee te leven met m'n doctoraat en alle leuke uitstapjes. Thank you, **Masha**, for all the interesting talks about psychomotor therapy. I'm so proud of you. I look forward to more nature walks and great conversations. **Aga**, thank you for not only being the sweet, kind, and thoughtful person that you are, but also for all spontaneous visits, cakes, flowers, and listening ears! Thank you for making such an effort to stay in touch! Thanks **Kevin & Flóra**, for your genuine, neverending interest in my work and nice calls. So great that we stay in touch!

Dankjewel **Stephanie**, voor je verfrissende, authentieke communicatiestijl, die het zo makkelijk maakt om mezelf te zijn. Gewoon geweldig dat je in m'n leven bent! Thanks a lot **Thomas**, for your amazing cooking, hilarious jokes, public speaking support, and patience. Thanks **Hans A** for putting PhD matters into perspective and making Lindy Hop fun! Thanks, **Hoa** and **Katie** for amazing times in the climbing gym and on the rocks! So nice that you're cheering with me for any achieved milestone.
Danke dir, **Caroline**, für all die schönen Spaziergänge, Gespräche und dass ich immer auf dein Verständnis zählen kann. Thanks, **Danouck** and **Hans B** for your unconditional friendship. You guys were 'solid as a rooooock' (imagine Lindy Hop music here (3)). A special thanks goes out to you, Danouck, for letting me decorate my thesis cover with that incredible photograph! Liebe **Anja, Constanze, Johanna, Marischa, Magdalena, Sandra**, und **Verena**, - danke für eure langjährige, wunderbare Freundschaft, die mich auch durch den PhD getragen hat.

Lieve **Katrien** en **Ludo**, bedankt om zo hard mee te leven tijdens mijn doctoraat en bij elke belangrijke mijlpaal aan me te denken! Dankjewel **Jacqueline**, om me steeds met veel rust en geduld te blijven aanmoedigen ('Het komt allemaal in orde'). Danke **Elke**, für deine liebevollen Support-Päckchen, und dein offenes Ohr. Lieber **Papa**, danke, dass du mir die Liebe für die Natur und die Bewegung mitgegeben hast – ohne diese Erfahrungen wäre es wohl nie zu diesem PhD gekommen. Lieve **Mama**, dankjewel, om elke stap binnen mijn doctoraat met zo veel aandacht en oprechte interesse te volgen, kaarsjes te branden, en aan me te denken. Danke **Robert** und **Frederik** dafür, dass ihr für mich ein Cover designed habt (auch wenn ich es leider nicht benutzen konnte), und danke an **Nils** für alle interessanten psychologischen Gespräche. Ganz nebenbei danke einfach dafür, dass ihr die besten und coolsten Brüder seid, die man sich wünschen kann.

Danke, **Zoë**, dass du bei uns bist. Du bist das größte Geschenk meines Lebens und freue mich unendlich, dass ich dich bei allen großen und kleinen Schritten des Lebens begleiten darf. Ich bin so gespannt dich als Mensch weiter kennen zu lernen. Ich genieße diese kostbare Zeit sehr, - manchmal würde ich am liebsten die Zeit anhalten. Dank dir weiß ich Schlaf noch mehr zu schätzen. Mijn grootste dank gaat aan jou, **Victor**, voor je onvoorwaardelijke steun en liefde gedurende *alle* fases van mijn doctoraat. Ook al praten wij helemaal niet zo veel over ons werk, bleef jij met alle geduld naar me luisteren als ik vast zat en ik even luidop wou nadenken. Dankzij onze discussies over een brede waaier van topics kijk ik niet enkel met een breder zicht naar dingen, maar heb ik ook geleerd om genuanceerdere kritiek te uiten en deze te kunnen verdedigen. Dankjewel om tegen het einde van mijn doctoraat dagelijks heerlijk te koken en om al mijn mijlpalen samen met mij uitbundig te vieren! Ik kijk al uit naar al onze nieuwe ideeën en projectjes waarvan we tijdens onze wandeltochten droomden en kan niet wachten om met jou weer op pad te zijn.

## About the cover

This picture shows mountaineering practices at L'Aiguille du Midi in France, taken by photographer Danouck van Kan. The mountaineers are guided by a skilled leader to get over the crest.

I believe this picture represents adolescence very well. Similarly, in adolescence, getting through that phase can be a slippery slope to pass. Just as the mountaineers, adolescents are confronted with mental, physical, and emotional challenges and benefit from essential social skills and support from others to get through adolescence safely and healthily.